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VISION AND MISSION
BEREwD

POWERING THE eWORLD
EEN ) ERR

1
A To be a manufacturer of world-class
standard in power electronics
HERBKENTEEFEREED
v 2
To capture global demand in innovative
VIS'gN products in the new smart economy
B#% RREESSCETHAFERNER
3

To be socially and environmentally
responsible to all stakeholders

EHERBRESTHAQFNERR

assion to improve & innovate
DEHENR KA

bligation to stakeholders
EEREEF0E

MISSION
{8 55

orld class standards & quality
SRR mE RokE

xcellence in operations
EHNEE

esponsibility to develop our people
BEEEBEAS

@DE@EHOG
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
RAER

Founded in 1983, Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
is an electronics manufacturing services (“EMS”) provider
specialising in the manufacturing and sales of customised
industrial electronic components and products, with offices
in Hong Kong, Republic of Ireland (“lreland”) and Thailand,
and production facilities in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"), Ireland and Thailand. The Group’s principal subsidiary,
Trio Engineering Company Limited (“Trio Engineering”), is
the first industrial electronics provider in Hong Kong to have
obtained Industry 4.0 level 1i certification.

“Powering the eWorld” is the Group’s corporate vision. We
provide customised engineering and contract manufacturing
services for a broad range of industries. For highly complex
requirements, we offer advanced solutions and provide new
products that meet diversified business needs. Our product
lines include: (i) electro-mechanical products; (i) switch-mode
power supplies; (i) smart chargers; and (iv) smart vending
systems. Our products are widely applied in various industrial
and commercial areas, such as renewable energy facilities,
telecommunications equipment, commercial freight equipment,
medical and health care devices, leisure and entertainment
products, security and access systems, etc..

ABOUT THE GROUP
FARAERE
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
Akt

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Sze Chai (appointed on 16 December 2022 as
executive director and deputy chairman, and
re-designated as chairman on 31 January 2023)

Mr. Lai Yiu Wah (Chairman) (resigned on 31 January 2023)

Mr. Tai Leung Lam

Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy

Mr. Lo Ka Kei Jun (appointed on 1 September 2022)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Kwan Tak Sum Stanley

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fung Chun Chung

Mr. Hau Siu Laam (appointed on 1 August 2022)

Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise (appointed on 1 August 2022)
Mr. Cheung Kin Wing (retired on 27 May 2022)

Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam (retired on 27 May 2022)

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Kwan Chan Kwong (appointed on 1 September 2022)
Mr. Tai Leung Lam (resigned on 1 September 2022)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise (Chairperson)
(appointed on 1 August 2022)
Mr. Fung Chun Chung
Mr. Hau Siu Laam (appointed on 1 August 2022)
Mr. Cheung Kin Wing (Chairman) (retired on 27 May 2022)
Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam (retired on 27 May 2022)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Hau Siu Laam (Chairman) (appointed on 1 August 2022)
Mr. Fung Chun Chung
Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise (appointed on 1 August 2022)
Mr. Kwan Tak Sum Stanley (appointed on 1 September 2022)
Mr. Wong Sze Chai (appointed on 31 January 2023)
Mr. Lai Yiu Wah (resigned on 31 January 2023)
Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam (Chairman)
(retired on 27 May 2022)
Mr. Cheung Kin Wing (retired on 27 May 2022)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
RAEVEH

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Fung Chun Chung (Chairman)

Mr. Hau Siu Laam (appointed on 1 August 2022)

Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise (appointed on 1 August 2022)
Mr. Tai Leung Lam (appointed on 1 September 2022)
Mr. Wong Sze Chai (appointed on 31 January 2023)

Mr. Lai Yiu Wah (resigned on 31 January 2023)

Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam (retired on 27 May 2022)

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Sze Chai (Chairman)

(appointed on 31 January 2023)
Mr. Fung Chun Chung
Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise (appointed on 1 August 2022)
Mr. Lai Yiu Wah (Chairman) (resigned on 31 January 2023)
Mr. Cheung Kin Wing (retired on 27 May 2022)
Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam (retired on 27 May 2022)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Yu Man (appointed on 16 December 2022)
Ms. Wan Mei Wa Ruby (resigned on 16 December 2022)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Wong Sze Chai (appointed on 31 January 2023)
Mr. Tai Leung Lam
Mr. Lai Yiu Wah (resigned on 31 January 2023)

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
22nd Floor Prince’s Building

Central, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

LEGAL ADVISOR

Howse Williams
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INFORMATION FOR OUR INVESTORS
REESTER

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

Financial year end 31 December 2022
Announcement of annual results 28 March 2023
Annual report and sustainability report available online 24 April 2023

e Company website: http://www.trio-ieg.com (“Investor Relations” section)
* Hong Kong Stock Exchange website: www.hkexnews.hk

Annual report dispatch date 24 April 2023
Annual general meeting 23 May 2023
Ex-dividend date 15 June 2023
Latest time for lodging share transfer documents for registration 16 June 2023

to entitle the final dividend (Not later than 4:30 p.m.)
Payment of final dividend 7 July 2023

SHARE INFORMATION

Stock Code 1710
Board Lot 4,000 shares
Market Capitalisation as at 31 December 2022 HK$191 million

Share Registrar

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address:  17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2980 1333

Facsimile: (852) 2810 8185

Email: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com

MBEER
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FEHRE MBS RRE L&A “TEC=FMA-+WmA

o NEHBUL : http://www.trio-ieg.com ([REHEFER ] —E0)
o FABEHMAZZITEY - www.hkexnews.hk
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CORPORATE INFORMATION TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‘
ARER B AP R &G B4Rk
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
HBEE
2022 2021
—E-CF T
HK$’000 HK$'000 Change
FET FEIT &
Revenue WS 978,103 744,067 +31.5%
Gross profit EF 207,295 139,329 +48.8%
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETISF AR, (EE) 55,879 (15,495)  +460.6%
Profit/(loss) for the year FRm A (EE) 45,418 (10,584)  +529.1%
Earnings/(loss) per share (in HK cents) &&& 7|, (EE) (FHBil)
- Basic and diluted — BEARAREE 4.54 (1.06)  +528.3%
Dividends per share (in HK cents) SRR B (B
— Proposed final (Note) —BURKRE (K7iE) 1.2 -
— Interim — FREf 0.8 -
2.0 -

Note: The proposed final dividend is subject to the approval of the shareholders
of the Company at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held

on 23 May 2023.

Sales by Product Category for the year ended
31 December 2022 and 2021

Hiat - BMERPBREAFRINR -_T_=FRA=-F+=AK
TRARBREBAE RSB -

Sales by Region for the year ended
31 December 2022 and 2021

BE-—E-_—FR-_T=-—-F+-A=+—-HLEE BE-B-_—_HR-F--F+ZA=Z+-HILFE
UERDENHEER U BUE S ENHERE

0.6%

23.8%

23.3%

Electro-mechanical products

HEEM

Smart chargers

o
o

o
o
o

o

Switch-mode power supplies

Smart vending systems

BREERM

Others
Hth

2.9%
3.4%

2.6%

Europe North America The PRC (including Hong Kong)

o

BOM ik PR (BEEE)
South-east Asia Others
R o Htth
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBHE

Sales per Capita™ (US$)
AGHEREY (E)

78,000
80000
70000
65,000 63,000
59,000 59,000
60000
50000
40000
30000
20000
10000
0
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—E-)N\F —E-NF —E-TF B —F =2
Note: Bt
1) “Sales per capita” represents average sales per person, which is (1) [AYIHERE BB AFIHERE - AR —FFEMH
calculated by dividing total sales for a particular period by the number of ERER AR SBES ASGTE -
employees in the same period.
Sales, Gross Profit, and Profit/(Loss) for the Year (HK$’000)
HEHE  EIRERBRN(BE) (TEx)
978,103
1,000,000
885,971
900,000
808,599
800,000 744,067
701,699
700,000
600,000
500,000
400,000
300,000
200,000 _218,733 101 053 182,48 207,295
139,329
100000 f—-— o
’ 42378 45,418
, 22,357 28,881
0 [ | i —
(10,584)
(100,000)
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—F-)\F —E-hEF —FoFF —Fo—4F —F_—

I Revenue I Gross profit I Profit/(loss) for the year
g EF iﬂ%ﬁl/ (B#E)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
REVER B HATHI AR R EER P75 Rk
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBHE
Gross Profit Margin and Net Profit/(Loss) Margin
EFRRMAF(B)
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Current Ratio and Quick Ratio (Times)
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHRE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of the Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”),
| am pleased to present to you the annual report of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (“FY2022").

The operating result of the Group for FY2022 was a remarkable
one over the last few years. The revenue for FY2022 reached
a record high of HK$978.1 million, represented a substantial
growth of 31.5% over that of 2021 and the profit for the year
was HK$45.4 million, as opposed to the loss of HK$10.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Reviewing the FY2022, despite the coronavirus disease 2019
(“COVID-19”) pandemic remains an acute global crisis, but as
the number of people vaccinated increases, many American,
European and Southeast Asian countries have adopted a
reopening strategy and started to lift the stringent COVID-19
restrictions, including the mask wearing, social distancing
and travel restrictions to resume the social and economic
activities. The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), which
includes Hong Kong and Macau Special Administrative
Regions also started to relax their quarantine measures and
travel restrictions with a view to striking a balance between
transmission risk and economic vitality. As the global economic
activities were picking up, the demand of our products, from
both existing customers and new customers, were growing
in a satisfactory manner. On the other hand, the mobility of
our Group’s Hong Kong personnel to and from the PRC and
other parts of the world has gradually resumed. We committed
our resources and efforts to speed up the new business and
product developments in order to meet the growing demand
from the customers.

AABRRBMEIXETEEAGR AT ([XD
ADEHEMBRAR (GBI AEE]ES([E
EDERCEZS ([EE]))  MAR BT
EEAEFEHE-_E-_—F+=-A=+—H1F
FE(ZEZZMREE]) 2FEHRE -

HBRTHFRAL AEER T —FREFEN
CEEEIFFTHE - —T — —BRFEHIREEE
s o Z=F|978,100,000/8 7T * R-ZTE - —F K
& EF+31.5% + F /&% 5] A45,400,000% 7T
MBE - ZE-_—F+_-_A=1+—HItFEHI
BE51810,600,00078 7T °

EE_Z-_0HRFE  BE2019F A
5% ([COVID-19 ) BIBNAREENZEKE
o BREEEBEEMASEN  BERER
DHZRAREENENAHCRE - AHRBRY
COVID-19MER &R G| - BREOES ~ X EE
MRS femIREL S MEE RS - I
AREME ([HE]) (BEEERRPIFRT
) It E R B S fe R R 2[R ) - HASRTE
EERRECE RN ZEERETE - BEE2IR
"EEROA - RAERPRNIRFHHEMESR
RFEREMEM  BREBE - 5—HHE &K
SENBEBABNESMETRPERERE
i o BPIRABRKRBE N - MNRTEBE R
EnfMAZE  UWREERFPTEIRENTK -
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
B APIRIAR

As mentioned in the Company’s annual report 2021, there
were five major elements which had posed great impact
on the Group’s business. They included the severe supply
chain disruption, soaring material costs, escalating freight
and transportation charges, higher direct labour costs and
appreciation of Renminbi (“RMB”). Following the gradual
lifting of quarantine restriction and recovering of major global
economies, the supply chain and material supply, material
costs and freight and transportation charges were resuming
to a more acceptable level. The management implemented
stringent cost control measures to control the material costs,
freight costs and direct labour cost. Our Marketing Division
communicated with our customers frequently to negotiate
for price revisions and better terms for compensating our
significant increase in cost. In addition, the depreciation of
RMB in FY2022 reduced our operating costs in the PRC.

While the global economy and business environment are still
under the impact of the COVID-19 crisis, Russia-Ukraine
war and trade tension between the United States and China,
the Group is able to cope with the challenges and make a
turnaround from a loss of HK$10.6 million for 2021 to a profit
of HK$45.4 million for FY2022. Personally, | consider the result
of FY2022 is satisfactory and hopefully the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) would be glad to learn of this
profit turnaround under such severe environment.

The two new factory buildings adjacent to our current
production plant in Nansha District, Guangzhou City,
Guangdong Province were delivered to the Group for rent in
June 2022. The management regularly reviews the expansion
plan for production capacity to correspond with the foreseeable
order demands. It is believed that the new facilities will bring
along significant benefits to the Group in the future.

The international economic organisations and major financial
institutions generally warn of a tough year for world economy
in 2023 with one-third of the world economy could be in
recession. The three big economies, namely the United States
of America (the “US”), Europe and the PRC are all slowing
down simultaneously. Going forward, the management shall
continue to stay focus on Growth, Efficiency and Technological
Advancement. We shall be more prudent but proactive
in decision-making and action planning to cope with the
uncertainties and disruptions to the world’s economies. We
shall deal with any unfavourable issues in connection therewith
quickly and in a determined way.

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EERE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EERE

Taking this opportunity, | represent the Board to express
our most sincere thanks to Mr. Lai Yiu Wah, who retired
from his position as the Chairman of the Board and an
executive Director of the Company on 31 January 2023, for
his outstanding leadership and invaluable contributions to the
growth of the Group in the past years. We wish Mr. Lai an
enjoyable life and great success in his interests development.
Moreover, | would also extend my great appreciation to our
management team and employees who have contributed to
our success and are working towards achieving our visions.
My heartfelt gratitude is also expressed to all of our business
partners, customers, suppliers and the Shareholders. So
described as “Inherit the past and open up the future”, with all
your kind support and trust, | am confident that we will lead the
Group to another milestone.

Wong Sze Chai
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 28 March 2023

REHE  AARRKEFEANR_T_=F
— A=t HHEARFAEEFEIRRATE
ENIRE R EBUARBEOH I - RIS
FREFAEEHRNBLFENEEEH - R
PIRREREEEFR MR ERBERTREE
AT o BESN  ANA TR E R E KR
B MR MOKIERTER  XAER
BFERME N - AABRRMMEEHA
EBH  BF  HERRRREARL MR
A o IEFTRB [ASERRIR - BERK] - BAKW
SEMEE BAEETEAEEERS —{E
PR -

BERK
FTERNTEF
BB ZT=F=A=+)\H
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

BEER

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lai Yiu Wah (%), aged 67, was the Chairman of
the Board and an executive Director, and was responsible
for the corporate and strategic development of the Group.
He was also the authorised representative of the Company,
the chairman of the risk management committee (the
“Risk Management Committee”) and a member of the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”)
and the nomination Committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
of the Company. Mr. Lai joined our Group since April 2015 and
has been the Director of the Company since 15 April 2016.
He was a director of all the subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Lai
has extensive experience in management consulting, finance,
accountancy and taxation. He also has wide experience in
businesses including manufacturing, catering, retailing and
trading sectors.

Due to retirement, Mr. Lai resigned from his positions as the
Chairman of the Board, an executive Director, the Chairman
of the Risk Management Committee, member of each of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee and
an authorised representative of the Company with effect from
31 January 2023.

Mr. Lai obtained a higher diploma in accountancy in November
1978 from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as Hong
Kong Polytechnic University). He was admitted as a fellow
of the Hong Kong Society of Accountants (now known as
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants) in
September 1988.

Mr. Lai served in different positions, including trainee
and supervisor, in Coopers & Lybrand (now known as
PricewaterhouseCoopers) from November 1978 to August
1981, and served in different positions, including internal
auditor and credit controller, in A.S. Watson & Co., Limited
from December 1981 to June 1983. In 1983, Mr. Lai founded
Thomson Y. W. Lai & Co. Certified Public Accountants, which
had been the Group’s auditors and tax representative from
August 2008 to April 2015 and from July 2008 to April 2015,
respectively, before Mr. Lai was invited to join the Group in
April 2015.

EENRGREEEERE

HITES

BEERE 675 REFSEIRRITE
FARAKREMNERERBER - RIAR
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXZRSREEERE

Mr. Wong Sze Chai (E2 %), aged 61, joined the Group in
November 2022 and was appointed as the Deputy Chairman
and an executive Director with effect from 16 December 2022.
He was re-designated as the Chairman of the Board with effect
from 31 January 2022 and is responsible for the corporate and
strategic development of the Group. He is also the Chairman
of the Risk Management Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.
He is a director of Panyu Trio Microtronics Co. Ltd. and
Professional Electronics Manufacturing Solutions (Guangzhou)
Limited, the indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company
incorporated in the PRC. Mr. Wong has extensive experience in
business management, banking, corporate finance, investment
and accountancy. He also has wide experience in businesses
including investment banking, fintech and manufacturing
sectors.

Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Financial Services degree
from University College Dublin, the National University of
Ireland in October 1995, a Master of Business Administration
degree from the University of South Australia in April 2000,
and a Master of Practising Accounting degree from the
Monash University in Australia in March 2006. Mr. Wong is
a fellow member of CPA Australia and Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants, respectively, and a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Bankers.

Mr. Wong has over 20 years of experience in the banking field.
Mr. Wong was a senior manager at the Investment Banking
Department of The Sumitomo Bank Hong Kong Branch, a
senior vice president at the Corporate Banking and Structured
Finance Department of China Construction Bank Hong Kong
Branch, the head of Corporate and Institutional Banking
of Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Ltd., Hong Kong
Branch, and the head of Corporate Finance of Corporate
Banking, Financial Institutions and Project Management at
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Ltd. Moreover, he was a managing
director and the chief financial officer of China Wealth
Investments Ltd. from September 2008 to February 2015. He
was also the head of Corporate Finance of Binhai Investment
Company Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), stock code: 2886) from October 2010 to April
2012, the group chief financial officer of Formax Capital Market
Limited from March 2015 to July 2017, an executive director
and the chief executive officer of Perfectech International
Holdings Limited (“Perfectech”) (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 765) from
December 2018 to February 2019. He was also an executive
director and the chief financial officer of China Shine Capital
Limited (formerly known as China Bravery Capital Ltd.) from
August 2017 to October 2022.
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Mr. Tai Leung Lam (& R#), aged 75, is an executive
Director and the Director of Manufacturing of the Group.
He resigned as the Chief Executive Officer on 1 September
2022. Mr. Tai joined the Group since October 1985 and was
appointed as a Director on 15 April 2016. He is responsible
for the management, strategic planning and development
of the manufacturing division. Mr. Tai was a director of Trio
Engineering from October 1985 to July 1987, and has been
serving in the same position from July 1990 until present. He
is a director of all of the subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Tai has
over 45 years of experience in the electronics industry, and
specializes in the establishment and management of production
plants for electronics manufacturing.

Mr. Tai obtained a diploma in Wireless Mechanical Maintenance
without Wireless Telegraph Communication in The World
Electric Engineering College (BB A EHITIZER) in March
1965. During the period from October 1976 to 1983, Mr. Tai
held various positions in Timco Manufacturing Co. Limited
(“Timco”), a limited liability company incorporated in Hong
Kong and principally engaged in electronics manufacturing.
Timco was dissolved in December 1991 as a result of creditor’s
winding up.
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EXZRSREEERE

Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy, aged 57, is an Executive Director
of the Company and was appointed as Head of Sales and
Technical in November 2020. He is managing the operations
in Europe, covering sales and marketing all over the world.
Mr. Mac Carthy joined the Group since March 1996 and was
appointed as a Director on 15 April 2016. He joined the Group
as a consultant in March 1996 and has been a director of Trio
Engineering since October 2003. He is a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Before joining the Group, Mr. Mac
Carthy worked in different companies engaging in related
industries. Mr. Mac Carthy has been in the industry of design
engineering for electronic and magnetic products for over 30
years.

In 1985, Mr. Mac Carthy obtained a national certificate in
electronic engineering from Waterford Institute of Technology in
Ireland.

Mr. Lo Ka Kei Jun (Z%#), aged 44, was appointed
as an executive Director on 1 September 2022 and is the
Director of the Marketing Division and is responsible for the
management and supervision of the Group’s marketing. He has
18 years of experience in international marketing and business
development in the electronics industry.

Mr. Lo obtained a higher national diploma in business
and marketing in July 2001 and a bachelor of arts degree
in business management in September 2002 from the
Southampton Institute in the United Kingdom. He obtained
a master degree in management and a master degree in
business administration from Macquarie University in Australia
in November 2013 and December 2014, respectively.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Kwan Tak Sum Stanley (Bf&%), aged 68, was
appointed as a non-executive director of the Company with
effect from 1 September 2022. He is one of the founders of the
Group and was the chairman of the Board, the chief executive
officer of the Company, an executive Director of the Company,
director of marketing, member of the Remuneration Committee,
chairman of the Nomination Committee and chairman of the
Risk Management Committee before he retired on 25 May
2018. He obtained a diploma in management studies in the
Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) in September 1993 and has over 30 years of
experience in the electronics industry, in particular plastic
injection moulding and electronic assembly services.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fung Chun Chung (%), aged 80, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from
10 February 2017, and is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of each of the audit committee
(the “Audit Committee”) of the Company, Remuneration
Committee and Risk Management Committee. Mr. Fung has
over 40 years of experience in the electronics industry.

Mr. Fung received an advanced diploma in engineering from
North-East Essex Technical College in the United Kingdom in
July 1968 and a master degree of science in engineering from
the University of Hong Kong in November 1978. Mr. Fung
was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers in January 1983, and a member of the Institution
of Production Engineers (now known as the Institution of
Engineering and Technology) in the United Kingdom in July
1971.
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EXZRSREEERE

Mr. Fung worked as a manager of production in
Transelectronics Ltd. from June 1970 to December 1974,
responsible for leading the development of the company and
training of the production operators and staff. Mr. Fung was
appointed as the chairman of Manlion Industrial Co., Ltd., a
company principally engaged in the manufacturing of lighting
products and festival items and decorations, in October 1983,
and of Packway Industries Ltd., a company principally engaged
in the manufacturing of battery chargers and festival items and
decorations, in November 2007. In addition, Mr. Fung was
the secretary of the Hong Kong Electrical Appliance Industries
Association from 2006 to 2008 and the executive committee
member of group four (electrical products) of the Federation of
Hong Kong Industries from July 2005 to July 2015.

Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise (% £), aged 41, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 1
August 2022. She is the chairperson of the Audit committee
and a member of each of the Remuneration committee, the
Nomination committee and the Risk Management Committee.
Ms. Law is currently a Director of Halcyon Capital Limited which
specialises in initial public offerings and corporate advisory in
mergers and acquisitions. Ms. Law possesses over 15 years of
experience in corporate finance and auditing. She used to work
for an international accounting firm and other corporate finance
arms of financial institutions in Hong Kong. She graduated
from the University of New South Wales in Australia with a
degree of Bachelor of Commerce in Accounting and Finance in
April 2004. She is also a member of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Hau Siu Laam (£Z/5), aged 38, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 1 August
2022. He is the chairman of Remuneration Committee and a
member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Hau is currently an executive director of
Asian Capital Limited, a corporation licensed to carry on Type
1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on securities) and
Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activities
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong). Mr. Hau possesses over 15 years
of experience in corporate finance, corporate advisory and
auditing. Mr. Hau obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts with a
major in Accountancy and a minor in Corporate Finance from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in December 2006,
and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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Mr. Cheung Kin Wing (R#%), aged 68, was appointed
as an independent non-executive director on 10 February
2017, and was the chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of each of the Remuneration Committee and the
Risk Management Committee. Mr. Cheung retired from office
as the independent non-executive director on 27 May 2022
and ceased to be the chairman of the Audit Committee and
a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and the
Risk Management Committee. Mr. Cheung has substantial
experience in information technology, financial accounting,
auditing and management.

Mr. Cheung obtained a bachelor degree in commerce
from the University of Calgary in Canada in June 1979. He
became a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales in May 1986 and February
2015, respectively.

From September 1980 to March 1995, Mr. Cheung held
several positions, including assistant manager, manager
and senior manager in Coopers & Lybrand (now known as
PricewaterhouseCoopers). He was a partner of Coopers &
Lybrand (now known as PricewaterhouseCoopers) from March
1995 until his resignation in May 1999. Since February 1999,
Mr. Cheung has been a director and lead consultant of Sunplex
Consultants Limited, a company principally engaged in the
provision of human resources management and IT consultancy
services. He was an independent director of Principal Trust
Company (Hong Kong) Limited (formerly known as AXA
China Region Trustees Limited), a provider of investment and
retirement solutions, from August 1999 to August 2015 and an
independent non-executive director of Bank of Communications
Trustee Limited, from November 2003 to January 2018.
Mr. Cheung was a director of the finance and operations
department of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants from July 2004 to April 2008 and a consultant of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants from
April 2008 to August 2008.

Mr. Cheung is currently an independent non-executive director
of BaWang International (Group) Holding Limited, (whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1338),
ENM Holdings Limited (whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 128), and Kin Pang Holdings Limited
(whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
1722).
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EXZRSREEERE

Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam (Ef&#), aged 68, was
appointed as the independent non-executive director on 10
February 2017, and was the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Risk Management Committee.
Mr. Wong retired from office as the independent non-executive
director on 27 May 2022 and ceased to be the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk
Management Committee. Mr. Wong has over 30 years of
experience in financial management, treasury, internal control
and investment in the commercial field.

Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive director of
Wenzhou Kangning Hospital Co., Ltd., a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2120), from April 2015 to June
2016. From January 1997 to June 2007 and from July 2009
to December 2016, Mr. Wong served as an executive director
of SOCAM Development Limited (“SOCAM”), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 983) and a member of
the Shui On Group, a group principally engaged in property
development and construction in Hong Kong and the PRC.
He also took up the role of chief financial officer from July
2009 to December 2016 and assumed the role of managing
director of SOCAM from July 2013 to December 2016. During
his tenure with SOCAM, he was primarily responsible for
financial, treasury and legal and secretarial functions, corporate
restructuring, mergers and acquisitions, investment decisions,
investor relationships and corporate governance matters. In
March 2007, Mr. Wong was appointed an executive director of
China Central Properties Ltd., an affiliated company of SOCAM,
which was listed on the London Stock Exchange. Following the
privatisation of China Central Properties Ltd. in June 2009, he
rejoined SOCAM. From 1992 to 1995, Mr. Wong served as the
finance director of the Shui On Group.

Mr. Wong obtained a diploma in accountancy from the City
of London Polytechnic (now known as London Metropolitan
University) in June 1976. He is a Fellow of The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Kwan Chan Kwong (E8#&}t), aged 74, was appointed as
the chief executive officer of the Company (“Chief Executive
Officer”) with effect from 1 September 2022. Mr. Kwan is
one of the founders of the Group and was a consultant of the
Group during November 2021 to August 2022. He had been
involved in the overall management as well as supervision of
the sales and marketing division of the Group before he retired
from his directorship in the Group by the end of 2015.

Mr. Kwan has over 40 years of experience in the electronics
industry and has established close and stable working
relationships with the customers of the Group.

Mr. Lai Sek Piu (&), aged 63, is the Head of
Manufacturing Division and Innovation Development Division
and is responsible for the management and supervision of the
Group’s innovation and development. Mr. Lai is a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Starting from 1 January
2019, Mr. Lai has also been a joint managing director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. On 21 January 2020, he
was further appointed as the managing director of Trio-Tronics
(Thailand) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
incorporated in Thailand, to take charge of the operations
and management of production facilities in Thailand. He has
over 35 years of experience in the field of manufacturing and
engineering.

Mr. Lai completed a three years’ part-time course in electronic
engineering at Kasetsart University in Thailand in July 1993.

Mr. Lai worked as a section manager in Capetronic
International (Thailand) Public Company Limited in Thailand, a
company principally engaged in the manufacturing, distribution
and provision of after-sales services for computer monitors
in Thailand, from August 1988 to February 1997. He joined
the Group as an engineer in November 1998 and a general
manager of manufacturing division in April 2007, and has been
the director of Innovation and Development Division since
January 2018.
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EXZRSREEERE

Ms. Wan Mei Wa Ruby ((R % %), aged 39, joined the Group as
the assistant financial controller in March 2015 and the group
financial controller since January 2018. She has also taken up
the role of company secretary of the Company (“Company
Secretary”) since 1 January 2019 and has been appointed as
the chief financial officer of the Company (“Chief Financial
Officer”) with effect from 1 March 2021. Ms. Wan resigned as
Company Secretary of the Company on 16 December 2022
and then resigned as the Chief Financial Officer on 31 January
2023.

Ms. Wan obtained a Bachelor of Commerce (Honours) in
Accounting from Hong Kong Shue Yan University (formerly
known as Hong Kong Shue Yan College) in July 2006, a Master
of Corporate Governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in October 2012, and a Master of Arts in Global
Business Management from City University of Hong Kong in
June 2022. She is an Associate of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, the Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute (formerly known as the Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries), and the Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators). Ms. Wan has over 15 years of experience in
audit and assurance, financial management, and corporate
governance.

Mr. Leung Tak Ho (REZ), aged 47, joined Trio Engineering
as the chief financial officer in December 2022 and was
appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company with
effect from 31 January 2023. Mr. Leung has over 25 years
of experience in auditing, accounting, corporate governance
and financial management. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Leung was the chief financial officer, company secretary, and
authorised representative of Perfectech from September 2018
to September 2021.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheung Yu Man (R#1#8{), aged 39, was appointed as
the Company Secretary of the Company with effect from 20
December 2022. Mr. Cheung has over 15 years of experience
in legal and company secretarial field. Mr. Cheung obtained
a Bachelor of Arts degree in Business Administration and
Management from University of Huddersfield in November 2007
and a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of London in
November 2013. Mr. Cheung obtained his Graduate Diploma in
Legal Practice from The College of Law in Australia in February
2017. Mr. Cheung is a lawyer admitted in the Supreme Court
of New South Wales. He is also a member of the Law Society
of New South Wales, Australia and an associate member of
both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The
Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom.

Mr. Shahpour Javanmard Emamghissi, aged 66, is
the Director of Project Development and is responsible for
business development in the European market and supervision
of the product designs. He has over 32 years of experience
in the electronic engineering industry and specialises in
manufacturing, quality control and business development
management.

Mr. Emamghissi obtained a higher national diploma in electrical
and electronic engineering from Liverpool Polytechnic (now
known as Liverpool John Moores University) in the United
Kingdom for session 1980/1981 and subsequently received
a diploma in electrical and electronic engineering from Leeds
Polytechnic (now known as Leeds Beckett University) in the
United Kingdom in June 1982 and a postgraduate diploma in
manufacturing management and technology from the Open
University in the United Kingdom in July 1997.
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EXZRSREEERE

After leaving college, Mr. Emamghissi worked on Automation
projects with Micro Systems Control until January 1984. He
joined Denis Ferranti Group in February 1984 as an Electronics
Engineer. During his 19 years with Ferranti Group, he held
a number of positions (Electronic design and test engineer,
Project and Telecom Engineering Manager). In 2003, he joined
Eaton Electrical Part of Eaton Corporation USA, a manufacturer
of electrical distribution equipment, circuit breakers and safety
products in the United Kingdom as Project/Process Manager.
Between November 2003 to April 2005, he worked as an
engineering project manager in Dolgarrog Aluminium Limited. In
November 2005, he joined Lake Communications Ltd holding
the position of offshore manufacturing and quality manager.
Lake Communications designs and supplies Telecom products
throughout Europe and the US. During the period from
December 2011 to December 2015, Mr. Emamghissi worked
as a consultant for Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy, and provided
support to the sales activities in Europe as well as technical
support to the customers therein. He formally joined the Group
as the director of project development in January 2016.

Ms. Wu Mo Man (#5X), aged 44, is the Director of the
Marketing Division, responsible for the management and
supervision of the Marketing Division.

Ms. Wu obtained a diploma in management in December
2003 from the University of Leicester, and a master degree
in business administration from the University of lowa in May
2019.

She joined the Group in March 2006 as Marketing Executive
and was promoted to Marketing Manager in 2009 until she left
in June 2011. From June 2012 to April 2014, Ms. Wu worked
in Fuji Xerox (H.K.) Limited as sales planning executive and
assisted in pipeline, sales and marketing data analysis and
presented the pre-sale & sales performance. In December
2014, she rejoined the Group as Marketing Manager and has
been the director of the Marketing Division since January 2019.
Ms. Wu has over 20 years of experience in the procurement
and supply chain development in the electrical and mechanical
industry, as well as sales planning and international marketing
business development in the electronics industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

In FY2022, the global economy and business environment
were adversely impacted by the coronavirus disease 2019
(“COVID-19”), geopolitical tensions and inflationary pressures.
In the second half of the year, major countries in Europe
and the US have gradually lifted the COVID-19 restrictions,
including the quarantine measures and travel restrictions, in
order to revitalise their economies.

COVID-19 brings challenges but also opportunities. The
COVID-19 restrictions, such as social distancing measures and
remote-working arrangements, have accelerated the digital
transformation of companies, working style and societies,
which in turn stimulated the global demands on the electronic
medical and health care products, self-service equipment,
smart charging solutions and digital gaming devices.

As the global economic activities were recovering progressively
in the second half of 2022, the demand of our products soared
to a record high. The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31
December 2022 grew by 31.5% to HK$978.1 million (2021:
HK$744.1 million).

During the year, the management has taken various measures
with the aim of improving the gross profit margin and getting
a turnaround of the result of the Group. The management
exercised stringent control on major costs, including but not
limited to the material costs, direct labour costs and freight
and transportation costs. Our marketing division made great
effort to negotiate with our customers for compensation of our
soaring material costs. Our engineering and production team
strived to optimise its product mix to meet customer needs
and further streamlined the manufacturing processes so as to
enhance production efficiency and reduce labour costs. As a
result, the Group’s gross profit margin for the year ended 31
December 2022 rose by 2.5 percentage points to 21.2% (2021:
18.7%) and the Group recorded a profit attributable to owners
of the Company of HK$45.4 million for FY2022 as opposed to
a loss of HK$10.6 million in 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The following table summarises the amount of revenue
generated and as a percentage of total revenue from each
product category for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021 (“FY2021”), respectively:

Bt % 51 B8

LoE
TEBMAZERDBEIINRBEE-_T -
k-2 —F([Z2=-MBFE])+=A
—t-HLEFEMELARGSRRMEAKER
D

FY2022 FY2021 Changes
—EBBEE - -MBFE )
HK$’000 % HK$’000 % HK$’000 %
FET % FET % FET %
Electro-mechanical HE E W
products 377,517 38.6 331,461 44.5 +46,056 +13.9
Smart chargers e E 2R 232,758 23.8 173,075 23.3 +59,683 +34.5
Switch-mode power A EIR
supplies 218,354 22.3 159,674 21.5 +58,680 +36.7
Smart vending systems R EEE R4 143,445 14.7 70,191 9.4  +73,254 +104.4
Others! H Ao 6,029 0.6 9,666 1.3 -3,637 -37.6
Total B5 978,103 100.0 744,067 100.0 +234,036 +31.5
Note: HieE -

1 Others include automatic testing equipment (“ATE”), power switch gear
boards, and catering equipment control boards.

The Group’s revenue reached HK$978.1 million for FY2022,
representing an increase of 31.5% as compared with that for
Fy2021.

Following the stabilisation of COVID-19 pandemic and the
gradual alleviation of material supplies, revenue generated from
all main product categories — (i) electro-mechanical products, (i)
smart chargers, (i) switch-mode power supplies and (iv) smart
vending systems — delivered a remarkable increase for FY2022.
In particular, revenue from smart vending systems achieved a
double sales growth as compared with that in FY2021.
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The table below summarises the geographical revenue segment
based on location of customers for FY2022 and FY2021,
respectively:

BEER

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

TROBER —F - —FRFER T —
PRFEREFPUED MK DL

FY2022 FY2021 Changes
ZEC_BREE —E-—HREFE =i
HK$’000 %  HK$000 %  HK$'000 %
FET % FEIT % FET %
Europe!" B 800,243 81.8 616,288 82.8 +183,955 +29.8
North America® bz 113,211 11.6 91,698 12.3 421,513 +23.5
The PRC (including FE (RIEEE)

Hong Kong) 28,163 2.9 25,246 3.4 +2,917 +11.6
South-east Asia® HEGTEO 11,013 1.1 3,074 0.4 +7,939 +258.3
Others® EHh@ 25,473 2.6 7,761 11 17,712 +228.2
Total st 978,103 100.0 744,067 100.0 +234,036 +31.5
Notes: Hiat -

(1) Europe includes Austria, Bulgaria, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, (1) BOMeERMF - RNFIE - BE - BPEDL - F

Germany, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, lItaly, Poland, Portugal, Serbia,
Slovakia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, the Netherlands, and the United
Kingdom.

(2) North America includes the US.

3) South-east Asia includes India, Malaysia, Philippines, Singapore, Thailand
and Vietnam.

(4) Others include Australia, Brazil, Israel, Japan and Taiwan.

Europe and North America continued to be the major markets
of the Group which in aggregate accounted for 93.4% and
95.1% of total revenue for FY2022 and FY2021 respectively.
Revenue generated from all sales regions reported a noticeable
increase in FY2022 mainly due to growing product demands
driven by the gradual resumption of global economic activities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Cost of sales

The Group’s cost of sales mainly comprised direct materials,
direct labour costs, and manufacturing overheads. Cost of
sales for FY2022 went up by 27.5% to HK$770.8 million from
HK$604.7 million for FY2021. The upsurge in cost of sales is
a combination of: (i) growing revenue for FY2022; (i) soaring
material costs brought by prolonged material shortages
worldwide; (iii) higher labour costs as a result of the adjustment
of minimum wages in Guangdong province, the PRC and the
re-arrangement of production activities in response to unstable
supply of materials; (iv) the rise in carriage inwards and delivery
lead time brought by pandemic-induced logistic disruptions;
and (v) increased energy costs arising from rising electricity
prices in the PRC and escalating geopolitical tensions.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s gross profit was
HK$207.3 million for FY2022, representing an increase of
48.8% compared with that of FY2021. Gross profit margin
improved by 2.5 percentage points to 21.2% for FY2022 from
18.7% for FY2021.

Other income, net

Other income, net was HK$7.5 million for FY2022, more
than double of the amount of HK$3.2 million for FY2021.
The increase was primarily attributed to: (i) gain on foreign
exchange, net of HK$2.1 million mostly derived from the
depreciation of RMB and Thai Baht (“THB”) and (i) increase
in scrap material sales income by HK$0.8 million during the
reporting period.

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses included primarily: (i)
freight, insurance, and transportation charges, (ii) custom duties
and declaration charges, and (iii) sales commission. There
was a 1.2% decrease in selling and distribution expenses to
HK$15.9 million for FY2022 from HK$16.1 million for FY2021,
as a result of effective cost control measures implemented by
the Group.
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Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses grew by 2.8% from HK$130.1 million
for FY2021 to HK$133.8 million for FY2022. The increase in
administrative expenses was mainly due to the rise in employee
benefit expenses of directors, management and sales and
administrative staff in the Group.

Other operating income/(expenses), net

The Group reported other operating income of HK$1.6 million
for FY2022 as opposed to other operating expenses of
HK$4.9 million for FY2021. The other operating income for
FY2022 primarily resulted from reversal of impairment loss on
inventories of HK$2.9 million, as opposed to the provision for
impairment loss on inventories of HK$5.3 million in FY2021.

Finance expenses, net

Finance expenses, net rose by 57.4% from HK$6.8 million for
FY2021 to HK$10.8 million for FY2022. With surging global
interest rates and the commencement of the leases of factory
buildings during FY2022, the interest on bank borrowings
and lease liabilities rose by HK$1.2 million and HK$2.5 million
respectively for FY2022 as compared with that of FY2021.

Income tax expenses/(credit)

Income tax expenses of HK$10.5 million for FY2022 primarily
represented the provision of income tax expenses for FY2022
and the recognition of deferred tax expense arising from the
utilisation of tax losses in the prior years.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During FY2022, the Group’s operation and capital requirements
were financed principally through a combination of cash flows
generated from the operating activities, proceeds from the
listing of the shares of the Company on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange on 23 November 2017 (the “Listing”)
and bank borrowings. As at 31 December 2022, the Group
had bank borrowings of HK$21.0 million (2021: HK$10.4
million), which were classified as current liabilities and primarily
denominated in HK$ and United States Dollars (“US$”). In
addition, the Group as at 31 December 2022 had undrawn
banking facilities of HK$191.4 million (2021: HK$182.8
million) and cash and bank balances (including restricted bank
deposits) of HK$79.0 million (2021: HK$68.9 million). Cash and
bank balances (including restricted bank deposits) were mainly
denominated in HK$, US$, RMB, THB and Euro (‘EUR”).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net current assets
of HK$306.3 million (2021: HK$265.4 million). The Group’s
current ratio (as calculated by current assets divided by current
liabilities) increased from 2.1 times as at 31 December 2021 to
2.3 times as at 31 December 2022. Gearing ratio is calculated
by net debt divided by total capital as at the end of reporting
period. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash
and bank balances, while total capital is calculated as “equity”
as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position,
plus net debt, where applicable. As at 31 December 2022,
the gearing ratio was not applicable (“N/A”) (2021: N/A) to the
Group as the Group continued to record a net cash position
(being cash and bank balances less total borrowings to be
positive).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks:
(i) market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and
fair value interest rate risk), (i) credit risk; and (iii) liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
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Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong, the PRC, Thailand
and Ireland. Entities within the Group are exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to HK$, RMB, THB, and EUR. Foreign
exchange risk arises from export sales, purchases, other future
commercial transactions and monetary assets and liabilities
that are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s
functional currency.

The management of the Company has set up a policy to
require the Group to manage their foreign exchange risk
against its functional currencies. It manages its foreign currency
risk by closely monitoring the movements of foreign currency
rates and will consider to enter into forward foreign exchange
contracts to reduce the exposure should the need arise.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had not
entered into any forward foreign exchange contract. During the
year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had entered into
certain forward foreign exchange contracts with a bank and a
gain on derivative financial instruments of HK$0.8 million was
recognised at the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. The forward foreign exchange contracts had expired
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from borrowings.
Borrowings obtained at variable rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk which is partially offset by cash held
at variable rates. Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk. The Group does not adopt
any interest hedging strategy.

During FY2022 and FY2021, all bank borrowings of the Group
were arranged at floating rates varied with the then prevailing
market condition.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had bank borrowings of
HK$21.0 million (2021: HK$10.4 million), which were primarily
denominated in HK$ and US$.
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Credit risk

The Group’s credit risks are primarily attributable to financial
instruments, financial assets at fair value through profits or
loss, trade and other receivables, deposits, time deposits and
cash deposited at banks.

In respect of time deposits and cash deposited at banks, the
credit risk is considered to be low as the counterparties are
banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit
rating agencies.

The management of the Group makes periodic assessment
on the recoverability of trade and other receivables based on
historical payment records, the length of the overdue period,
the financial strength of the debtors and whether there are any
disputes with the debtors. According to the Group’s historical
experience in collection of trade and other receivables falls
within the recorded allowances and the management is of the
opinion that adequate provision for uncollectible receivables
has been made in the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022, the customer bases were widely
dispersed despite that 11.6% (2021: 13.3%) of the trade
receivable were due from the Group’s largest customer and
73.1% (2021: 72.2%) were due from the five largest customers
determined on the same basis.

The Group is also exposed to credit risk in relation to financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss. The maximum
exposure at the end of the reporting period is the carrying
amount of these investments.

Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating entities of
the Group. Such forecast takes into consideration the Group’s
debt financing plans, covenant compliance and, if applicable
external regulatory or legal requirements — for example,
currency restrictions.

The Group maintains liquidity by a number of sources
including orderly realisation of short-term financial assets
and receivables; and long-term financing including long-term
borrowings. The Group aims to maintain flexibility in funding
by keeping sufficient bank balances, committed credit lines
available and interest bearing borrowings which enable the
Group to continue its business in the foreseeable future.
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COMMITMENTS

(@) The Group’s capital expenditure on property, plant and
equipment contracted for but not yet incurred as at 31
December 2022 amounted to HK$1,121,000 (2021:
HK$42,000).

(b)  The Group has recognised right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for all leases, except for short-term leases
with original lease term of less than one year. The total
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
leases for which no lease liabilities have been recognised
by the Group as at 31 December 2022 amounted to
HK$565,000.

As at 31 December 2021, the total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable short-term leases and
leases not yet commenced, for which no lease liabilities
have been recognised by the Group amounted to
HK$203,000 and HK$136,473,000, respectively.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank borrowings
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had 1,000,000,000
shares in issue (2021: 1,000,000,000 shares).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not hold any
significant investments (2021: nil).

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSAL
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions nor disposals
of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during FY2022
(2021: nil).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as those disclosed in the prospectus of the Company
dated 13 November 2017 (the “Prospectus”) or otherwise in
this annual report, the Group currently has no other plan for
material investments and capital assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2022 (2021: nil).
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TREASURY MANAGEMENT

During FY2022, there had been no material change in the
Group’s funding and treasury policies. The Group has a
sufficient level of cash and banking facilities for the conduct of
its trade in the normal course of business.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to ensure
that members of the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximizing the return to Shareholders through
the optimization of its debt and equity balance. The Group
manages the amount of capital in proportion to risk, and makes
adjustments to its overall capital structure. The management
of the Group closely reviews the trade receivable balances
and any overdue balances on an ongoing basis and only trade
with creditworthy parties. The management of the Group
carefully monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that
the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
commitments can meet its funding requirements to manage
liquidity risk.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss amounted to HK$9.3 million (2021:
HK$9.1 million), property, plant and equipment amounted to
HK$23.0 million (2021: HK$24.9 million) and bank deposits
amounted to HK$6.2 million (2021: HK$6.1 million) have been
charged as security for the bank borrowings of the Group.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The total number of employees were approximately 1,600 as at
31 December 2022 (2021: approximately 1,500). The Group’s
employee benefit expenses mainly included salaries, overtime
payment and discretionary bonus, other staff benefits and
contributions to retirement schemes.

For the FY2022, the Group’s total employee benefit expenses
(including Directors’ emoluments) amounted to HK$193.2
million (2021: HK$179.0 million). Remuneration is determined
with reference to the qualification, experience and work
performance, whereas the payment of discretionary bonus
is generally subject to work performance, the financial
performance of the Group in that particular year and general
market conditions.
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The Group operates a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible Directors and employees of the Group, who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. No share
options were granted, exercised or lapsed under the Share
Option Scheme during FY2022. As at 31 December 2022, the
Group did not have any outstanding share options granted
under the Share Option Scheme (2021: nil).

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was conditionally approved and
adopted in compliance with Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock
Exchange by written resolutions of the then Shareholder on
27 October 2017. In any event, any grant of options under
the Share Option Scheme shall comply with the amended
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules which took effect
on 1 January 2023 notwithstanding any provisions of the
Scheme.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to (i) motivate
the eligible persons (as set out in the paragraph below) to
optimise their performance and efficiency for the benefit of
our Group; and (ii) to attract, retain or otherwise maintain on-
going relationships with the eligible persons who are significant
to and/or whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
performance, growth and success of our Group.

The participants of the Share Option Scheme include: (i)
any director, employee, consultant, professional, customer,
supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to any
member of the Group or a company in which the Group holds
an interest or a subsidiary of such company (the “Affiliate”);
(i) the trustee of any trust the beneficiary of which or any
discretionary trust the discretionary objects of which include
any director, employee, consultant, professional, customer,
supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to any
member of the Group or an Affiliate; or (iii) a company
beneficially owned by any director, employee, consultant,
professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or
contractor to any member of the Group or an Affiliate.

As at 31 December 2022 and as at the date of this annual
report, the total number of shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme was 70,000,000 (2021: 70,000,000
shares), representing 7% (2021: 7%) of the issued share capital
of the Company.
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The aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company, must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the Company’s shares in issue as at the date of listing of
the Company. The 10% limit may be refreshed at any time by
obtaining approval of the Company’s shareholders in general
meeting provided that the total number of the Company’s
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company, must not exceed 10% of the
Company’s shares in issue as at the date of the approval of
the refreshed limit.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the number of shares issued
and to be issued in respect of which options granted and
which may be granted to any individual in any 12-month period
up to the date of the grant, shall not exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue. Any further grant of options in excess
of this limit must be separately approved by the Company’s
shareholders in a general meeting with such grantee and his/
her close associates abstaining from voting. Any grant of an
option to a Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder
of the Company (or any of their respective associates) must
be approved by the independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who is the
grantee of the option).

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder of the
Company or an independent non-executive Director (or any
of their respective associates) will result in the total number of
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted to such person under the
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) in
any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue and
having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000,
such further grant of options is required to be approved by
Shareholders at a general meeting of the Company, with voting
to be taken by way of a poll.
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Upon acceptance of an option to subscribe for shares,
the eligible participant shall pay HK$1 to the Company as
consideration for the grant. The subscription price of a share
subject to options granted under the Share Option Scheme
shall be a price determined by the Board and notified to a
participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of the grant of the option; and (ii)
The average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the grant of the option.

Under the Share Option Scheme, options granted are
exercisable after three years but not exceeding ten years from
the date of the grant.

No share options were granted, exercised or lapsed under the
Scheme during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on 23 November 2017. As
at 31 December 2022, the remaining life of the Share Option
Scheme is approximately 4.9 years. However, the Shareholders
may by a resolution in general meeting at any time terminate
the Share Option Scheme. Upon expiry or termination of the
Share Option Scheme, no further options shall be offered but
in all other respects the provisions of the Share Option Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note
28 to the consolidated financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risks of non-compliance with
such requirements. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
information and belief, and having made all reasonable
enquiries, the Group has complied with all relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong and other jurisdictions applicable to
the Group in all material respects during FY2022, except for
the failure to comply with Rule 3.10(1), Rule 3.10A, Rule 3.21,
Rule 3.25 and Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules. Following the
retirement of Mr. Cheung Kin Wing and Mr. Wong Raymond
Fook Lam as the independent non-executive directors on
27 May 2022, (i) Mr. Cheung Kin Wing ceased to be the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the
Remuneration Committee and Risk Management Committee;
and (i) Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam ceased to be the
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chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of
each of the Audit Committee, Nomination committee and Risk
Management Committee. Accordingly, since 27 May 2022,
the number of independent non-executive Directors and the
number of members of each of the Nomination Committee, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee fell below the
minimum number required under Rule 3.10(1), Rule 3.10A, Rule
3.21, Rule 3.25 and Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules. Following
the appointments of Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise and Mr. Hau
Siu Laam, from 1 August 2022, the Company has re-complied
with the requirements of Rule 3.10(1), Rule 3.10A, Rule 3.21,
Rule 3.25 and Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules and the terms of
reference of each of the relevant Board committees.

The Group also complies with the requirements under the
Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance,
Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO”) for the
disclosure of information and corporate governance in all
material respects.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the
environment from its business activities. The Group continually
seeks to identify and manage environmental impacts
attributable to its operational activities in order to minimise
these impacts if possible.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises employees as one of the valuable assets
of the Group. The Group strictly complies with the labour laws
and regulations in Hong Kong and other jurisdictions applicable
to the Group and regularly reviews the existing staff benefits for
improvement.

The Group provides good quality services to customers and
maintains a good relationship with them. The Group is able to
establish trust and long-standing business relationship with its
major customers.

The Group also maintains effective communication and
develops long term and stable relationships with suppliers.
During FY2022, there was no material dispute nor
disagreement between the Group and its suppliers.
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COMPARISON OF BUSINESS STRATEGIES

WITH ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

The following sets out a comparison of the business strategies
as stated in the Prospectus with the Group’s actual business
progress for FY2022 and up to the date of this annual report:

Business strategies as stated in the Prospectus
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Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

BEEAFEHANNERIBER

Continue to expand the customer base in the
European market and explore new markets in the
PRC, the US and other Asian countries

SERERENTSEPEARETE - XERHE MM
NG

Despite global economic outlook is subject to
multiple uncertainties, including potential new virus
variant outbreak, geopolitical tensions, surging
inflation, currency depreciation pressures, etc, the
market is still full of business opportunities. The
COVID-19 pandemic has been widely acknowledged
as accelerating of digital transformation of
companies, working style and societies, which have
stimulated higher global demands on medical and
health care products, automation and self-service
equipment, and smart charging solutions. Riding

on the continuous efforts made by its marketing
team, the Group has successfully approached
customers of the aforesaid industries in Europe
and the US. Some of these customers have placed
trial orders to the Group and mass production is
expected to materialise in the year to come. The
Group will continue to put more resources on sales
and marketing activities to capture these business
opportunities.

BEERRKBISTFHESZEIREAR - BREEHE
BRERE  MEBERRBY - @RMNE - E¥RE
BH% - BmSBINATMEE - COVID-19ZIEEREZ
REBPHMRAF - TERA Rt S mEHEEL - &
wHEHREBERMRRER 8RB ARBAR
BERBMANENESFT K - BELHEBMELD
MBS - REBEKER BT RABUM REEE
FeoHEpETEFERAAEE VEABITE - BHER
AR—FERYPBEE - AEBGEBRHEZERR
HERAHTEE - ILIRELEHE
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Business strategies as stated in the Prospectus

IR E R A B ST KRG

Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

BEXFRAMNEREBKER

Manufacture products of higher value and/or with
higher profit contribution per the resources

BEREEEERS R/ FFBOBRREHER

Whilst a number of project developments and
product launches were put on hold due to the
multiple waves of COVID-19 outbreak, the sales,
marketing, and technical executives of the Group
kept close contact with customers and business
partners to offer various supports, including but not
limited to production schedules, product shipment,
technical support, etc. Despite the tough economic
environment, business opportunities are still
emerging. The COVID-19 pandemic has redefined
customer experience and the demands for medical
and healthcare products, automation and self-
service solutions, and smart charging applications
are increasing. The Group will continue to invest in
the development of these products to capture market
trends.

UK COVID-19& 1513 & G 2 B E 1R B 53 M2 an i 1%
HiE  AEEMNEE  MmSEHEARNMEREERT R
REBAEBRHERIFETBEUNRESEXS - B81FE
PRNEERER  EmEE  RTXHE - ©BRE
HEAERE - HEEPDAREKLIR - COVID-19RBEERE
HMERETFER HERMMRAEER BICLRABE
ARARAREEFERARFERTEEN - REE G
BREME L EmR - AHRETISBE -
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Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

BEEAFHRANNERELER

Continue to expand the operations in automatic test
equipment (“ATE”) business segment

A B B e RlRE ([ BBEBRBRE XK

Strengthen the sales and marketing efforts in the
industrial electronic manufacturing services sector

M TEEFRERBAHNHEREHENE

COVID-19-induced contraction in economic activities
and geopolitical risks have adversely affected the
world’s investment spending. In the face of uncertain
business environment, some companies, if not all,
stayed conservative in project development and
capital investment. As such, the Group continued

to re-assign its ATEs talents to support its existing
businesses, enhance productivity, and strengthen its
capability in power electronics.

COVID-19FT 5| R E B TR R K BUa AR E S 2
FREXHER AT E - mE RN ERHERE - 5
D (EREHM)ARAEEBFAERERKRE T HEBFR
SFREE - Ak AEEEES T HRE BB RARE
AT UAXEREREER Re4EENRIEREES
BFHHEMEEN °

As most of the European countries started to

lift the COVID-19 restrictions, including social
distancing and travel restrictions, the Group
resumed participating the trade fair and conference
for electronics in Germany in the second half of
2022.1n 2023, the Group is planning to have more
physical promotional campaigns, including industrial
exhibitions, customer visits, etc. in the view of
reconnecting customers and looking for new business
opportunities.

AR SR BN EI SR B BB COVID-198R Hil #5 e (204t 32
IPREN RS - AEER T _F ¥ FERDHE
EENETEMRHEENLEE - AEEFEN T =%
BMFELTHERE  TLP2BSERTEEY - UEHE
BEFEMEUBMETSHIOEE -
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Business strategies as stated in the Prospectus

IR E R A B ST KRG

Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

BEXFRAMNEREBKER

Further enhance the production efficiency and
expand the production capacity

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company
dated 23 April 2021, 22 June 2021, 15 December
2021, 18 March 2022, and 13 May 2022, respectively
and the circular of the Company dated 26 July 2021,
the Group had on 8 May 2021 and 30 June 2021,
respectively, entered into tenancy agreements with
Shiji Cooperative Economic Association of Dongchong
Town, Nansha District, Guangzhou City, Guangdong
Province* (R & BN & RO A A ER D& 1L
EHE A 1L) (the “Landlord”) (collectively, the “Tenancy
Agreements”) for the leasing of two respective
factory buildings situated at No. 17 and No. 37,
Dongchong Section, Shinan Highway. Shiji Village,
Dongchong Town, Nansha District, Guangzhou

City, Guangdong Province, the PRC* (TR EHRE &
MY EFREAENTRERERBER17 R375)
(collectively, the “Factory Buildings”). By entering
into the Tenancy Agreements, it will allow the Group
to increase its production capacity in the Factory
Buildings. The expansion plan will create synergy,
minimise logistics and administrative costs and
maximise production efficiency.

The Factory Buildings were delivered to the Group
forrentin June 2022. The renovation works of

the Factory Buildings are in progress and will be
equipped with high level automation and digitisation
production lines to enhance the capabilities to serve
large volume production on high value and heavy-
duty product series.

On the other hand, the performance of the Group’s
production facility in Thailand has gradually improved
during FY2022.

The Group will continue to allocate resources to
support this production facility in enhancing its
production efficiency and capabilities.
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Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

BEXFRAMNEREBER

E—FRESEEREREAER

WA RB BRI AEE_—FHA=-+=8
—E-—HXAZ+ZH - —E-—&+-A+HAB -
TR F=-—AtTN\BERE__FEAT=BZAM
URARBIBHA—SE -_—Ft A+ NHZBRHAE
o AEEDIR_E_—FRANAEZ=ZZE=_—F
NA-TTHEEREEMNTEIBRRBEAERGE
e B A ([ZEXDIIVEERZ (KB HER
E) UHESBNATEEREEMNmEDEEBE
AENTREAKIREA7 RI7HRAOMETMAE (5718
[IBAE] - sl ERHBIEAESERSER IR
RNERESR: - IBRETEIGAERRNE - I AREHE
BEYRRATHRRAE » R KR EIRSEENE -

THAEER —ZE-_FXAXMNETFAEE - IR
AREEEETRETIR  UYHEESEBIEREGL
HESR MR ETsEERERERRINAEL
EERIRES] ©

S—H ARBEZFELAERBHRAR-_T_—
MBERELWE -

A S BER SR U B - IR A
Wk R ©
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Business strategies as stated in the Prospectus

IR E R A B ST KRG

Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

BEXFRAMNEREBKER

Continue to recruit talents and professionals

HEBERBEZATREREAL

To maintain and enhance the Group’s
competitiveness in the industrial EMS industry, the
Group has been encouraging the development and
application of new/innovative technologies toward
high value-added projects/products. The Group’s
strategic talent centre (*STC”) in the Guangzhou City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC has been transformed
into an innovation and development hub to recruit
and nurture technological talents, strengthen its
infrastructure, and push for the application of
advanced technologies and innovation. As at 31
December 2022, there were eight employees working
at the STC to provide a wide range of value-added
services to the Group. The management of the Group
will continue to recruit talents of the necessary

level and number at this STC for providing various
supports to the Group.
RTRFERSIAEENRIEEFRERBITENTF
N AEB-ERBReEEEE EnAERERAS
¥/ BIFTRHE, o RSB AP BIE SR A BN T A B A
e ([ SR A Hs |) B AT 3ERC BRI 2 B R AR AR -
ARIERIBERRAL - A A AR - WHETHE
B REFER - R T -_—F+_A=1+—H - 8K
ATHOLAENEREE @ RAEERHEZHIGERT -
REEEREHEBTIEMTERMEEN AT AL
AT PO RAEERHESEIE -
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USE OF PROCEEDS FrEFIERE

The following table sets forth the status of use of net proceeds XA FTHAEBRBEFEN T -
from the Listing as at 31 December 2022 and the expected +_-A=+—HMERIBREKREBMEHE

timeline of the use of the unutilised proceeds: R#ErTEHRBE
The actual
net proceeds
prior to the Expected
reallocation timeline of
approved by The actual full utilisation
the Board on net proceeds Incurred of the balance
25 October subsequent upto  Balance as at as at
Business strategies as 2019 (the The tothe 31 December 31 December 31 December
set out in the Prospectus “Reallocation”)  Reallocation Reallocation 2022 2022 2022
REZE
RZZ-1%
+A=tER
HEEHIR 2
([E528]) 28z RIBZZf tZAZt-A
RS RENSRAER T-A=t-B TZR=t-B  ZEBRLEHN
RRERMANZERK FESERE ENAR  FBSERE 28R 68 RHEREX
HK$’ million HK$’ million HK$’ million HK$’ million HK$’ million HK$’ million
BE#T BEER BEER BE#T V=747 BEER
Development of new production base 7.8 - 778 (43.9) 34.5 End of 2023
RRIEESS ZEIZER
Upgrading of existing production facilities 45 - 45 (4.5 - N/A
HEREEER EH
Establishment of offices in Dublin, Ireland and

Paris, France 13 8.3 30 3.0 - N/A
EERRSRRAEACREURER TR
Establishment of the STC in Guangzhou City,

Guangdong Province, the PRC 1.3 (6.0) 6.3 6.3 - N/A
ERERRERNTRUBRAT AL R
Working capital and other general corporate purposes 5.1 - 5.1 6.1 - N/A
BEESREM-ROKAR TR
Business developments and operations in Europe - 13.3 13.3 (13.9) - N/A
EEMENEBERR2E ER

10.0 - 110.0 (75.5) 345
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The unutilised net proceeds have been deposited in
interest-bearing bank accounts with licensed banks in Hong
Kong. The Board closely monitors the use of net proceeds
with reference to those disclosed in the Prospectus and the
announcement of the Company dated 25 October 2019 as
to the change in use of proceeds from the Listing. Due to
the uncertain economic and market conditions, driven by the
multiple waves of COVID-19 and geopolitical uncertainties, the
Group’s plans for the development of new production base in
the PRC and business developments and operations in Europe
have been deferred. The remaining portion of the net proceeds
are expected to be utilised up to the financial year ending 31
December 2023. The expected timeline of full utilisation is
based on the Directors’ best estimation barring unforeseen
circumstances, and would be subject to change based on the
future development of market conditions.

OUTLOOK

Stepping into the post-pandemic era, the global economy
is expected to recover at a faster pace in 2023. However,
the international economic organisation and major financial
institutions generally warn of a tough year for world economy
in 2023 with one-third of the world economy could be in
recession. The management is cautiously optimistic about the
prospects and will remain vigilant in the challenging operating
environment.

The Group’s order backlog stays strong which reflected robust
demands in our products as stimulated by digital transformation
and automation.

The Group will continue to avail more resources on sales and
marketing activities to explore new business opportunities and
invest in new technologies to enhance its production efficiency
and capabilities in the PRC and Thailand. The Group leased
two factory buildings alongside the existing production base in
the PRC. The factory buildings will be equipped with high level
automation and digitisation production lines to enhance the
capabilities to serve large volume production on high value and
heavy-duty product series. The factory buildings are expected
to come into operations in the first half of 2023. On the other
hand, the performance of the Group’s production facility in
Thailand has gradually improved during FY2022. The Group
will continue to allocate resources to support this production
facility in enhancing its production efficiency and capabilities.

AEAWEFRIBEFELE TR BFEIER
THFTEIRITEFPAN - S22 BRERER
ARRIBHPA-_E—NF+A-_+HBEHEE
N EMAMERBERENRMABEENASR @ &
PERMERIBFENERBR - ARBEEE
B COVID-195% 15 B B4 K h 35K i TN BE A I
HMSEBCER T BTN - AEBEEPRERTE
EEMWREBRMETEREREREENEID
WHEE o TR OB FRNFIBT S BB A
ERE-_T-=F+-_A=1+—HILFHFE -
BRIFHBAABERENER - BEEANEER
MRDEARESNREMNT  UEREMRIY
RRBERMED) o

RE
EARRBERR  BH T _=—F2RKEE
EREREER - A BRSEEGERTE
CRBBLTRES  2H =/ 0K EER
RIZZ=FRARR - AR BEGLRERE
B—F ARAEEEHMSBELSE XK
RIEMIBNELEREDRITES -

AEBERRNWFTEDNASE  RREZFE
WERAESEHEH T - HRMERNEDFTRK

AEBBEBRNEZERNIFE R EHED
MRZF A RIE R B - SABRERNHE &
REMEERENER - AREEPERENE
EREWE ZIMAEMERE - ZEHMEEERE
BECRBIB(CAER  EMERAKEAREL
E=EBEMBELERRIINES - LlBmETE
BR-FE_=FEFFRAEF - m—TTH -
AEEFBELEERBHRAEAR T _BRF
EZMARNE - AREREEDEERIE
HRM - WIEREEERERERE -
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In March 2023, the Group formed strategic alliance with
Guangzhou Max Power New Energy Technology Co. Ltd.* (&
MNBHTE Fae R AR A7), which is principally engaged in
the design, development and manufacture of electric vehicles
(‘EV”) chargers. The management of the Company believes
that the strategic alliance will create synergy for both parties to
establish and strengthen business relationship and network and
to cooperate in the design and manufacture of EV chargers and
the collaboration will further enhance the business development
of our existing EV charger division.

With the joint efforts of all of its employees, the Group
endeavors to maintain a good business relationship with its
customers, business partners and Shareholders to maximise
its corporate value and deliver promising returns to the
Shareholders.

* for identification purpose only

BEER

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

W-B-=H=H  AEERENBHEE
BHEARATVARBERSR AT EER
$EH)5E (EBNE)RERMRH B
R - ARFAIERERE - BB REEE
368 T 0 S5 B R BB 4 DL R R R
BREEDAERER S EAERARE - @
HAEBE—SRERMNRATHAERTR
P EBHIE -

AEEERETHELT L BHEEPS -
EBBHLRBREFSRINEBRE  U&X
RERACEKEENSBREKABLR -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXRERRE

The Company’s corporate governance code is based on the
principles of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Part 2 of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.
The Company is committed to ensuring a quality board and
transparency and accountability to Shareholders.

The Company complied with all code provisions in the CG
Code during FY2022.

The Board has reserved for its decision and consideration in
relation to (i) formulating the strategic objectives of the Group;
(ii) considering and deciding the Group’s significant operational
and financial matters, including but not limited to substantial
mergers and acquisitions and disposals; (i) overseeing the
Group’s corporate governance practices; (iv) ensuring effective
risk management and internal control systems in place; (v)
directing and monitoring senior management in pursuit of
the Group’s strategic objectives; and (vi) determining the
remuneration packages of all Directors and the Group’s senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments for loss or termination of their office
or appointment. Implementation and execution of Board
policies and strategies and the daily administrative matters
are delegated to the respective Board committees and the
management team of the Company.

The Board conducts at least four regular Board meetings
in a year and additional meetings will be held or resolutions
in writing signed by all Directors in lieu of a meeting will be
arranged as and when required. If a substantial shareholder
of the Company or a Director has a conflict of interest in a
transaction which the Board determines to be material, it will
be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened
Board meeting. Comprehensive information on matters to
be discussed at the Board meeting will be supplied to the
Directors in a timely manner to facilitate discussion and
decision making.

ARRBZEEERSTRITIE L H 5 A 8%+

— At rrEdEEATA ([REERTR )
ZREIFIY - RABBOERSEAENESS
MERE TERRRAR

ARARZE_ZVREECETHBELEE
A SF R 2 ST RIS ©
EESRBUTETEHRERATREEZE  ()FT
AEBENRBUERR (VBB MAEAEEN
EEEEBELVKER  BEETERERAGH
MBERHESE : (IBERAEENDESS
BIR G (vIBREEERRAREE MABELG

B EELERSREREERANEENEK

& B 1% (VI)F}?'_E% CEENAEESRER
ERHMEE  2EEYF s  BERSEN X

E%i%tﬁiﬂ‘%éﬁé&ﬁ@ﬂ%ﬁ cEEEHBREK
REEARTREFNETRATRAZTES
SLREGNARREREEKAE -

ﬁ%A FROBANAEREZTEEZ X

S RBTENSZINEBEETEENS
J&E%%%k’é*éﬁéﬁé:;% HEFER/AAF]

MEZRRAESER —BARZPFREXNF @
B BARARSHERNEABRANESTS SR
HEFREZERERE - ARBEEBRESREH
ﬁ%f%%%ﬁ/;;% ANEEZEZEER - B
a a SOR TR
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EERRE

EEg 2@

At the date of this annual report, the Board comprises four RAFTHRAH EZTLHNEHITEE - —F
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three JFHTEER=ZZBIIERITESMHNK - B
independent non-executive Directors. The name and office of == ::WBZ@F&E REFRBH - AAF]
each of the members of the Board and the Board committees ZEESNMEFZESESKEZ2HR MBI N
of the Company during FY2022 and up to the date of this | :

annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors

BITES

Wong Sze Chai (Chairman of the Board) (Note 1)

BERE(BESXE) (Mat1)
Lai Yiu Wah (Note 2)

BRI (f15t 2 )

Tai Leung Lam

B R

Joseph Mac Carthy

Joseph Mac Carthy

Lo Ka Kei Jun (Note 3)
‘EE(H23)

Non-executive Directors

FHUTEE

Kwan Tak Sum Stanley (Note 4)
RaER (Kit4)

Independent non-executive Directors

BYFIITES

Fung Chun Chung

hokeates

Hau Siu Laam (Note 5)

R (K1:25)

Law Ying Wai Denise (Note 5)
BEE (Mits)

Cheung Kin Wing (Note 6)

SRER (H1726)

Wong Raymond Fook Lam (Note 6)
=B (H5t6)

Notes:

HisE

1. appointed as the Deputy Chairman of the Board and an executive Director 1. RZEZZF+ A+ "BEEEAEESRIERE
with effect from 16 December 2022, and re-designated as the Chairman WITEE  WR-_T=_=F—A=+—8 ﬂfiﬁ%%

of the Board with effect from 31 January 2023.

e

2. resigned as the Chairman of the Board and an executive Director with 2. RZEZ=F—A=1+—HBHTEFSEIRRNTE

effect from 31 January 2023.

3. appointed as an executive Director with effect from 1 September 2022.

=o
3. R-FE_—_FNA-RAEZERRTES -

4. appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 1 September 2022. 4. R-ZE-_—FNA—BHEZTAENTES -

5. appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 1

August 2022.

6. retired with effect from 27 May 2022.

o

REZEZ—F N \A—AEZTABLIFNITES -
6. RZEZ=_FRA=-+EHERE
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AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Law Ying Wai Denise (Chairperson) (Note 1)
Hau Siu Laam (Note 2)

Fung Chun Chung

Cheung Kin Wing (Note 3)

Wong Raymond Fook Lam (Note 4)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Hau Siu Laam (Chairman) (Note 1)
Wong Sze Chai (Note 7)

Law Ying Wai Denise (Note 2)
Kwan Tak Sum Stanley (Note )
Fung Chun Chung

Cheung Kin Wing (Note 4)

Wong Raymond Fook Lam (Note 3)
Lai Yiu Wah (Note 6)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Fung Chun Chung (Chairman)
Wong Sze Chai (Note 7)

Hau Siu Laam (Note 2)

Law Ying Wai Denise (Note 2)

Lai Yiu Wah (Note 6)

Wong Raymond Fook Lam (Note 4)

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Wong Sze Chai (Chairman) (Note 8)
Law Ying Wai Denise (Note 2)

Fung Chun Chung

Lai Yiu Wah (Note 9)

Cheung Kin Wing (Note 4)

Wong Raymond Fook Lam (Note 4)

Notes:

1. appointed as the chairman/chairperson with effect from 1 August 2022.
2. appointed as a member with effect from 1 August 2022.

3. ceased to be the chairman with effect from 27 May 2022.

4, ceased to be a member with effect from 27 May 2022.

5. appointed as a member with effect from 1 September 2022.

6. ceased to be a member with effect from 31 January 2023.

7. appointed as a member with effect from 31 January 2023.

8. appointed as the chairman with effect from 31 January 2023.

9. ceased to be the chairman with effect from 31 January 2023.

BEREEENE
BYS (L) (Hst1)

=R (HiF2)
A

SRS (HiE3)
w=am (Mit4)

FHEEERE
EEER (/7)) (HisE1)

BERE (Mit7)
REZ (Wiz2)
BARR (H1i25)
A

SRIER (Hfit4)
=R (Hit3)
RRIREE (f1:16)

REZEENE

BT ()

"EE (ME7)
R (MiF2)
BEZ (Mit2)
BB (M1i16)
ERAR (Afat4)

EBRERZSENE
BB (EE) (M)

REB (Wit2)
SR

BB (M1419)
SRIEXR (Hfit4)
E @k (MiE4)

Bt

1. RZZEZ—FNA—BEZTEERE -
2. N—E_—FNA—REZERKE -
3. R-Z-——ERA-++tETBAIE -

4. R —FERA-_++tBETBAKE -

6. RZZE-_=F—A=+—HBTHBAKE -
7. RZZEZ=F—A=1+—HEZTAKE -
8. REZZZ=F—A=+—HEZEAEE -

9. RZB_=F—RA=+—HBTBRER
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Mr. Cheung Kin Wing and Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam
retired from office as the independent non-executive Directors
with effect from 27 May 2022. Following their retirement,
(i) Mr. Cheung Kin Wing ceased to be the chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of each of the Remuneration
Committee and Risk Management Committee; and (i) Mr.
Wong Raymond Fook Lam ceased to be the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit
Committee, Nomination committee and Risk Management
Committee.

Accordingly, since 27 May 2022, the number of independent
non-executive Directors and the number of members of each
of the Nomination Committee, the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee fell below the minimum number
required under Rule 3.10(1), Rule 3.10A, Rule 3.21, Rule 3.25
and Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules.

Subsequently, with effect from 1 August 2022, (i) Ms. Law
Ying Wai Denise was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairperson of the Audit Committee
and a member of each of the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Risk Management Committee;
and (i) Mr. Hau Siu Laam was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and
the Nomination Committee.

Following the above appointments of Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise
and Mr. Hau Siu Laam, from 1 August 2022, the Company
has re-complied with the requirements of Rule 3.10(1), Rule
3.10A, Rule 3.21, Rule 3.25 and Rule 3.27A of the Listing
Rules and the terms of reference of each of the relevant Board
committees.

BEER

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBEE

RERELERERRALECDCR T

FAZ+EAREBIFATEST IR - BF
RER ((REREETBEEERZESE
B ARFHEEEMAREEZESEAW
KB RNERREETBELHFMHEZE S
B UREREZES REZEShEARER
ZEEEEMKE -

At BT -_—FHRA-FTtHE BIIFk
BITEEASMRRERZEE  BERZEER
FWZEeSEMNRKEAHER LTHRAE
3.10(1)f& - 88 3.10AMK ~ £3.211& ~ £3.25(%
RE32TAGFTIRERNRIRAEL -

BEfR  (VEEBRLTRZERBIUIFNTE
= FERZESIRULFMHEZES  REZ
EelRREEZBEEAMNKE  R(i)EE
EEERRERBUINTES  HTHEZES
TREARECZESGRRERZEERANNK
B B-Z-__FN\A—-BEE%-

RZEBEZZFENA—H EELELTHEE
RELEELEMZRE  AARCEFFE LM
FBIZE3.10(1) 15 « 53.10A1E « E3.211&% - &
3251 REI2TAKUREEEZ BN BE
HEIAIRE -

Annual Report 2022 & &

57



52

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBEE

All non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) are appointed for a specific term. Mr.
Kwan Tak Sum Stanley, a non-executive Director, has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from 1 September 2022. Each of
Hau Siu Laam and Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise (both being
independent non-executive Directors) has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 1 August 2022. Mr. Fung Chun Chung,
an independent non-executive Director, has entered a letter
of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three
years commencing from 1 February 2017 and his current
term of service has been renewed for a term of three years
commencing from 1 February 2023.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years in accordance with the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles”).

The Board composition is regularly reviewed to ensure that
it has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Group. A balanced
composition of executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors is maintained to ensure independence
and effective management. As at the date of this report, the
Company has satisfied the relevant provision of the Listing
Rules in having at least one of the independent non-executive
Directors with appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. There
is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship(s)) among the members of the
Board.

The appointment of Directors is recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee and
approved by the Board based on a formal written procedure
and policy for the appointment of new Directors. When
selecting potential candidates for the Directors, their skills,
experience, expertise, devotion of time and non-conflicts of
interests are the key factors.
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The daily operation and management of the business of
the Group, among other matters, the implementation of
strategies, are delegated to the executive Directors and senior
management. They report periodically to the Board on their
work and business decisions.

All Directors have been fully consulted about any matters
proposed for inclusion in the agenda for regular meetings.
The chairman of the Board has delegated the responsibility
for drawing up the agenda for each Board meeting to the
Company Secretary.

With the assistance of the Company Secretary, the chairman
of the Board seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly
briefed on issues arising at the Board meetings and have
received adequate and reliable information in a timely manner.

Notices of at least 14 days are given to the Directors for
regular Board meetings, while the Board papers are sent to
the Directors not less than three days before the intended
date of a Board or Board committee meeting. With respect to
other meetings, the Directors are given as much notice as is
reasonable and practicable in the circumstances. The Directors
can attend meetings in person or through other means of
electronic communication in accordance with the Articles.
The Company Secretary ensures that the procedures and all
applicable rules and regulations are complied with. Minutes of
the Board meetings and meetings of the Board committees are
kept by the Company Secretary and are available for inspection
at any time on reasonable notice by any Directors.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and
are able to obtain independent professional advice whenever
they deem necessary. The Directors will be updated with
legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the
Directors in the discharge of their duties from time to time.
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Draft minutes are normally circulated to Directors or members
of the relevant Board committees for comment within a
reasonable time after each meeting.

Any material transaction, which involves a conflict of interests
between a substantial shareholder or a Director and the
Company, will be considered and dealt with by the Board
at a duly convened Board meeting with the presence of the
independent non-executive Directors. Directors are abstained
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of
their associates have a material interest.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

RESPONSIBILITIES

In the course of discharging their duties, the Directors
act in good faith, with due diligence and care, and in the
best interests of the Company and its shareholders. Their
responsibilities include (i) regular board meetings focusing
on business strategy, operational issues and financial
performance; (i) monitoring the quality, timeliness, relevance
and reliability of internal and external reporting; (i) monitoring
and managing potential conflicts of interest of management,
board members and shareholders, including misuse of
corporate assets and abuse in connected transaction; and (iv)
ensuring processes are in place to maintain the overall integrity
of the Company, including financial statements, relationships
with suppliers, customers and other stakeholders, and
compliance with all laws and ethics.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors’ responsibilities for the consolidated financial
statements are set out on page 101 of this annual report.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets
out the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company and also to enhance the quality
of performance of the Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives as stated in the above. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises eight
Directors. Three of the Directors are independent non-executive
Directors and are independent of the management, thereby
promoting critical review and control of the management
process. The Board is also characterised by significant
diversity, whether considered in terms of professional
background and skills.

The Nomination Committee reviews the composition of the
Board from diversified angles up to the date of this report and
summarised as follows:
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For the purpose of implementation of the board diversity policy,
the following measurable objectives were adopted:

1. The Company should comply with the requirements on
board composition in the Listing Rules from time to time.

2. The number of independent non-executive Directors
should be not less than three and one-third of the Board.

3. At least one of the independent non-executive Directors
must have appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

4.  The Board should have at least one member of a different
gender in order to achieve gender diversity at Board level.

The Nomination Committee is of the view that the Company
has achieved these measurable objectives under the board
diversity policy.

GENDER DIVERSITY

As at 31 December 2022, the gender ratio in the total
workforce of the Group (including senior management) was
approximately 35:65 (male:female). The Group may face
difficulties in achieving gender diversity across the workforce in
a country in which the Group operates due to the nature of the
industry, working culture in that country, etc. Nevertheless, the
Company targets to avoid a single gender senior workforce and
will timely review the gender diversity of the senior workforce in
accordance with the business development of the Group.

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, ten Board meetings
were held to review and approve, among other things, (i) the
financial results for the year ended 31 December 2021; (i) the
interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2022; (iii)
business progress, operation updates, and quarterly results;
and (iv) publication of positive profit alert announcements.
A meeting of the Board was also held on 28 March 2023
to approve the annual results of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2022. One annual general meeting of the
Company (‘2022 AGM”) was held during the year ended 31
December 2022.
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Details of the Directors’ attendance records in Board meetings HE_-_ET_-_—_F+_-_A=+—HILFE E=F
and general meetings during the year ended 31 December 2022 REFC e MBREASEHNEFOETE
are set out below: m

No. of Board No. of general

Name of Directors

meetings attended/
eligible to attend

meetings attended/
eligible to attend

HESEERERE HEEEREE
EEpA 4 BRERAEERRE
Executive Directors
BITEE
Lai Yiu Wah 10/10 1/1
Wong Sze Chai (Note 1) Nil Nil
=R (HF1) i i
Tai Leung Lam 10/10 1/1
B R AR
Joseph Mac Carthy 9/10 1/1
Joseph Mac Carthy
Lo Ka Kei Jun (Note 2) 3/3 Nil
mEE(MH2) i
Non-executive Director
HHTEE
Kwan Tak Sum Stanley (Note 2) 3/3 Nil
BER (Hit2) i
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUHBITEE
Fung Chun Chung 10/10 1/1
ki ates
Cheung Kin Wing (Note 3) 2/2 1/1
SREEER (H15E3)
Wong Raymond Fook Lam (Note 3) 2/2 1/1
=B (H7523)
Hau Siu Laam (Note 4) 5/5 Nil
EEE (H5t4) i
Law Ying Wai Denise (Note 4) 5/5 Nil
mEE (Mit4) i
Notes: Hia# -
1. appointed with effect from 16 December 2022. 1 NZEZZF+ A+ AEERT-
2. appointed with effect from 1 September 2022. 2. RZZEZZFNA—BEZE -

3. retired with effect from 27 May 2022.

4, appointed with effect from 1 August 2022.

3. RZEZ=—FRA=++HEMF-
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has established four committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Risk Management Committee. Specific
responsibilities of each committee are described below. All
committees have defined terms of reference which are no less
exacting than those set out in the CG Code.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 27 October 2017
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of
the Listing Rules and paragraph C4 and paragraph D3 of the
CG Code. As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee
comprises three members, namely Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise,
Mr. Fung Chun Chung and Mr. Hau Siu Laam. The chairman of
the Audit Committee is Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise, who holds
the appropriate professional qualifications as required under
Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Cheung Kin Wing and Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam
retired from office as the independent non-executive Directors
with effect from 27 May 2022. Following their retirement,
() Mr. Cheung Kin Wing ceased to be, among others, the
chairman of the Audit Committee and (i) Mr. Wong Raymond
Fook Lam ceased to be, among others, a member of the Audit
Committee. Accordingly, since 27 May 2022, the number
of members of the Audit Committee fell below the minimum
number required under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, and
Mr. Fung Chun Chung, the then remaining independent
non-executive Director, does not appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

With effect from 1 August 2022, () Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise
who possesses appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise as
required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules was appointed
as, among others, the chairperson of the Audit Committee
and (i) Mr. Hau Siu Laam was appointed as, among others,
a member of the Audit Committee. Following the above
appointments of Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise and Mr. Hau Siu
Laam, from 1 August 2022, the Company has re-complied with
the requirements of Rule 3.10(2) and Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules.
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The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, but are
not limited to, the following: (i) making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment and removal of the external
auditor; (ii) reviewing the financial statements of the Group and
monitoring the integrity of such financial statements; and (iii)
overseeing the financial reporting system and internal control
procedures and the Group’s internal audit function.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, two Audit
Committee meetings were held, during which the Audit
Committee reviewed and discussed (i) the independence and
objectivity of independent auditor and its engagement; (i) the
audited financial statement of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021; (iii) the internal control and risk management
report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021; (iv)
the unaudited interim financial statements of the Group for the
six months ended 30 June 2022; and (v) the re-appointment
of the independent auditor of the Group. An Audit Committee
meeting was also held on 28 March 2023 with all the members
present to review and consider, inter alia, the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
and the re-appointment of independent auditor of the Group.
There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the selection and appointment of the external
auditor.

Attendance at meetings of the Audit Committee during the year
ended 31 December 2022 is as follows:

Name of Directors
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ERZEENIERERRE (BTRR)IUTE
B ()M EMNEERERAESTSED
HEER  ()VBEHAKEYBURMERZS
B ME M T ¢ R (i) EE B M A5 R R AR
N EBEEIRAZ Fr A R AR SR B B )RR AZ B BE ©

REEZZT-__F+_A=+—HILEFEA
BERZEBSRITTMALHE  ReRH - &
%E B eaT Mt () B AR BAT R B 1 &
BEEEARET  ((AEEREE T - —F
FTZAZT—HLEFENKEZMBE®RE ; (i)
AEBHE-_T-_—F+_A=+—HIFE
A EH ERBREERE  (VWVAEERER
T - CEXRA=THIEANEANARKLEXF
HBHRE RV AEEBLZEBAMNETRE
F-BREEeNN _ZE-_=EF=A=-+/\H
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EE (AR AEEREBEE S -__F
+Z A=+ BLFENEEZHBRE - A
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Bl e

ERZEEERRNEBE_T__F+_-A
=t RLEFENHFEERHIINT

No. of
meetings attended/
eligible to attend

HE S EER

EEnE HESERE
Law Ying Wai Denise (Note 1) 1/1
mEE (K1)
Fung Chun Chung 2/2
A
Hau Siu Laam (Note 2) 1/1
BERE (Hi72)
Cheung Kin Wing (Note 3) 1/1
SREELR (H1a£3)
Wong Raymond Fook Lam (Note 3) 11
=& (MiE3)

Notes: Hiat -

1. appointed as the chairperson with effect from 1 August 2022. 1. RZZEZZFNA—BHEZTAERE -

2. appointed as a member with effect from 1 August 2022. 2. RZE_—_FN\A—BEZERKE -

3. ceased to be a member with effect from 27 May 2022. 3. RZZZZFRA=-+LBETHAKS -
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The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee considered that the relevant
financial statements have been prepared in compliance with
the applicable accounting principles and requirements of the
Listing Rules and disclosures have been fully made.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with written
terms of reference on 27 October 2017. As at the date of this
report, the Remuneration Committee comprises four members,
namely, Mr. Hau Siu Laam, Mr. Wong Sze Chai, Mr. Fung
Chun Chung and Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise. The chairman of
the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Hau Siu Laam.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model
described in code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code in its
terms of reference. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee include, but are not limited to, the following: (i)
making recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure for the remuneration of all the Directors and senior
management; (i) making recommendations to the Board on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy; (ii) making recommendations
to the Board on the specific remuneration packages of all
Directors and senior management and approving and making
recommendations to the Board on terms of service contracts
with Directors; (iv) reviewing and approving the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the corporate goals
and objectives resolved by the Board from time to time; (v)
assessing performance of executive directors; and (vi) reviewing
and/or approving matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, three Remuneration
Committee meetings were held to review and recommend the
remuneration package of the Directors and senior management
(including those newly appointed during the year ended 31
December 2022) and the relevant service agreements and/or
letters of appointment.
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Attendance at meetings of the Remuneration Committee during
the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out as follows:

Name of Directors

BEER
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FWzEgegeamNB8E2zE_T_—_F+-A
=t HLEFENHFEHIINT

No. of
meetings attended/
eligible to attend

HE S EER

EEnE HESERE
Hau Siu Laam (Note 1) 2/2
wEE (K1)
Lai Yiu Wah 3/3
pdria
Fung Chun Chung 3/3
ikeetes
Law Ying Wai Denise (Note 2) 2/2
BB (Miz2)
Wong Raymond Fook Lam (Note 3) Nil
=R (H573) i
Cheung Kin Wing (Note 3) Nil
SREEER (H15E3) s

Notes: Mt -

1. appointed as the chairman with effect from 1 August 2022. 1 R-ZE-_—FN\A—BEZTAEERF -

2. appointed as a member with effect from 1 August 2022. 2. RZZZ—FN\A—-BEZEAKE -

3. ceased to be a member with effect from 27 May 2022. 3. RZEZZ_FRAZt++EHTBRKE -

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and five highest paid
individuals for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in
note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the remuneration of
the senior management is listed below by band:

BHE-_ET-_—_F+-_A=+—HBHIHEE E%F
FHEERESFMA LTS  ERGEEEH
ERERMIE o

BE_Z-_—F+-_/F=1+—HILFE af
EREFHIZGESIOT

Number of
individuals
A
HK$ nil to HK$1,000,000 1
Z 7% 1,000,000 70
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 2
1,000,001 7% 1,500,000 7T
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 3

1,500,001;8 7T % 2,000,000/ 7T
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms
of reference on 27 October 2017. As at the date of this annual
report, the Nomination Committee comprises five members,
namely Mr. Fung Chun Chung, Mr. Wong Sze Chai, Mr. Tai
Leung Lam, Mr. Hau Siu Laam and Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise.
The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr. Fung Chun
Chung.

The primary functions of the Nomination Committee include,
but are not limited to, the following: (i) reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board; (ii) assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors;
and (i) making recommendations to the Board on matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, four Nomination
Committee meetings were held to, among other things, (i)
review the structure, size, diversity and composition of the
Board; (ii) assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; (iii) recommend the re-election of Directors;
and (iv) considered and recommend the (a) appointment of
Mr. Lo Ka Kei Jun as an executive Director; (b) appointment
of Mr. Kwan Tak Sum Stanley as a non-executive Director; (c)
appointment of Mr. Kwan Chan Kwong as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company; (d) appointment of Mr. Hau Siu Laam
as an independent non-executive Director; (e) appointment
of Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise as independent non-executive
Director; and (f) appointment of Mr. Wong Sze Chai as the
Deputy Chairman of the Board and an executive Director,
based on the procedures and the process and criteria set out
below.

REEEE
REZBEEN_FT—tFtA-FTEHKZ
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B (VR EEERE - RERARK  (i)FHEE
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Attendance at meetings of the Nomination Committee during
the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out as follows:

Name of Directors

BEER
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REZEGEENEBE_T__F+-A
=t HLEFENHFEHIINT

No. of
meetings attended/
eligible to attend

HE EE®
BEEHA HESFBRH
Fung Chun Chung 4/4
ke ates
Lai Yiu Wah 4/4
B
Tai Leung Lam (Note 1) 1/1
R (HEE1)
Hau Siu Laam (Note 2) 2/2
BEEE (H572)
Law Ying Wai Denise (Note 2) 2/2
mEE (Mit2)
Wong Raymond Fook Lam (Note 3) 11
@R (H7E3)

Notes: Hiat -

1. appointed as a member with effect from 1 September 2022.
2. appointed as a member with effect from 1 August 2022.

3. ceased to be a member with effect from 27 May 2022.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed annually the Board
composition by considering the benefits of all aspects of
diversity, including but not limited to those described under
the heading of Board Diversity Policy in this annual report. The
Board Diversity Policy shall be reviewed by the Nomination
Committee and the Board, as appropriate, to ensure its
effectiveness.

For the appointment and nomination of new Directors
during FY2022, the proposed candidates were referred to
the Nomination Committee and in making recommendation
to the Board, the Nomination Committee considered a number
of factors including but not limited to the following:

a.  Skills, Experience and Professional Expertise
The candidate should possess the skills, knowledge,

experience and professional expertise which are relevant
to the operations of the Group.

RZE-—FAA-ABERERKE -

"
2. R-Z-_—F)N\A—BEZTAKE -

REZBECEBERZT(CETHMNES
BERNESSNMANK - BREETRNAFR
EFEEZUILRRATHLE - EFEZT
EBRREHREAZEGNETSEN (RTFE
) AEREBRK -

R-F-__MRFEHEZENRRERNHES
B FIZZmREARSIBGRREERZES M
REAZBGERNEFSFLEBKOSEEZ A
Bz BREREFARRTIISE

a. TXEE - ERMEBEXRAE

REANEEAEAKEERLEBRAOR
B A BBRLRERAE

Annual Report 2022 & &

63



64

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBEE

b.  Diversity

Candidates should be considered on merit and against
objective criteria, with due regard to the diversity
perspectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company.

C. Commitment

The candidate should be able to devote sufficient time to
attend the board meetings and participate in induction,
training and other board associated activities. In
particular, if the proposed candidate will be nominated as
an independent non-executive Director and will be holding
his/her seventh (or more) listed company directorship, the
Nomination Committee should consider the reason given
by the candidate for being able to devote sufficient time
to the Board and committee meetings.

d.  Standing

The candidate must satisfy the Board and the Stock
Exchange that he/she has the character, experience
and integrity, and is able to demonstrate a standard of
competence commensurate with the relevant position as
a director of the Company.

e. Independence

The candidate to be nominated as an independent
non-executive Director must satisfy the independence
criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Where
applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education,
qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated
to consider whether he or she has the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise for filling the office of an
independent non-executive Director.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Risk Management Committee was established on 27
October 2017 to review and monitor the risk management
system and oversee the hedge activities of the Group. As at the
date of this report, the Risk Management Committee comprises
three members, namely Mr. Wong Sze Chai, Mr. Fung Chun
Chung and Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise. The chairman of the Risk
Management Committee is Mr. Wong Sze Chai.

b. %t
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The primary functions of the Risk Management Committee
include, but are not limited to, the following: (i) reviewing the
risk management system of the Group and ensure that the
management has performed its duties to establish an effective
risk management system; (i) formulating risk policies and
standards; (iii) reviewing the material risk exposures of the
Group; (iv) reviewing annually the changes in nature and extent
of significant risks; (v) reviewing annually the scope and quality
of management’s ongoing monitoring of risk management
systems and the work of the Group’s internal audit function;
(vi) reviewing the Directors’ decisions on entering into hedge
arrangements; (vii) reviewing the effectiveness of the hedge
policy; and (viii) providing recommendations to the Board
on improving the hedge policy, where appropriate and if
necessary.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, one Risk
Management Committee meeting was held to review the risk
management system of the Group and the Directors’ decision
on entering into foreign currency hedging arrangements and
the effectiveness of the Group’s hedging policy.

Name of Directors
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RREEZ8eNTIEREBE (ETRM)IA
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VEHY R TE DA Ko 2N 82 B S S B3R My A U1 ©

No. of
meetings attended/
eligible to attend

HE EE®
EEnE HESERE
Lai Yiu Wah 1/1
ZRpEEE
Fung Chun Chung 1/1
bikietes
Cheung Kin Wing (Note 1) 11
SRR (Mfat1)
Wong Raymond Fook Lam (Note 7) 1/1
=R (M)
Law Ying Wai Denise (Note 2) Nil
BEZE (Mat2) i
Notes: et -
1, ceased to be a member with effect from 27 May 2022. 1 RZEZ—_FHRA-++BATHAKE
2. appointed as a member with effect from 1 August 2022. 2. RZEZ—FNA—BEZETARKE -
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as the
code of conduct governing Directors’ securities transactions.
All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the
Company, that they have complied with the required standards
set out in the Model Code and there were no events of non-
compliance during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up
to the date of this report.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
FOR DIRECTORS

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities.
All newly appointed Directors will receive training from the
legal adviser of the statutory and regulatory obligations of a
director of a listed company in Hong Kong. The Directors are
continually updated with business and market changes, and
legal and regulatory developments to facilitate the discharge
of their responsibilities through various Board meetings,
resolutions, memoranda, Board papers, and updates on
corporate governance practices and director’s responsibilities
under the Listing Rules, applicable laws and other relevant
statutory requirements. The Company has arranged the legal
adviser to provide a training to all Directors on continuous
professional development for directors.

EEETRSFRS
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During the FY2022, the following Board members have
participated in the following training programs:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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WP MBFE ATEFERE LS
T IR -

Types of training

e kbl
Reading materials
Attending training updating on
organised by legal new rules and
Name of Directors adviser regulations
AR HERARFTRAUR
EEgE ZHEHIEI ERZEH
Executive Directors
HITEE
Lai Yiu Wah v v
R
Wong Sze Chai v 4
=AK
Tai Leung Lam v v
B RAM
Joseph Mac Carthy v v
Joseph Mac Carthy
Lo Ka Kei Jun v v
i
Non-executive Directors
HFMITEF
Kwan Tak Sum Stanley v v
RIS
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUHNTEF
Fung Chun Chung v v
IS H
Hau Siu Laam v v
BER
Law Ying Wai Denise v v
BES
Cheung Kin Wing v v
SRR
Wong Raymond Fook Lam v v
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company has adopted a Whistleblowing Policy to enhance
the awareness of internal corporate justice and regard this as
a kind of internal control mechanism. This policy provides the
assists to individual employees to disclose internally and at a
high level, information which the individual believes showing
malpractice or impropriety.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ and officers’
liabilities have been in force to protect the Directors and
officers of the Group from their risk exposure arising from the
business of the Group and, as at the date of this annual report,
the Directors and officers of the Company are indemnified
under a directors’ and officers’ liability insurance against any
liability incurred by them in discharge of their duties while
holding office as the Directors and officers of the Company.
The Directors and officers of the Company shall not be
indemnified where there is any fraud, breach of duty or breach
of trust proven against them.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is to ensure a good information
flow within the Board and between the Board and senior
management of the Company, to provide advice to the Board
in relation to the Directors’ obligations under the Listing Rules
and applicable laws and regulations and to assist the Board in
implementing the corporate governance practices. Mr. Cheung
Yu Man (“Mr. Cheung”), who was appointed as the Company
Secretary with effect from 16 December 2022 and Ms. Wan
Mei Wa Ruby, who resigned as the Company Secretary with
effect from 16 December 2022, had attended not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training as required under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December
2022.

Mr. Cheung is an external service provider engaged by the
Company as the Company Secretary. Mr. Wong Sze Chai,
the Chairman of the Board and an executive Director, and
Mr. Leung Tak Ho, the Chief Financial Officer, are the main
contact persons for Mr. Cheung.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for monitoring
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
on an ongoing basis and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than to eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

INTERNAL

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to
take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and
establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems.

The Risk Management Committee and Audit Committee assist
the Board in leading the management and overseeing their
design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems.

Principles of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The principal aim of the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems is to manage and mitigate business
risks, with a view to enhancing the value of Shareholders’
investments and safeguarding assets.

Main Features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The key elements of the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems include the establishment of a risk
register to keep track of and document identified risks, the
assessment and evaluation of risks, the development and
continuous updating of responsive procedures, and the
ongoing testing of internal control procedures to ensure their
effectiveness. A risk matrix is also adopted to determine risk
ratings after evaluation of the risk by the likelihood and the
impact of the risk event. The risk ratings reflect the level of
management’s attention and risk treatment effort required.
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Process Used to ldentify, Evaluate and Manage
Significant Risk

All divisions/departments conducted internal control
assessment regularly to identify risks that potentially impact
the business of the Group and various aspects including key
operational and financial processes, regulatory compliance
and information security. Self-evaluation has been conducted
annually to confirm that control policies are properly complied
with by each division/department. The management assessed
the likelihood of risk occurrence, provide treatment plans, and
monitor the risk management progress, and reported to the
Board on all findings and the effectiveness of the systems.

The management has confirmed to the Board, the Risk
Management Committee, and Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Internal Audit Function

The Board, through the Risk Management Committee and
Audit Committee, conducted an annual review of design,
implementation, and effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, which covered all
material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls. Such annual review was done with a view to ensuring
that resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal
control, financial reporting functions and the Company’s
performance and reporting in the aspect of environmental,
social and governance are adequate. In this respect, the Risk
Management Committee and Audit Committee communicated
any material issues to the Board.

The Group’s internal audit team is responsible for performing
an independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
The internal audit team examined key issues in relation to the
accounting practices and all material controls and the results
of the independent review and assessment were reported to
the Risk Management Committee, Audit Committee, and the
Board. Moreover, improvements in internal control and risk
management measures to enhance the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and to mitigate risks of
the Group were adopted by the Board. Based on the internal
audit findings and recommendations, as well as the comments
of the Risk Management Committee and Audit Committee, the
Board considered the internal control and risk management
systems are adequate and effective.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group complies with the requirements under the Listing
Rules and SFO to disclose inside information to the public as
soon as reasonably practicable unless the information falls
within any of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO. Before
the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group
believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot
be maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached,
the Group would immediately disclose the information to the
public. The Group is committed to ensure that information
contained in announcements are not false or misleading as to
a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of
a material fact in view of disclosure of inside information in a
balanced, adequate and effective way. The procedures and
internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside
information are as follows:

° the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the
disclosure requirement under the Listing Rules, the
Guideline on Disclosure of Inside Information issued
by the Securities and Futures Commission and its own

policy;

° the Group has implemented and disclosed events or
matters on fair disclosure by non-exclusive distribution
of information to the public through channels such as
financial reporting, public announcements and its website;

° the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information; and

° the Group has established procedures for responding to
external enquiries about the Group’s affairs so that only
the executive Directors, Company Secretary and other
persons duly authorised by the Board are authorised to
communicate with parties outside the Group.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The Company has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers as the
Auditor of the Group. The following table shows the audit and
non-audit services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers and
its affiliates and other auditors for the year ended 31 December
2022:

BB R BN R BT
ARRIBEZABERKEQHMELALRSE
Bz - TRIVEE_ZE_—_F+_A
T+ HUEFERERKEBSIHMEBHBTEE
BB RSP M A A BE IR 2 A B R IR &
R

HK$ million
BEET
Audit services:
% B AR T
- PricewaterhouseCoopers 2
EERKER TR SIS
- Other auditors 0.2
E Az EAD
2.2
Non-audit services:
IEZE RS
- PricewaterhouseCoopers 0.5
B EF KBS TR EISFT
- Other auditors 0.3
E Az EAD
0.8

Non-audit services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers
and its affiliates to the Group mainly represented interim
review and taxation services. The reporting responsibilities of
PricewaterhouseCoopers are set out in pages 102 to 104 of
this annual report.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the selection and appointment of the external
auditor during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with its
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognises the importance
of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which will enable the Shareholders and investors to make the
best investment decisions.

The disclosure of the Group’s information in a reasonable and
timely manner by the Board is to facilitate the Shareholders
as well as the investors to have a better understanding of
the business performance, operations and strategies of the
Group. The Company’s website at www.trio-ieg.com allows
the potential and existing investors as well as the public to get
access to and acquire the Company’s up-to-date corporate
and financial information.

Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company,
such as telephone hotline, email address and postal address,
in order to enable them to make any query that they may have
with respect to the Company.

They can also send their enquiries to the Board through the
above means. The contact details of the Company are set out
in page 74 of this annual report and the Company’s website.

The Board welcomes views of the Shareholders and
encourages them to attend general meetings to raise
any concerns that they may have with the Board or the
management directly. Board members and appropriate senior
staff of the Group are available at the meetings to answer any
questions raised by Shareholders.
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE GENERAL MEETING

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors,
for shareholders’ consideration and voting. Besides, pursuant
to article 68(c) of the Articles, the Directors may, whenever
they think fit, convene a general meeting, and general meetings
shall also be convened on such requisition, or in default, may
be convened by such requisitionists, as provided by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, the laws of Hong
Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”). If any time there are not
within Hong Kong sufficient Directors capable of acting to form
a quorum, any Director or any two or more members of the
Company representing at least 10% of the total voting rights
of all members having a right to vote at general meetings, may
convene a general meeting in the same manner as nearly as
possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the
Directors.

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company
or put forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. The
contact details are as follows:

Board of Directors
Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited
Address: Block J, 5/F, Phase I, Kaiser Estate,
51 Man Yue Street,
Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Telephone hotline: (852) 2765 8787
Email address: info@trio-engineering.com

To put forward proposals at an annual general meeting or a
general meeting, the Shareholders shall submit a written notice
of those proposals with detailed contact information to the
Board/Company Secretary at the Company’s registered office.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar
and upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in
order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to include the
proposed resolution in the agenda for the general meeting.
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Moreover, the notice period concerning the notice to be given
to all the Shareholders for consideration of the proposals
submitted by the Shareholders concerned varies as follows
pursuant to article 70 of the Articles and subject to section 578
of the Companies Ordinance.

(@) for an annual general meeting, it shall be called by notice
in writing of at least twenty-one clear days (or such longer
period as may be required by the Listing Rules); and

(b) for a general meeting other than an annual general
meeting, it shall be called by notice in writing of least
fourteen clear days (or such longer period as may be
required by the Listing Rules),

shall be given in the manner mentioned in the Articles to all
members, to the Directors and to the Auditors.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the Company’s
registered office and provide their full names, contact details
and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change on the articles of association of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2022. An up-
to-date version of the articles of association of the Company is
available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website.

BEER

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ﬁ% E/El iﬁ%

SESN - ARIR A RIS 7016 R A A RIS 578 5
BET fEEABEERREZNERMAEZE

PRER B RS 2 BAEIR T X PAoIMm AR e

(@ HARREFAE BEATIR=_+—{E
TR A (S EMRRMRENERE) S
EHBEARM Rk

b) MHAKRRBFASAINERARE - AT
ANAOR+IETER (R ETRRARE
MBREHEDNEEBREERM -

I & #2240 R B At 75 = 3% 5K
TZELE -

THAERR EFK

BRAERME  RENERKEBEXREAEEDN
EMEBK BMKBAZIEAR  Si5EHGEE
TE ) BEXRERR RN ERE - WiRHEE
28 BIRERREHAS BB -
R E R A e AR BRI E -

ARERX M
BE-Z--F+-A=+—BLHFE £2A
AMABEREYRED - AARMAKER
48 8 5 AR 2 T i 24 AR 2 AR
EH -

Annual Report 2022 & &

795



/0

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

The Board is pleased to present their annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding and the activities of its
principal subsidiaries are shown on pages 170 to 171 of this
annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages
105 to 191 of this annual report.

An interim dividend of HKO0.8 cent (2021: Nil) per ordinary share
totalling HK$8,000,000 was paid to the Shareholders on 17
October 2022.

The Board has recommended a final dividend of HK1.2 cents
per ordinary share of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil) to the Shareholders. The proposed
final dividend, subject to the approval of the Shareholders at
the annual general meeting (the “AGM”) of the Company to
be held on Tuesday, 23 May 2023, is expected to be paid on
Friday, 7 July 2023 to the Shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on Wednesday,
21 June 20283, being the record date for determination of
entitlements to the final dividend.

Details of the Company’s dividend policy are set out in the
section headed “Dividend Policy” on page 94 of this annual
report.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM
to be held on Tuesday, 23 May 2023, the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 18 May 2023
to Tuesday, 23 May 2023, both days inclusive, during which
no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to be eligible
to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 17 May 2023.

In order to ascertain the entitlement to the final dividend,
the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Monday, 19 June 2023 to Wednesday, 21 June 2023,
both days inclusive. In order to qualify for the final dividend,
all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 16 June 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during
the year ended 31 December 2022, the key factors affecting
its results and financial position, and the information on the
compliance with laws and regulations, environmental policy
and relationships with stakeholders are set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report. Furthermore, a fair review of, and an indication of likely
future development in the Group’s business are set out in the
section headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report.
Save as disclosed in this annual report, since the end of the
year ended 31 December 2022, no important event affecting
the Group has occurred.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Geopolitical tensions may have an impact on the Group’s
business and financial performance

Geopolitical tensions such as the Russo-Ukrainian crisis
have posed considerable threats to the global recovery and
especially European economies. The disruptions caused by the
crisis may aggravate soaring material prices, longer lead times
and currency fluctuation. In addition, as most of the Group's
major customers are in Europe, the crisis may have a potential
impact on their business. If one or more major customers
reduce their purchase orders to the Group, the Group’s
business and financial performance may be adversely affected.

The five largest customers accounted for more than
60.0% of the total revenue. Loss of the major customers
may adversely affect our business performance.

Since (i) the Group does not enter into long-term sale and
purchase agreements with the customers and does not
have long-term purchase commitment from them; and (ii) the
Group is not their exclusive supplier, there is no assurance
that the five largest customers will continue to purchase
the products at current levels or at all in the future. If the
prices of the products are not as competitive as those set
by the competitors for comparable products, the customers
may reduce their purchase volume. If any of the five largest
customers significantly reduces its purchase volume or ceases
to place purchase orders with the Group, and the Group is
unable to identify new customers, the business performance of
the Group may be adversely affected.
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Fluctuations in the prices of raw materials may adversely
affect our business operations and profitability.

The major raw materials include integrated circuits, metal parts,
plastic parts, printed circuit board components, capacitors,
connectors, transistors, cables and cores. The prices of the
raw materials generally follow their respective price trends in
the market and vary with industry conditions and market supply
and demand.

Since the Group does not enter into long-term supply contracts
with the suppliers, there is no assurance that the suppliers
will not significantly increase the prices of raw materials in the
future, in particular when the market prices of or the market
demand for such raw materials increase. There is also no
assurance that the Group will be able to pass the increase in
cost of materials to the customers to avoid adverse impacts on
the profitability. If, in the event of material fluctuations in raw
material prices, or the Group cannot pass the increase in cost
of materials to the customers, the Group’s profitability may be
adversely affected.

Any slowdown of the industrial electronics industry
may adversely affect our results of operations, financial
condition and business prospects.

As an EMS provider specialising in the manufacturing and sales
of customised industrial electronic components and products,
our business performance depends, to a large extent, on the
performance and condition of the industrial electronics industry.

The industrial electronics industry may experience slowdown
or downturn due to market or industry conditions, global
economic environment or other factors beyond control. Any
decrease in the demand for industrial electronics equipment
such as renewable energy facilities, telecommunications
equipment, commercial freight equipment, medical and
healthcare devices, and security systems may reduce the
demand for our OEM products. In such circumstances, the
sales may decline and the results of operations, financial
condition and business prospects may be adversely affected.
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The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risks.

The major functional currency is US$, while some of the
business transactions and the cost of sales are mainly
denominated HK$, RMB, THB, and EUR. The Group is
exposed to foreign currency risks as a result of sales and
purchases that are denominated in a currency other than USS$.
Any significant changes in the exchange rate between US$
and other currencies may have adverse effect on the Group’s
results of operations.

Failure to retain the services of key personnel may
adversely affect the results of operations.

The success to date has largely been attributable to the
contributions, commitment and experience of the management
team and key employees, in particular their familiarity with
the business operations and their experience and expertise in
the industrial EMS industry. Some of our Executive Directors
and our CEO have more than 40 years of experience in the
electronics industry. Mr. Tai Leung Lam, Mr. Kwan Chan
Kwong and Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy have more than 45,
40 and 20 years of experience in the electronics industry,
respectively. The continued success is dependent on the ability
to retain the services of members of the senior management
and key employees who possess the necessary experience
and expertise in the industrial EMS industry. If there is any
significant or material change to the composition of the key
management team, the Group may not be able to recruit
experienced or qualified personnel in a timely manner or at
all, and may have adverse effect on the Group’s business
performance, results of operations as well as business
prospects.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 192 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the consolidated
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details (including the principal activities) of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022 are set out in
note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set
out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to HK$10,000 (2021:
HK$14,000).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s distributable
reserves available for distribution is HK$33,058,000 (2021:
HK$18,687,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders unless otherwise
required by the Stock Exchange.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are
set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during FY2022 and up to date
of this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors

BITES

BEE

ARBR B - _HMRFEREEANFHRAY
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Wong Sze Chai (Chairman of the Board) (Note 1)
HEE(BEFEQXR) (Wit1)

Lai Yiu Wah (Note 2)

R (Hat2)

Tai Leung Lam

R AR

Joseph Mac Carthy

Joseph Mac Carthy

Lo Ka Kei Jun (Note 3)

‘ERE(H23)

Non-executive Directors

FUTES

Kwan Tak Sum Stanley (Note 4)
=R (Hit4)

Independent non-executive Directors

BYFHTES

Fung Chun Chung
ST
Hau Siu Laam (Note 5)
R (K1:15)
Law Ying Wai Denise (Note 5)
BHE (Hit5)
Cheung Kin Wing (Note 6)
SRIELR (H/it6)
Wong Raymond Fook Lam (Note 6)
AR (Hi26)
Notes:
1. appointed as the Deputy Chairman of the Board and an executive Director
with effect from 16 December 2022, and re-designated as the Chairman

of the Board with effect from 31 January 2023.

2. resigned as the Chairman of the Board and an executive Director with
effect from 31 January 2023.

3. appointed as an executive Director with effect from 1 September 2022.
4, appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 1 September 2022.

5. appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 1
August 2022.

6. retired with effect from 27 May 2022.
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Pursuant to article 120(a) of the Articles, subject to article
120(e), at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors (excluding those Director(s) who are not subject to
the rotation requirement under the Articles) or, if their number
is not three or a multiple of three the number which is nearest
to and is at least one-third, shall retire from office by rotation.
A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to article 120(e) of the Articles, any Director who
holds the position as an Executive Director shall not be subject
to the retirement-rotation requirement of the Article.

Pursuant to code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code, all directors
(no matter executive or independent non-executive directors)
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Pursuant to article 119(c) of the Articles, any Director so
appointed, either to fill a casual vacancy or by way of addition
to their number, by the Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company, and
shall then be eligible for re-appointment. Accordingly, Mr. Wong
Sze Chai, Mr. Lo Ka Kei Jun, Mr. Kwan Tak Sum Stanley,
Mr. Hau Siu Laam and Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise will retire
pursuant to article 119(c) of the Articles, and being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election as Directors at the AGM.

Mr. Tai Leung Lam, Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy, and Mr. Fung
Chun Chung will retire pursuant to article 120(a) of the Articles,
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election as Directors
at the AGM.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The name of directors who have served on the boards of the
subsidiaries of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this annual report are set out below:

Lai Yiu Wah (resigned on 31 January 2023)
Tai Leung Lam

Joseph Mac Carthy

Lai Sek Piu

Lo Ka Kei Jun

David Mac Carthy
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual written confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules as at
the date of this annual report and considers all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 13 to 24 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered a service contract
with the Company either with or without a specific term.

All non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) are appointed for a specific term. Mr.
Stanley Kwan, a non-executive Director, has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three
years commencing from 1 September 2022. Each of Mr.
Hau Siu Laam and Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise (both being
independent non-executive Directors) has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 1 August 2022. Mr. Fung Chun Chung,
an independent non-executive Director, has entered a letter
of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three
years commencing from 1 February 2017 and his current
term of service has been renewed for a term of three years
commencing from 1 February 2023.

None of the Directors proposed for election at the forthcoming
AGM has entered into any service contract or letter of
appointment with any member of the Group which is not
determinable by any member of the Group within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.
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TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

There were no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the business of the Group to which
the Company, any of its subsidiaries, holding company, or
fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a director or a
connected entity of a director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2022.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company had
the following continuing connected transaction that is subject
to the Listing Rules’ reporting requirement for disclosure in this
annual report.

Consultancy Agreement

On 29 October 2021, Trio Engineering Company Limited, a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
consultancy agreement (the “Consultancy Agreement”) with
Mr. Kwan Chan Kwong (“Mr. Eddie Kwan”), the spouse of
Ms. Wong So Nui Amy, one of the controlling shareholders of
the Company, to appoint Mr. Eddie Kwan as a consultant of
the Group for the term of 12 months from 1 November 2021 to
31 October 2022 (both dates inclusive). Under the Consultancy
Agreement, Mr. Eddie Kwan was entitled to a monthly
consultancy fee of HK$356,500, a monthly car allowance
of HK$30,000 and a one-off gratuity of HK$310,000 after
completion of the term of the Consultancy Agreement. The
annual caps for the Consultancy Agreement were HK$850,000
for the period from 1 November 2021 to 31 December 2021
and HK$4,375,000 for the period from 1 January 2022 to 31
October 2022, respectively. Through this appointment, the
Group will have the benefits of Mr. Eddie Kwan’s advisory
services and contributions in furtherance of the interests of the
Company.
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Details of the above-mentioned continuing connected
transaction are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 29 October 2021.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 31
August 2022, with the appointment of Mr. Eddie Kwan as
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 1
September 2022, he has entered into a new service agreement
with the Company. Accordingly, the Consultancy Agreement
and the continuing connected transaction of the Company
have been terminated on the same date of his appointment as
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company (i.e. 1 September
2022).

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
transactions contemplated under the Consultancy Agreement
(the “Transactions”) for FY2022 and have confirmed that
the Transactions for FY2022 have been entered into: (a) in
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (b)
on normal commercial terms or better; and (c) in accordance
with the Consultancy Agreement on terms that are fair and
reasonable and are in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

The auditors of the Company have reviewed the Transactions
for FY2022 and confirmed that nothing has come to their
attention that causes them to believe that the Transactions for
FY2022:

(@) have not been approved by the Board;
(b)  were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreement governing the

transactions (i.e. the Consultancy Agreement); and

(c) have exceeded the annual cap set by the Company.
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Details of related party transactions of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements. Save for the Consultancy
Agreement, none of the related party transactions of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2022 constituted connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction of the
Company which is subject to the disclosure or annual review
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company or its subsidiaries were entered into or existed during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors on a named basis
during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 9
to the consolidated financial statements.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

Under the remuneration policy of the Company, the
Remuneration Committee will consider factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment,
responsibilities and performance of the Directors and senior
management, as the case may be, in assessing the amount
of remuneration payable to the Directors and members
of the senior management. The Remuneration Committee
will periodically review the compensation levels of the key
executives. Based on the performance and the executives’
respective contribution to the Group, the Remuneration
Committee may, within the aggregate remuneration amount
having been approved in a Shareholders’ meeting, make
recommendations to our Board as to salary increases or
payment of discretionary bonuses.

The Group’s employee benefit expenses mainly included
salaries, overtime payment and discretionary bonus, other staff
benefits and contributions to retirement schemes.

Remuneration is determined with reference to the qualification,
experience and work performance, whereas the payment of
discretionary bonus is generally subject to work performance,
the financial performance of the Group in that particular year
and general market conditions.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ and officers’
liabilities have been in force to protect the Directors and
officers of the Group from their risk exposure arising from
conducting the business of the Group.

Pursuant to the Articles and subject to the provisions of the
Companies Ordinance, the Directors shall be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against any liability, loss or
expenditure incurred by him in defending any proceedings,
whether civil or criminal, which relate to anything done or
omitted to be done or alleged to have been done or omitted to
be done by him as a Director.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S EERFTETHRAENRAEATREM
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN HtHEB:EZRGE  HERORE
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND #HEHNERZRAE

DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of MR- Z-_—F+_-_A=+—H EEKRAQF
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the EZEB/THABRAARIKEERLZE (TEALE
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or %4 R EIEIEHIEXVER) BIRLD ~ HHEARM L E
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of #EFEFREES () EBRLENBIEES K EEIEGIE
the SFO) () as recorded in the register required to be kept 352(|*%Em/,\ﬁEEAE§1I7KFﬁLAuEﬂﬁE’ﬂ%E\ K&
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the XA %(HHETFLFH%EE“JWﬁ‘Jrﬁﬁ%ZT? SFA
register referred to therein; or (i) as required to be notified to /,\%DA$ GRPTARE S BRI ¢

the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Model Code

contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Percentage of
shareholding in

Number of the Company’s
Name of Directors and Shares held issued share
chief executive Nature of interest in Long Position Total capital (Note 2)
EARAF
FsHRmn ERTRAZ
ESRFETABABHSE EmtE RHEE e IR 2t (KEE2)
Lai Yiu Wah Interest in controlled 725,000,000 750,000,000 75.00%
(“Mr. Lai”) corporations (Note 1)
R REEEE R (BFsE1)
(IREE])
Beneficial owner 25,000,000
Eﬂﬂ%ﬁﬁ}\
Tai Leung Lam Interest in controlled 725,000,000 725,000,000 72.50%
(“Mr. Tai”) corporations (Note 1)
R REREEN R (BFsE1)
(T&x%E])
Joseph Mac Carthy Beneficiary of 725,000,000 725,000,000 72.50%
(“Mr. Mac Carthy”) a trust (Note 1)
Joseph Mac Carthy ERZmA (MzE1)
(TMac Carthy &4 ])
Mr. Kwan Tak Sum Stanley Interest in controlled 725,000,000 725,000,000 72.50%
(“Mr. Stanley Kwan”) corporations (Note 1)
LSt REEE R B 725,000,000
(IBEFRxE]) (BFsE1)
Mr. Eddie Kwan Interest of spouse and 725,000,000 725,000,000 72.50%
interest in controlled (Note 1)
corporations
e S binte REE R X AR 725,000,000
(I EE]) e (BFzE1)
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Notes:

(1) These Shares are held by Trio Industrial Electronics Holding Limited
(“Trio Holding”). Trio Holding was owned as to 27.5%, 27.5%, 17.5%,
17.5%, and 10.0% by Nawk Investment Inc. (‘“Nawk Investment”), LLT
Investment Inc. (“LLT Investment”), Proactive Investment Inc. (“Proactive
Investment”), Grand Energy Investment Limited (“Grand Energy”), and
Eastville Enterprises Limited (‘Eastville Enterprises”), respectively. Nawk
Investment, LLT Investment, Proactive Investment, Grand Energy and
Eastville Enterprises were directly and wholly owned by Mr. Stanley Kwan,
Mr. Tai, Mr. Lai, Mr. Mac Carthy and Ms. Wong So Nui Amy (the spouse
of Mr. Eddie Kwan, “Ms. Wong”), respectively. Because of their interests
in Trio Holding, Mr. Stanley Kwan, Mr. Tai, Mr. Lai, Mr. Mac Carthy, Ms.
Wong, Mr. Eddie Kwan, Nawk Investment, LLT Investment, Proactive
Investment, Grand Energy, and Eastville Enterprises were deemed to be
interested of the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December
2022.

(2) The approximate percentages were calculated based on 1,000,000,000
shares in issue as at 31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none
of the Directors nor chief executive of the Company has
registered an interests and short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) (i) which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or
(i) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as disclosed under the paragraphs headed “Directors’
and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in the
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company or
any other Associated Corporations” above, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2022 were there any rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or the chief
executive of the Company or any of their respective spouses
or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

Wit -

(1) ZEROMBBETIEXESESFERERAR ([HE
ERDEAR - BT BENawk Investment Inc.
([Nawk Investment])  LLT Investment Inc.
(TLLT Investment]) : Proactive Investment
Inc.([Proactive Investment]) - Grand Energy
Investment Limited([ Grand Energy]) }2 Eastville
Enterprises Limited([Eastville Enterprises|)?
BIBEB27.5% + 27.5% ~ 17.5% * 17.5% % 10.0% °
Nawk Investment » LLT Investment » Proactive
Investment » Grand Energy M Eastville Enterprises
ARIBBERIREE - BSEE - BBELE - Mac Carthy
SCEREHRLZ LT ([ELL] BEEXEEZR
BI)EEZERAE BHRBERLTE BELE R
JoH4 ~ Mac Carthyft4d « \mzd ~ BB EE -
Nawk Investment * LLT Investment » Proactive
Investment + Grand Energy X Eastville Enterprisesi
ek s RZZE__F+-_A=+—0 &
ERERIEEBAARE BITRAMER -
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1,000,000,000% B BTN E ©
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BEA () RIEFE S KB E D5 352 & B 80 5%
Gt B MRS MA R - K (i) R IRAZ ST
AlIZBME R QB R FTEER MOAR °
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HAEBOXE 2 iy - RN RERENE
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EHARAEETRAEREMEREFS B A
BHRKFEFRERABBBARRA RN K
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY SPECIFIED
UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2022,
the following persons (not being Directors or chief executive of
the Company) had or were deemed or taken to have an interest
or short position in the Shares or the underlying Shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO:

©ERER
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FERRRAQDAREG - HEARG R
BRI DAREME B EZE
ZIEAEREBNER AR

MESEMAM RZTE__F+-_A=+—H"
THAL(WFHFEFKARAEBITHAE)R
AARMR D KABRER DR HEA SR AKE
EBE BN BIEES M EEGIE 3361578
FEENECDMAMNERSSAR

Percentage of
shareholding in
the Company’s

Number of issued share

Shares held in capital

Name of shareholders Nature of interests Long Position (Note 3)

(ERANE

BRITRAZ

RET DL

BRREHE REmE FREFRROBE (FF=E3)

Ms. Wong Interest in a controlled corporation 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%
mR T REEE S (BR3E1)

Grand Energy Interest in a controlled corporation 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%
Grand Energy REEEE R (fF&ET)

Trio Holding Beneficial owner 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%
e EREAA (Bf3E1)

Nawk Investment Interest in a controlled corporation 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%
Nawk Investment REZEEEER (PfFEET)

LLT Investment Interest in a controlled corporation 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%
LLT Investment REZIEEE MRS (FFEE1)

Proactive Investment Interest in a controlled corporation 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%
Proactive Investment REZIEEE R (Pf5E1)

Eastville Enterprises Interest in a controlled corporation 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%
Eastville Enterprises RZIEEB RS GESD

RUAN David Ching Chi Interest of controlled corporation 88,872,000 (Note 2) 8.89%
RUAN David Ching Chi REEEE N R (MHEx2)

RAYS Capital Partners Investment manager 88,872,000 (Note 2) 8.89%

Limited
RAYS Capital Partners RERE (MtsE2)
Limited
Asian Equity Special Beneficial owner 84,064,000 8.41%

Opportunities Portfolio

Master Fund Limited
Asian Equity Special

Opportunities Portfolio

Master Fund Limited

BEmEAA
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Notes:

(1) These shares are held by Trio Holding. Trio Holding was owned as to
27.5%, 27.5%, 17.5%, 17.5%, and 10.0% by Nawk Investment, LLT
Investment, Proactive Investment, Grand Energy and Eastville Enterprises,
respectively. Nawk Investment, LLT Investment, Proactive Investment,
Grand Energy and Eastville Enterprises were directly and wholly owned
by Mr. Stanley Kwan, Mr. Tai, Mr. Lai, Mr. Mac Carthy and Ms. Wong,
respectively. Because of their interests in Trio Holding, Mr. Stanley Kwan,
Mr. Tai, Mr. Lai, Mr. Mac Carthy, Ms. Wong, Mr. Eddie Kwan, Nawk
Investment, LLT Investment, Proactive Investment, Grand Energy and
Eastville Enterprises were deemed to be interested in 72.5% of the issued
share of the Company as at 31 December 2022.

(2) According to the information available on the website of the Stock
Exchange, Asian Equity Special Opportunities Portfolio Master Fund
Limited is owned as to 100% by RAYS Capital Partners Limited, which in
turn is owned as to 95.24% by Mr. Ruan David Ching Chi.

(3) The approximate percentages were calculated based on 1,000,000,000
shares in issue as at 31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the
Directors were not aware of any other persons who had any
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares
of the Company which would be recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the interests disclosed above in respect of the
substantial shareholders, as at 31 December 2022, no other
person is individually or collectively entitled to exercise or
control the exercise of 5% or more of the voting power at
the general meetings of the Company and are able, as a
practicable manner, to direct or influence the management of
the Company.

Wit -

(1) ZEROMBREERFER - BEEKRBANawk
Investment * LLT Investment » Proactive
Investment + Grand Energy M Eastville Enterprises?
BIHEAH27.5% * 27.5% * 17.5% ~ 17.5%%10.0% °
Nawk Investment » LLT Investment * Proactive
Investment + Grand Energy X Eastville Enterprises?
Pl B@IARSLE - Bedk » BBEAL - Mac Carthyst
ERELXLTEEZERER - ARBEREE - Bt
A B%HE - Mac Carthyfi 4 ~ E2t - BEKET
4 - Nawk Investment * LLT Investment * Proactive
Investment + Grand Energy & Eastville Enterprisesi?
BuER R R-E-_—F+-A=+—0 &
IR IERB AR BE BITRINNT2.5% 5 ©

(2 IREBEBLAHMBUEATHEHSNER - Asian Equity
Special Opportunities Portfolio Master Fund Limited
fIRAYS Capital Partners Limited 4 100% * & #&
fiRuan David Ching Chift £ %5 95.24% °

@B BB IRE-_F-_—_F+-_A=1+—80H
1,000,000,000/% 2 AT ETH
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—t+—H BEUTABEMEMALIREAR
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HIEKPIE336 K ATHEN ST EMAMNEMR
SRR -
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NETRKFERRFNEE -
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of sales for the year ended 31 December 2022
generated from the Group’s major customers is as follows:

23.7%
67.2%

- The largest customer
- Five largest customers

The percentage of purchases for the year ended 31 December
2022 attributable to the Group’s major suppliers is as follows:

6.2%
22.5%

— The largest supplier
- Five largest suppliers

None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) nor any shareholder (which to the knowledge of
the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had any beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five
largest customers or its five largest suppliers for the year ended
31 December 2022.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

DIRECTOR’S SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Director’s securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the Model Code. Having been made a specific enquiry by
the Company, all Directors confirmed that they had complied
with the required standard of dealings and code of conduct
regarding securities transactions throughout the year ended 31
December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date
of this annual report, none of the Directors nor the controlling
shareholders nor substantial shareholders (as defined in
the Listing Rules) of the Company or their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) were considered
to have any interests in a business which competed or was
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business
of the Group and/or caused, or was likely to cause any other
conflicts of interest with the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was conditionally approved and
adopted in compliance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules
by written resolutions of the then shareholder on 27 October
2017. Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out
in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed
in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” above,
no equity-linked agreement that (i) will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or (ii) requires the Company enter
into any agreement that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares, was entered into by the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2022 or subsisted at the end of the
reporting period.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”), pursuant to which the Company will normally pay
dividend twice a year. The Board may declare special dividends
in addition to such dividends as it considers appropriate.
The dividend payout ratio will vary from year to year. There
is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount for any given period. In determining/recommending the
frequency, amount and form of any dividend in any financial
year/period, the Board shall consider the following factors:

the actual and expected financial results of the Group;

- economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group;

- the Group’s business strategies, including future cash
commitments and investment needs to sustain the

long-term growth aspect of the business;

- the current and future operations, liquidity position and
capital requirements of the Group; and

- any other factors that the Board deem appropriate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has set up an Audit Committee on 27 October
2017 with written terms of reference. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee include, but are not limited to, the following:
(i) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and removal of the external auditor; (ii) reviewing the financial
statements of our Group and monitoring the integrity of such
financial statements; and (i) overseeing the financial reporting
system and internal control procedures. As at the date of this
annual report, the Audit Committee comprises three members,
namely Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise, Mr. Hau Siu Laam and Mr.
Fung Chun Chung. The chairperson of the Audit Committee
is Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise, who holds the appropriate
professional qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and
3.21 of the Listing Rules. The audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year have been reviewed
by the Audit Committee, which was of the opinion that the
preparation of such results complied with the applicable
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and legal requirements,
and adequate disclosures have been made.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

From the information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capitals are held by the public at
all times throughout the year ended 31 December 2022 and up
to the date of latest practicable date prior to the publication of
this annual report for ascertaining certain information contained
herein.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company is committed to implementing good corporate
governance practices. Information on the principal corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 48 to 75 of this
annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ExgRE

THE FORTHCOMING AGM

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held at Room
2, United Conference Centre, 10/F., United Centre, 95
Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong on Tuesday, 23 May 2023
at 3:00 p.m. and the notice convening such meeting will be
published and despatched to the Shareholders in the manner
as required by the Listing Rules in due course.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Saved as disclosed in this report and the changes of the board
composition, authorised representative and chief financial
officer of the Company as announced by the Company on
20 January 2023, there are no significant events affecting the
Group after the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the
date of this report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022 have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers, who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment. The Board has taken the
Audit Committee’s recommendation that a resolution for their
re-appointment as independent auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

There is no change of independent auditor for the past three

years.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Sze Chai
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 28 March 2023
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

&

pwec

To the Members of Trio Industrial Electronics Group
Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Trio Industrial
Electronics Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”), which are set out on pages 105 to
191, comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BULBEERE

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.
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Key audit matters identified in our audit is related to the net

realisable value assessment of inventories:

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REK

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B R RE

BMER TR OMRE FERBAT R
B BB B

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
HEETTER BMWETNAEERREETSE
Net realisable value assessment of inventories Our procedures in relation to the net realisable value

assessment of inventories included:

Refer to notes 4(a) and 20 to the consolidated e
financial statements.

Understanding and evaluating of management’s
key internal controls in relation to inventory
costing and the net realisable value assessment
and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias
or fraud;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BULBEERE

Key Audit Matter
BRESE

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has inventories
of approximately HK$244 million, which were stated
at lower of cost and net realisable value.

The determination of net realisable value required
judgment to be made by management on the
estimated selling price, the estimated cost to
completion and the estimated cost necessary to make
the sale.

We focused on this area because of the significance
of the balances and the judgments and estimates
involved.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRAMNET N EEERETSE

° Tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the
inventories aging profile used by management
to estimate the appropriate provision for slow
moving and obsolete inventories;

° Assessed the reasonableness of estimated selling
price determined by management by testing, on
a sample basis, the sales subsequent to the year
end. If subsequent sales were not available, we
compared the estimated selling price against the
most recent selling price prior to the year end
and assessed the impact of recent price trends
for these inventories; and

° Assessed the reasonableness of (i) the
estimated costs to completion by comparing
to the historical costs to completion and (i) the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale by
comparing to costs incurred in previous years.

Based on the procedures performed, we considered
that the judgments and assumptions used by
management in determining the net realisable value of
inventories were supported by the available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BULBEERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BURBEEE

BRBARES G BRRAENS
£ (&)

T REE AR R R ERES] - HEE
MESHIZF - (B R WA IEY EK.W%B
THINBERMERER -

SHEEEFRA SRR %
BEHERARREH AR -

R A

HEZRAKELL S ERNRE LR
Mg - RIBPAERNERE  BER
EFEREHRABRABEEANERNNIEE
H femAl e Y BRENFELE

BENELBEARE - MREAMABAAFEE
kTﬁm& AU EERBEN RS IE
ﬁﬁ%%E%FAW$ﬁ%$WW%&

cBEBHORETR  AIRMEEHR
%#ﬂ%mﬁﬁ e ABLOFEE P9I P o
Ah¥RE B IEFTBUSMERE - AT > K
KREREHBERAEEH BERETERE

o

HEFAMBHRROBEIIHmI N - B8
fﬂﬁﬂé—\ CBREEE  URGEaMBHRRE
BRERRIFMER

P BERERNERIEHEDNYHKES
EEZER  AENELRE  WEHRSE
MBHRREXRER - HMEE BEXEF
SEVTE - BB - HAREAER
EEREEE -

Annual Report 2022 & &

103



104

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BULBEERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Li Ching Lap Bernard.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2023
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEZTHEWEE
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE—ZT - —F+_-A=+—HILFE
2022 2021
—E-_C —E-—4F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt FET FHET
Revenue W zs 6 978,103 744,067
Cost of sales HEXA 7 (770,808) (604,738)
Gross profit EF 207,295 139,329
Other income, net Eg A F58 6 7,490 3,153
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER 7 (15,940) (16,138)
Administrative expenses THEFEX 7 (133,780) (130,093)
Other operating income/(expenses), net Hip&E A /(X)) F48 7 1,584 (4,903)
Profit/(loss) from operations IERF(B18) 66,649 (8,652)
Finance expenses, net I F5E 10 (10,770) (6,843)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETSR AR, (EE) 55,879 (15,495)
Income tax (expense)/credit Fis® (M%) #% 11 (10,461) 4,911
Profit/(loss) for the year FRNHEF(EE) 45,418 (10,584)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) Hahemizs/(Bsk)
Items that will not be reclassified R ToEH 7 EE B
subsequently to profit or loss: HIER -
Fair value (losses)/gains on revaluation of R EEFNATE
land and building, net of tax (B18), s (F0Fik) (644) 3,774
Currency translation differences BEinE ZRs 2,305 (1,429
Other comprehensive income FREMEEEE (F0FER)
for the year, net of tax 1,661 2,345
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FERNEENE S (ER) @58
for the year 47,079 (8,239)
Earnings/(loss) per share BRAEF (EE)
- Basic and diluted (HK cents) — HEAR#EE GBl) 12 4.54 (1.06)

The notes on pages 109 to 191 are an integral part of these

financial statements.

e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mE MR RER
As at 31 December 2022 R-Z-—F+=-F=+—H
2022 2021
—=E=-= —E-—%F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 FET FHET
Assets BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - HENMEHE 14 57,997 59,479
Right-of-use assets CREEE 15 102,047 14,378
Financial assets at fair value AT ETABEERES
through profit or loss — non-current TREE-ERD 16 10,998 11,527
Prepayment B~ IE 17 6,260 1,831
Deferred tax assets EEHBAEE 18 1,133 4,754
______________________________________________________________________________________________ 178,435 91,969
Current assets REBEE
Inventories eSS 20 244,213 243,729
Financial assets at fair value BAFETABREN
through profit or loss — current CRIEE-RE 16 342 639
Trade and other receivables 8 5 N E b e SRIA 21 200,744 172,239
Prepayments and deposits TR RIE RiRE 17 20,830 23,530
Tax recoverable AT [E] 5 18 - 578
Restricted bank deposits ZRRHIRITER 22 6,156 6,140
Bank and cash balances RTINS ER 22 72,796 62,790
______________________________________________________________________________________________ 545,081 509,645
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 N E M ER RIE 23 158,895 170,372
Contract liabilities AHEE 24 38,414 45,370
Borrowings fB&x 25 20,970 10,438
Lease liabilities — current HEBE-RE 15 8,795 7,537
Current income tax liabilities BNEAFR S & (& 11,679 10,500
238,753 244,217
Netcurrentassets  ~~ w"&EE®E 306,328 265,428
Total assets less current liabilities EEHABERABAE 484,763 357,397
Non-current liabilities kRBEME
Lease liabilities — non-current HEBBE-IERD 15 97,139 8,561
Deferred tax liabilities EREIBEEE 18 3,759 4,169
______________________________________________________________________________________________ 100,898 12,730
Net assets BEFE 383,865 344,667
Equity =
Share capital fi% < 26 281,507 281,507
Reserves s 27 102,358 63,160
Total equity AR 383,865 344,667

The financial statements on pages 105 to 191 were approved
by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2023 and were signed

on its behalf

Wong Sze Chai
=275
Director

EF

The notes on pages 109 to 191 are an integral part of these

financial statements.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &

z~ —

ECE-F+-A=1+—HILEE

Currency
Share Other  Statutory translation Revaluation  Retained

capital reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total

e EfbfifE EERE SERERE EfbfR REER @t

Note  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

i3 FE7 FEr FE7 FEr FE7 FiEr FE7

Balance at 1 January 2022 RZEZZ5-f-RER 281507 (125162 14,705 (807) 21544 152,880 344,667

Revaluation deficit on land and bulding T REFE(EE - - - - (114) - (114)

Tax effect of revaluation deficit EfEERKTE - - - - 70 - 70

Realisation of revaluation defici, EREREE (NHik)

net of tax - - - - (718) 837 119

Currency translation differences EEhEES - - - 2,305 - - 2,305

Profit for the year EREF - - - - - 4548 45418

Dividends paid BifiRE 13 - - - - - (8,000 (8,000)

Balance at 31 December 2022 BB -E+-A=t-R&H 281,507  (125,162) 14,705 1,498 20,182 191,135 383,865

Balance at 1 January 2021 R-E--E-F-RftH 281,507 (125,162) 14,705 622 18,383 174750 364,805

Revaluation surplus on land and bulding T R EF B Rk - - - - 4,187 - 4,187

Tax effect of revaluation surplus EffRBiRY 2 - - - - (413 - (413)
Realisation of revaluation surplus, ERERRH (MAK)

net of tax - - - - (613) 714 101

Currency translation differences BEHEER - - - (1,429) - - (1,429)

Loss for the year ERER - - - - - (10,584) (10,584

Dividends paid Efffk& 13 - - - - - (12000 (12,000

Balance at 31 December 2021 RZE--E+-A=1-BEH 281507 (125169 14,705 (807) 21544 152880 344,667

The notes on pages 109 to 191 are an integral part of these

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &

F-FE -

FrZA=+t—HILFE

2022 2021
—EC-CH® —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
et FET FET
Cash flows from operating activities RETHEENRE
Cash generated from operations KEEBFERS 31(a) 67,576 1,851
Finance costs BLE R (11,183) (6,909)
Income tax (paid)/refunded (B, BEFER (5,303) 879
Net cash generated from/(used in) EEBFTE (BT
operating activities W TR 51,090 (4,179)
Cash flows from investing activities RETHEESRE
Net increase in restricted bank deposits SRR ISR 1T 17 FUE hNERE (16) (1)
Interest income FEWA 413 66
Investment income FEWA 222 331
Proceeds from disposal of fund investments HEESRENMERIE - 1,934
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME  BELEZE (12,998) (16,396)
Purchase of listed equity investments BELEmRAEE - (5,041)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BEREE
plant and equipment Fri5 508 51 428
Settlement on derivative financial TEEmTEGE
instruments - 786
Proceeds from disposal of listed equity HE FMRAKRER
investments FriS k1B - 4,280
Net cash used in investing activities KEEEAAE S F5E (12,328) (13,613)
Cash flows from financing activities METBHEERE
Proceeds from borrowings BRI FIE 31(b) 178,781 18,000
Repayments of borrowings EEER 31(b) (194,669) (16,333)
Dividends paid BT B 13 (8,000) (12,000)
Principal elements of lease payments HENKHRES IS 31(b) (7,859) (9,159)
Net cash used in financing activities BEEHATASR S FEE (31,747) (19,492)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash Re kRSB YEM,
equivalents (ORd) FEE 7,015 (37,284)
Effect of foreign currency rate change HINEH BB BT E 2,991 858
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—BNBEER
ReEEY 62,790 99,216
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December R+=—A=+—BEHEHEELRH
EZEY 72,796 62,790
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents ReRBRSEEBYAH
Time deposit up to three months AH=EAIATH
T HTER 22 15,000 20,000
Bank and cash balances RITEIB S8 22 57,796 42,790
72,796 62,790

The notes on pages 109 to 191 are an integral part of these

financial statements.
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2.1

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong
and listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
principal place of business and registered office of the
Company is at Block J, 5/F., Phase Il, Kaiser Estate, 51
Man Yue Street, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of
electronic products. The immediate holding company of
the Company is Trio Industrial Electronics Holding Limited
(“Trio Holding”), a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$’000”), unless
otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

Basis of presentation
2.1.1 Statement of Compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), and are in compliance with the
Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial
statements also include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”).

2.1

e BHRRME

—REHR

HETXEFEEERAR(ERLXT DA
—HEKRBBEMKILNERAGF  WHEE
BHaXSMBERAR ([BRAERE
e ARAF2LEMBRTMPERES
ERNEAWRMAEAS1RIPETEF 02
HISIBUE -

ARBB/—HKEEERAT - ARARE
MEAR (R AEE]) T2 E2E
FHEETEM - ARBIZEEERAA
REBTXRETERARQA ([HBE
Bl —XNEBRZFSEMAINE
BRAF) °

B R BIRANN - DR E P RKRTIAEE
Tr(FETDZS -

TREHBREE

AP TR AR B A AR A B 75 3R B P BR A
MEBSABRBE - R BHRAI - %
ERRIB2BRFEER—ZUER -

25 EE

2.1.1 B HIEEH
REMBBRRDIZEREBSTAIA
(BB AE ) BEANE
B HREER ([ BEBMBEREE
Al )W BRESQNMEHIRE o &
RAVBERRNBEHIMES L
MARA (T EWRARR ) AR TR EA
HEER o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFESHBEME£)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of presentation (Continued) 21 E2IEEE)
2.1.2Basis of preparation 212RBERE

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of land and buildings,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
and derivative financial instruments, which are
carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the financial statements are disclosed
in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has adopted the following amended
standards which are effective for the financial period
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and relevant
to the Group:

Annual Improvements  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
Project 2018-2020

HKAS 16 (Amendment)  Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

HKAS 37 (Amendment)  Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract

HKFRS 3 (Amendment) Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

The Group has assessed the impact of the adoption
of these amended standards and considered that
there is no significant impact on the Group’s results
and financial position.

TRIO INDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS GROUP LIMITED | ¥ T¥ EF B AR A T
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REK

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of presentation (Continued) 21
2.1.2Basis of preparation (Continued)

New standard, amendments to existing
standards and interpretation effective after
2022 and yet to be adopted

The following are new standards, amendments
to standards and interpretation that have been
issued but are not effective for the accounting
period beginning 1 January 2022 and are yet to be
adopted:

New standard,
amendments and
interpretation

¥ETER - RIETTERAIR
e

REMBHRRME

TERETBERBE(E)

EHEE (&)
212 MRBERE (E)

R B o T KRR
HATRE - BEEAMET L2
=

THAER-F-—%F—F—HH
b4t £ SR 48 0 A ALK
S FT TR RBIEIT AR R
B’

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUTBEHg 2%
RN EFHEEN

HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2
(Amendment)

ERETERE 1R REE
M E LR BB EA
258 (IBETA)

HKAS 8 (Amendment)

EEGTHERIFESS (BRI A) Gt bt ER

HKAS 12 (Amendment)

SRR KE

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

1 January 2023

—E2-=%—H—H

1 January 2023
—E_=%—HF—H
1 January 2023

%F%%ﬁ%%m% HE - GMELEENRBERBNERLENE —ET_=F—H—H

=5l

HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023
(Amendments)

ERMBRELRNF17HR R RREL
BB EwEERE17R
(BFTA)

HKAS 1 (Amendment)

Non-current

EEGTERE 1SR (BAIRN) BEES BRRBS IR

HKAS 1 (Amendment)

BAGTHERE 1 (BRI AR) M RERERBEE

HKFRS 16 (Amendment)

ERUBRELERE165%
CCHEN,

HK Int 5 (Revised)

ERELORZTNHEERRE

Classification of Liabilities as Current or

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Presentation of Financial Statements —

—E2-=%—A—H

1 January 2024

—ET_HFE—-HA—H
1 January 2024
—E_mMFE—-HF—H
1 January 2024
—E-mHE—-H—H

1 January 2024

Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

BABREESI (KEET)
L EBMER R

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

(Amendments)

B HRE 2 25 - BRAHB LB REEGK

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

—F-_MF—-A—H

To be determined

FEMBHRELENF10R N REFLREBERRRSLEARREEIIAEE FHEE

BB R ERF 285

(1&5TA)

The Directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the above new standard, amendments
to standards and interpretation will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESHBEME£&)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries 2.2 MELF
2.2.1 Consolidation 2218650

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the activities of
the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interest issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non- controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is less than the
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired
in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated.
When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s
accounting policies.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continueq)

2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investment in subsidiaries is accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The result of subsidiaries is
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investment in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from this
investment if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiaries in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amounts of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amounts in the
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwiill.

2.3 Segment reporting

2.4

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker (“CODM”). The CODM, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the Board of Directors of the Company that
makes strategy decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (“the functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the functional
and presentation currency of the Company.

2

REMBHRRME

TRETBRBE(F)

22 MEBELAR(E)
2.2 2B MM E

2.3

2.4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(i) Transactions and balances in financial
statements

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

(iii) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(@) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the end of that reporting
period;

(b) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(c) all resulting currency translation differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

2.5 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

2 FESTHHEBEGE)

2.4 HNEBE(EF)
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (except for land and
building) is stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amounts or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amounts of the replaced part is de-recognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income during
the financial period in which they are incurred.

Land and buildings comprise mainly offices. Land and
buildings are carried at revalued amount, being its
fair value at the date of the revaluation on the basis
of periodic valuations by external independent valuers
less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Any accumulated depreciation at the
date of valuation is eliminated against the gross carrying
amounts of the asset and the net amount is restated
to the revalued amount of the asset. Revaluations are
performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that the
carrying amount does not differ materially from that which
would be determined using fair values at the end of the
reporting period.

2.6
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

2.6

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Revaluation increases of land and buildings are
recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income to the extent that the increases
reverse previous revaluation decreases of the same
asset. All other revaluation increases are credited to the
property revaluation reserve in the shareholders’ equity.
Revaluation decreases that offset previously revaluation
increase of the same asset are charged against
property revaluation reserve directly in equity. All other
decreases are recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income. On the subsequent sale or
retirement of a revalued land and building, the attributable
revaluation surplus remaining in the property revaluation
reserve is transferred directly to retained profits.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost or
revalued amounts less their residual values over the
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
principal annual rates are as follows:

Land and buildings 3.33%
Plant and machinery 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
Leasehold improvements 20%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if necessary, at each reporting
date.

2.6
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2.7

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amounts of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets which are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each
reporting date.

Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based
on their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of
real estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected
not to separate lease and non-lease components and
instead accounts for these as a single lease component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

2.7

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that are depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

Lease payment to be made reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the
liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate of interest that a lessee would have
to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.
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2.7

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the lessee as a starting point, adjusted
to reflect changes in financing conditions since third
party financing was received;

o uses a build-up approach that starts with risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held
by the Group, which does not have recent third
party financing; and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between the principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the lease period
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
follow:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives

received;

° any initial direct cost incurred by the lessee; and

e restoration costs.

2.7

REMBHRRME

TRETBRBE(F)

HE (&)

RETIEEEFNE » KEH

ERBEIERT 8 MR AR
BNESHRE AL BB
DA B 19 5 = B A R LA
RS

WEABHE=-FRERN  FHEMN
EEREANEBIAE  HAE
EFEEHERNEERREITH
2z R

HHEFELFERAE - MHR
R BEERER-

BERKRASBRERAKZBIELS
B o AR AR E BN G A 2 E K
RING - HAS 5 BRI B (B4 5 HRD
R — -

ERAREERKAE - BREATEA

et EHERENEE

B A R ZAEHAEREE
NFRE REMEAEERE

EEANEENERTBERKAE
K

Annual Report 2022 & &

119



120

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

2.7

2.8

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The right-of-use assets are depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

While the Group revalues its land and buildings that are
presented within property, plant and equipment, it has
chosen not to do so for the right-to-use buildings held by
the Group.

Payment associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term
of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise small
offices and car parking spaces.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Costs include cost of purchase (including taxes, transport
and handling) net of trade discounts received and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition, and are calculated using
the weighted average method. Net realisable value is
determined based on estimated selling price, less the
estimated cost to completion and the estimated cost
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of
any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in
the period in which the reversal occurs.
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2.9

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as
non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less allowance for
impairment.

2.10 Investments and other financial assets

(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) or through profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFESHBEME£)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets (Continued) 210 RERHEMWEBMEE (&)
(ii) Recognition and de-recognition (i) BRARKLER

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial asset are de-recognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership.

(iii) Measurement (iii)

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
assets at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”),
transaction cost that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

TRIO INDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS GROUP LIMITED | {2 T ¥ EF &£@MAER A 7

NERTABEREESREE -
R ZAETHER - X5 BAIK
EEAEBELHEEEZRS -
BUBEREEMSRERE 2
NMEeEmsEB B AEECEEM
BREB A R N E®E - &1E
HREREE -

FrE

RINBERE - BEmMEEILIFZ
NP EFABGER ([EAIFEFA
BER])  AAKEZAFESN
WEZEREEEEMERHKRA
ATEREREE - BAFEAR
EEWERIHE ©

BEMERAATETANSRE
ENRERERTEAINAER
B FIARBEE -



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
(iii) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the group
classifies its debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in financial income
using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition is
recognised directly in consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and presented in
“Other operating expenses, net” together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

o FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements
in the carrying amount are taken through
other comprehensive income, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. When the financial assets is
de-recognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified
from equity to consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and recognised
in”Other income, net”. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in “Other income, net” and
impairment expense are presented as separate
line item in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

REMBHRRME

2 FESTHHEBEE)

210 RERHMESBMEE ()
(iii) FHE#E)
EHTA
B TAZHBEAEIANRAEE
EREE ERRAREEC S
MERH AEBBEEKIAES
A= EER

o B HMAMMANRS
MEMBEZEENRERE
ERERERAEMNK - AZF
BERBHRAE - %FE
BEEZNEBARBERF
FOEFF AT BN » £ 1ETER
EEZEARENBREEER
ReEEHREmRPHER - WE
A BE 5 W ok S B B0 [ H A 4F
BROFRE IR - BEBE
NMrE 2B ERAERSER
HBHR °

e BAFEFAHEMZEHKE
R WRREREHNRERER
HESREEMFTA ZEEN
ReREERAERFEMN
Fo AIZREEERQFEFA
Hih 2 HER R - BlREEZ )
TyEBEMEE PSR -
AR ER A B WA
R W am MERARGE2E
W RER - RRILERSE
BER  ZAIXNEMEEKE
FERH) Rt st kB R e
EMOBREREEHKRARY
RIEMBAERE R - ZF
TREENNERAERER
M EEFF A TN © SNEUWR
mMEBRRERAFE ]2
HEOBER NGRS 2E K E
RNERBIIERER -

Annual Report 2022 & &

123



124

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFESHBEME£)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets (Continued) 210 RERHEMESMEE (&)

(iii) Measurement (Continued) (iii)
Debt instruments (Continued)

° FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and presented net
within”Other income, net” in the period in
which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investment at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the de-recognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as other income when the
group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognised in “Other income, net” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income
as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investment measured
at FVOCI are not reported separately from other
changes in fair value.

(iv) Impairment (iv)
The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI.
The impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables, see note
21 to the consolidated financial statements for
further details.
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2.12

2.13

2.14

2.15

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right
must not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in the
event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or
the counterparty.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
re-measured at their fair value. The gain or loss is
recognised in “Other operating expenses, net” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at
call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less, and bank
overdrafts. In the consolidated statement of financial
position, bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in
current liabilities.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for goods supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and
value added taxes. The Group recognises revenue when
the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it
is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the
entity; and when specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group’s activities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

2

2.15

2.16

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Sales of goods

Revenue from the sales of goods directly to the
customers is recognised at the point that the control of
the inventory have passed to the customers, which is
primarily upon the acceptance of the products by the
customers. The customers have full discretion over the
products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customers’ acceptance of the products. The
Group collects cash or bank acceptance notes from the
customers before or upon deliveries of products through
banks. Cash or bank acceptance notes collected from
the customers before product delivery is recognised
as contract liabilities (see note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements).

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included
in the net fair value (loss)/gain on these assets, see note
6 to the consolidated financial statement.

Interest income from financial assets at amortised cost
and financial assets at FVOCI calculated using the
effective interest method is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as part of other
income.

Interest income is presented as financial income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes, see note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements. Any other interest income is included
in finance income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently
become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of
the loss allowance).
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Employee benefits

(i)

Pension obligations

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to various
defined contribution plans organised by the relevant
governmental authorities. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee service
in the current and prior years. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense when they
are due.

For employees in Hong Kong, the Group
participates in both a defined contribution retirement
benefit scheme which is registered under the
Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance (the
“ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance in
December 2000. The assets of both schemes are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of trustees. All employees joining
the Group on or after 1 December 2000, who are
qualifying employees employed under the jurisdiction
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme, are
enrolled with the MPF Scheme. Employees who
were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to the
establishment of the MPF Scheme were offered
a choice of staying within the ORSO Scheme, or
switching to the MPF Scheme.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly
contributions from both employees and the Group
at rates ranging from 5% to 15% of the employee’s
basic salary, depending on the length of services
with the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFESHBEME£)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Employee benefits (Continued) 217 EEEA (&)

() Pension obligations (Continued) (i)

For employees under the MPF Scheme, the Group
contributes monthly the lower of HK$1,500 or 5%
of the employees’ relevant income to the MPF
Scheme, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000.

The Group has no further payment obligations once
the contributions have been paid. The Group’s
contributions to the ORSO Scheme and the MPF
Scheme are recognised as employee benefit
expenses when they are due. When employees
leave the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme
prior to the full vesting of the employer’s voluntary
contributions, the amount of forfeited contributions
is used to reduce the contributions payable by the
Group.

The Group in the PRC participate in defined
contribution retirement benefit plans organised by
relevant government authorities for its employees
in the PRC and contribute to these plans based
on certain percentage of the salaries of the
employees on a monthly basis, up to a maximum
fixed monetary amount, as stipulated by the
relevant government authorities. The government
authorities undertake to assume the retirement
benefit obligations payable to all existing and future
retired employees under these plans. There are no
forfeited contributions under these plans to reduce
the contributions payable by the Group.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays
contributions to publicly or privately administered
pension insurance plans on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no
further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are recognised
as employee benefit expense when they are due.
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments are
recognised as a liability when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of services rendered by employees and a reliable
estimate of the obligation can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled
within twelve months and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the
cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
period in which the associated services are rendered
by employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

2

2.18

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled transactions

The Group’s employees, including directors, receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby the employees rendered services
in exchange for shares or rights over shares of the
Company. The cost of such transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which the entity and another
party (including an employee) agree to a share-based
payment arrangement, being when the entity and
the counterparty have a shared understanding of the
terms and conditions of the arrangement (“Grant
Date”). The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee cost with a
corresponding increase in a reserve within equity. The
fair value is determined using the Binomial Option Pricing
Model, taking into account any market conditions and
non-vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at fair value
of the goods or services received, except where the fair
value cannot be reliably estimated, in which case they
are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. In all cases, the fair value is measured at the
date the Group obtains the goods or the counterparty
renders the services.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over
the period in which the vesting conditions are to be
fulfilled, ending on the date on which the entitlement of
relevant employees to the award is no longer conditional
on the satisfaction of any non-market vesting conditions
(“Vesting Date”). During the vesting period, the number
of share options that is expected to vest ultimately
is reviewed. Any adjustment to the cumulative fair
value recognised in prior years is charged/credited to
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year of the review, with a corresponding adjustment to
the reserve within equity.
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2.18

2.19

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)
Equity-settled transactions (Continued)

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in the share option reserve will be
transferred to share capital. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in share option reserve will be transferred to retained
earnings.

Taxation

The tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.
Tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

() Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period in the
countries where the Group operates and generates
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEHBE(E)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Taxation (Continued) 219 HIE(E)

(ii) Deferred income tax (ii)
Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is not accounted for if
it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination
that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of reporting period and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Taxation (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Deferred income tax (Continued)
Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements, except for deferred income tax
liability where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally
the Group is unable to control the reversal of the
temporary difference for associates. Only when
there is an agreement in place that gives the Group
the ability to control the reversal of the temporary
difference in the foreseeable future, deferred tax
liability in relation to taxable temporary differences
arising from the associate’s undistributed profits is
not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements only to the extent that it is probable
the temporary difference will reverse in the future
and there is sufficient taxable profit available against
which the temporary difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

2

2.20

2.21

2.22

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease
termination penalties and employee termination payments.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense
within “finance expenses, net” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction cost) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.
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2.22

2.23

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowings and borrowing costs (Continued)

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facilities will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probably that some or all of the facilities will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in which they are
incurred.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

3.1

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk,
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.

Financial risk factors
(@) Market risk

()

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong,
the PRC, Thailand and Ireland. Entities within
the Group are exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to HK$, Euro (“EUR”),
Renminbi (“RMB”) and Thai Baht (“THB”).
Foreign exchange risk arises from export
sales, purchases, other future commercial
transactions and monetary assets and liabilities
that are denominated in a currency that is not
the entity’s functional currency.

Management has set up a policy to require
the group companies to manage their
foreign exchange risk against their functional
currencies. The group companies do not adopt
formal hedge accounting policy. It manages
its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring
the movement of foreign currency rates and
will consider to enter into foreign exchange
contracts to reduce the exposure should the
need arises.

As at 31 December 2022, if US$ had
weakened/strengthened by 5 percent against
EUR with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2022 would have been HK$264,000
(2021: HK$80,000) lower/higher, mainly as a
result of foreign exchange loss on translation
of EUR denominated trade and other payables,
and cash and cash equivalents.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(@) Market risk (Continued)

()

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, if the US$ had
weakened/strengthened by 5 percent
against RMB with all other variables held
constant, post-tax profit for the year ended
31 December 2022 would have been
HK$5,654,000 (2021: HK$1,597,000) lower/
higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
differences on translation of RMB denominated
trade and other receivables, deposits, trade
and other payables, and cash and cash
equivalents.

As at 31 December 2022, if the US$ had
weakened/strengthened by 5 percent against
THB with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2022 would have been HK$65,000
(2021: HK$22,000) higher/lower, mainly
as a result of foreign exchange differences
on translation of THB denominated other
receivables, deposits, other payables, and
cash and cash equivalents.

Under the Linked Exchange Rate System
in Hong Kong, HK$ is pegged to USS$,
management therefore considers that there
is no significant foreign exchange risk with
respect to the HKS.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
exposure to foreign exchange risk arising from
certain currency exposures such as Great
British Pound, Singapore dollar, etc. are not
significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BEEKBER (&)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HERBEZE(E)
(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) WEERE)

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from
borrowings. Borrowing obtained at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk which is partially offset by cash held
at variable rates. Borrowings obtained at fixed
rates expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk. The Group does not adopt any
interest hedging strategy.

Bank borrowings of the Group were arranged
at floating rates varied with the then prevailing
market condition.

As at 31 December 2022, if interest rates on
borrowings at variable rates had been 50 basis
points higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the
year ended 31 December 2022 would have
been HK$10,000 (2021: HK$5,000) lower/
higher as a result of higher/lower net interest
expenses.

(b) Credit risk (b)

The Group’s credit risk are primarily attributable to
financial instruments, financial asset at FVPL, trade
and other receivables, deposits, time deposits and
cash deposited at banks. Management has credit
policy in place and the exposures to these credit
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. In this
respect, management considers the credit risk is
significantly reduced.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of cash deposited at banks and time
deposits, the credit risk is considered to be low as
the counterparties are reputable financial institutions
with sound credit ratings assigned by international
credit rating agencies.

For deposits and other receivables, management
makes periodic collective assessments as well as
individual assessment on the recoverability with no
significant credit risk identified.

The Group is also exposed to credit risk in relation
to financial assets that are measured at FVPL. The
maximum exposure at the end of the reporting
period is the carrying amount of these investments.

Impairment allowance policies for trade
receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses
a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables. To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables has been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past
due.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales over a period of 120 days by
due date and the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced within this period. The historical
loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables. The Group has identified the
relevant industry GDP of the countries in which it
sells its goods to be the most relevant factors, and
accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based
on expected changes in these factors.

3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment allowance policies for trade
receivables (Continued)

3 HEBRERER(E)
3.1 MBEBERE)
(b) &R &)

EZEWERBEREBRE ()

On that basis, the loss allowances for trade TEE RZE—FERZT—F
receivables as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were +TZA=+—HMEB S EKFIEEIE
determined as follows: BEETNT -
2022
—E-C
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
HHERR IREAH EERE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Current B HA 0.1% 155,475 89
1-30 days 1230k 0.3% 37,472 98
31-60 days 31E60K 2.8% 3,045 86
61-90 days 61Z290K 18.9% 148 28
91-120 days 91E120K 34.4% 637 219
Over 120 days 120K A & 100.0% 1,827 1,827
Total et 198,604 2,347
2021
—E-—F
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
BEEEE ARE A% gty
HK$’000 HK$'000
& FET
Current BN Hg 0.1% 147,221 174
1-30 days 1230k 0.5% 20,507 105
31-60 days 31E60K 2.9% 2,723 79
61-90 days 61290K 39.8% 289 115
91-120 days 91E120K 100.0% 44 44
Over 120 days 120KA £ 100.0% 1,329 1,329
Total et 172,113 1,846
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REMBHRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 WIHRREMER (&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MKRBEZE(E)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) =ERAKE)
Impairment allowance policies for trade BB EHERERT (&)
receivables (Continued)
The closing loss allowances for trade receivables RZEZZFR-ZFT-_—F+=A
as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 reconcile to the T —HMEZERWGRENBERE
opening loss allowances as follows: BEEETBEEENEROT
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
As at 1 January Kn—A—H 1,846 1,836
Exchange realignment BE 3 2 = 10
Loss allowance, net recognised in FARGEZEREE
consolidated statement of R EERE
comprehensive income et
during the year 501 -
As at 31 December W+=ZA=+—H 2,347 1,846

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a
failure to make contractual payments for a period
greater than 90 days past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within operating
profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the same line item.

B 5 YRR A I IR 8 AT ]
R 88 o 30 4R S IR TR HA R IR Bl FROR
MR BEE (AR B EBARE
EASEFILERE - ARRE
HiFB MO0 R BRI M ARBEIE L& 4
5K

B REANRERRISEE
it ) Y R(E B 1R R R o iR
ERIMBEN SR AR—IER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BEEKBER (&)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HERBEZE(E)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERRE)

Impairment allowance policies for trade
receivables (Continued)

During the year, the provision for impairment loss
on trade receivables was recognised in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in relation to
impaired financial assets disclosed in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022, the customer bases are
widely dispersed despite that 11.6% (2021: 13.3%)
of the trade receivable were due from the Group’s
largest customer and 73.1% (2021: 72.2%) were
due from the five largest customers determined on
the same basis.

(c) Liquidity risk (c)
Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating
entities of the Group. Such forecasting takes into
consideration the Group’s debt financing plans,
covenant compliance and, if applicable external
regulatory or legal requirements — for example,
currency restrictions.

The Group maintains liquidity by a number of
sources including orderly realisation of short-term
financial assets and receivables; and long-term
financing including long-term borrowings. The Group
aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping
sufficient bank balances, committed credit lines
available and interest bearing borrowings which
enable the Group to continue its business for the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REBHRRME
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BIiSEKBER (&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BERBEZE(E)
Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) FBELEAM(Z)
The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative TEROWMEREHRES LA
and derivative financial liabilities into the applicable BRI RN EEIENT A RITE
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at eREEESKERINEBAAR -
the end of reporting date to the contractual maturity FIEBEeERASARMBRERE -
date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.
Total In the
contractual Within second to
Carrying  undiscounted one year or fifth years, Over
amount cash flow on demand inclusive five years
REZZ
$1E
CLES - (BEmF
REE ReNELER FREXR BEER) BENE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T TET TET TAT
At 31 December 2022 R=F--£+-A=1-A
Trade and other payables &5 R £t e 508 145,746 145,746 145,746 g S
Borrowings B 20,970 21,249 21,249 - -
Lease liabllities HEAE 105,934 143,654 13,284 36,899 9347
272,650 310,649 180,279 36,899 93,471
At 31 December 2021 RZB--%£+-A=t-H
Trade and other payables 2% Rk £t B ZUR 160,506 160,506 160,506 - -
Borrowings &3 10,438 10,610 10,610 - -
Lease liabllties HERE 16,098 16,545 7,833 8,712 -
187,042 187,661 178,949 8,712 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BEEKBER (&)

3.2 Capital management 3.2 BE2EH
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to REBERERNERRREREB R
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going B AARES KRB K AT S
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and AT RAZ - R SIRENERE
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal LA BR E AR o

capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the REFRFARERERE  AEER AR
Group may adjust the amounts of dividends paid to TRHTFRENRESTE  AREZHDE
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new R BTHRSIEEEENRDETRS -

shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors REEDERL R AEEEREREHE 4
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is EE—3 - BREEZFEHRUABER
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt/ T8 FER (RE)IRBITERBTT
(cash) is calculated as bank borrowings less bank and NIR G BT E - BERIREE VB
cash balances. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as TR INFER (WEA)FE -

shown in the consolidated statement of financial position,
plus net debt, where applicable.

The Group’s strategy was to maintain optimal capital AEENRBREFRFIEENEREREIN

structure to reduce the cost of capital. The gearing ratios FREERKAR - RZTE__FR_F_—
as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were as follows: F+-_A=+—H/ERLENT

2022 2021

—ZE-_— —E-—4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAET

Borrowings (note 25) Bk (Mi7E25) 20,970 10,438

Less: Bank and cash balances (note 22) & ¢ $R1T MIR & &6

(Mi7E22) (72,796) (62,790)

Net cash FIE G (51,826) (52,352)

Total equity s (383,865) (344,667)

Total capital BER (435,691) (397,019)

Gearing ratio BB & N/A FEH N/A i F
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group’s assets and liabilities
carried at fair value as at 31 December 2022 and 2021
by level of the inputs to valuation techniques used to
measure fair value. Such inputs are categorised into three
levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, all the Group’s
assets and liabilities carried at fair value are categorised
into level 2, except for the financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss — current are categorised into level
1.

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market (for example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques maximise the use of
observable market data where it is available and rely
as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level
3.

The following table presents the changes in the Group’s
assets and liabilities carried at fair value for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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FEMBRRME
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BHRBEE (£)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 ATEMF(E)
Financial
assets at Financial
fair value assets at
through fair value
Land and Derivative profit or through
building at financial loss-non- profit or
fair value  instruments current  loss-current Total
RAYE RAYE
BRAYE FTABRE tABRE
FHEN i WEREE HemEE
THhRET SRIA - ¥R -k by
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEr TET FET TET FET
For the year ended BEZE--F
31 December 2022 TZA=T-BLEE
Opening balance B 24,900 - 11,527 639 37,066
Loss recognised in RiEa2ENEER
consolidated statement of ANEE
comprehensive income - - (529) (297) (826)
Loss recognised in other REMZENE
comprehensive income ERNES (714) - - = (714)
Depreciation ik (1,186) - - - (1,186)
Closing balance HREHR 23,000 - 10,998 342 34,340
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ-ZT-—%
TZA=T-BLFE
Opening balance s 21,700 - 13,854 - 35,554
Gain/(loss) recognised in consolidated  RzA 2 EMRER
statement of comprehensive income )z / (B8) - 786 (399) (122) 271
Gain recognised in other REMZEE
comprehensive income Etolieay 4187 - - - 4187
Addition nE - - - 5,041 5,041
Disposal HE - - (1,934) (4,280) (6,214)
Depreciation e (987) - - - (987)
Settlement £g - (786) - - (786)
Closing balance BREH 24,900 - 11,527 639 37,066
3.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 34 SHEAERESHMAEBZENE

As at 31 December 2022, there were no financial assets
or financial liabilities which were subject to offsetting,
enforceable master netting or other similar agreements

(2021 nil).

RZE-—F+-_A=+—H HELH
BEXCMBESIKE  EErRHMHHR
TR — FREEE S EMBEULBEFTRR
“E—F )

=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

(a) Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
the estimated cost to completion and the estimated
cost necessary to make the sale. These estimates
are based on the current market condition and the
historical experience of selling products of similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of
changes in customer taste and competitor actions
in response to severe industry cycle. Management
reassesses these estimates at the end of each
statement of financial position date.

(b) Impairment of trade receivables

The Group’s management estimates the provision
for impairment loss on trade receivables by
assessing their recoverability. Provisions are applied
to trade receivables where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not
be collectible and require the use of estimates.
Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact carrying value
of trade receivables and impairment charge in the
period in which such estimate has been changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 EAAKEESHENEES

JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S st RHE (2)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions FESHEFRBR(Z)
(Continued)

(c) Income taxes (c) FiB#H

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current and deferred
income tax assets and liabilities in the period in
which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are recognised
when management considers it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which
the temporary differences or tax losses can be
utilised. When the expectation is different from
the original estimate, such differences will impact
the recognition of deferred income tax assets
and taxation charges in the period in which such
estimate is changed.
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LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(d)

Determination of the lease term

In determining the lease term, management
considers all facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive to exercise an extension option
or not exercise a termination option. Extension
options (or periods after termination options) are
only included in the lease term if lease is reasonably
certain to be extended (or not terminated).

For lease of plants, office and warehouse, the
following factors are normally the most relevant:

- if there are significant penalties to terminate (or
not extend), the Group is typically reasonably
certain to extend (or not terminate).

- otherwise, the Group considers other factors
including historical lease durations and costs
and business disruption required to replace
the leased asset.

Most extension option in plants, office and
warehouse have been included in the lease liability
because majority of them are profitable and
relocation will cause business disruption.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are determined based on the
information reviewed by the CODM. The CODM, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segment, has been
identified as the Board of Directors.

Operating segments are reported in the manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
CODM. The Group is subject to similar business risk, and
resources are allocated based on what is beneficial to the
Group in enhancing the value as a whole. The Board of
Directors considers the performance assessment of the
Group should be based on the profit/(loss) before income
tax of the Group as a whole and regards the Group as a
single operating segment and reviews internal reporting
accordingly. Therefore, the Board considers there to be
only one operating segment under the requirements of
HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments”.

The Group provides manufacturing and sales of electronic
products, which are carried out internationally, through
the production complexes located in the PRC, Thailand
and lIreland, during the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021.

Segment assets and liabilities

No assets and liabilities are included in the Group’s
segment reporting that are submitted to and reviewed by
the CODM internally. Accordingly, no segment assets and
liabilities are presented.

5

7R E

BREDBIBRBEREERRERNANE
HETE BREERREAEDEERR
FHERZEDRMRIR - MARREFTER®
BREFRERRE -

S|

e ERTAERETERLER
RENAM2HR—H - AREERBAUE
BREE  BERENEREAAEEERE
BEBENWRADE - EFER/AEEN
RIRHHERERAEBERIRATS AR
M/ (BEMEL  BAEEARE KD
I AEBHALHRS - At - EFER
5 REBEBMBREENESREZLD
MINRTE - BEFE—EELNE -

RBEE_Z-_—"FR-_ZT_—F+_H
=t HUEFE  AREEBLRTE
FELEBRNEESCBREAETESD
SLENMHE (BERER) -

THEERER

NEDER T B E L EREE R EEERN
MAKED BREL EEEREFNEEREA
& Rt BEZIDHEERAE -

Information about major customers FEEFHESR
External customers contribute over 10% of total revenue HE+-A=1+—HILEE  AKREEEZ
of the Group for the years ended 31 December are as W= ERBB10%MINEEF T ¢
follows:
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Customer A BEPA 231,765 167,390
Customer B %FB 137,693 N/A “IiE F
Customer C ®PC 131,093 100,819
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information

During the year ended 31 December 2022, majority of
revenue were derived from customers in Europe (mainly
the United Kingdom (the “UK”), Switzerland, Ireland,
Sweden and Denmark), while the remaining revenue were
derived from customers in the United States of America
(the “US”), the PRC (including Hong Kong), South-east
Asia and others (mainly Australia and Israel).

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at a point
in time.

In relation to non-current assets held by the Group
(orimarily represented by property, plant and equipment
(note 14) and right-of-use assets (note 15)), land and
buildings with carrying values as at 31 December 2022
of HK$23,000,000 (2021: HK$24,900,000) are located
in Hong Kong. Other property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are primarily located in the PRC and
Thailand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRERME

6 REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME, NET 6 WHERHMKAFRE
2022 2021
—Eg=-= T —F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
Revenue =
Sales of goods EmiHE 978,103 744,067
Other income, net U A EE
Commission income (=N 195 222
Investment income FEWA 222 331
Fair value loss on financial BAFEFT ABRED
assets at fair value through profit CREEATEER
or loss (826) (515)
Government grants (note) BT By (M) 1,860 1,525
Gain/(loss) on foreign exchange, net HNEUES (1) 38 2,120 (1,493)
Scrap material sales income WMEMREE WA 2,558 1,751
Rental income HMEBA 388 -
COVID-19 related rent concessions EECOVID-197% B3t
HemRE - 4
Service income AR S UL A 210 553
Gain on lease modification MEEFT W= 18 5
Sundry income HMIBUA 745 770
7,490 3,153
Note: Hat -

The government grants for the year ended 31 December 2022 mainly
represented Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund,
set up by the HKSAR Government and subsidy for the stable growth of
major foreign trade enterprise received from the PRC Government.

The government grants for the year ended 31 December 2021 mainly
represents the development support fund for advanced manufacturing
industry and reward for production growth of industrial enterprise received
from the PRC Government.

There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to
these grants.

HE-_Z-—F+-_A=-+—HILFENKRFHBE
BEBRBRFRTHREBRNFS O EEESETH
[MRBE G EmE  ARTRBRFEEHIINE D E
BEHREMA TR

RBE-T=-_—F+-_A=+—HLFE BT
FTEEMPEBFRBM L EREERRRIFES R
THbEMESRE -

ARSI 8 AR ERO S RE S E AR
I8 -
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7

EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses included “cost of sales”, “selling and
distribution expenses”, “administrative expenses”, and
“other operating expenses, net” are analysed as follows:

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

7 BMEIENRAX

X BRmIEERAN]  [HERDHE
Bl-TTBRAX | RIHEMGEEROF
Bl T

2022 2021
—E-— —E-—4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Employee benefit expenses EERANAX
(including directors’ emoluments) (BIREEHS) (H:s8)
(note 8) 193,175 179,047
Depreciation for property, plant and Y - BEREETE
equipment (note 14) (fizE14) 12,883 12,027
Depreciation on right-of-use assets CREEENE
(note 15(b)) (FEE15(0)) 10,066 8,826
Amortisation of insurance expense IR B =2 8 85 33 33
Auditors’ remuneration 1% B 357 B
- Audit services — B IRTS 2,233 2,093
— Non-audit services — FEEET RS 777 769
Gain on derivative financial instruments PTEERM T Al - (786)
Obsolete inventories written off (note 20) PREGTEM (FizE20) 604 375
Expenses related to short-term leases HEHHEEFENRY 1,648 447
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWME - BEMEESE
equipment 222 29
Provision for impairment loss on trade B 5 WA R ERE
receivables (note 21(b)) B (MizE21(0)) 501 -
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment loss ~ fF & EEE (#E),~
on inventories (note 20) Bt (fF5E20) (2,944) 5,252
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 8 EFEEIMZ(BEEEM<)

(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

2022 2021

—Eg-= —E-—%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FEIL

Wages, salaries and allowances T& - e kFEy 167,142 153,329
Retirement benefit costs (note) RIRERIBCA (FF5E) 26,033 25,718
193,175 179,047

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no forfeited contributions were
used to reduce the contributions payable by the Group (2021: nil). No
forfeited contribution under the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme is
available to reduce the contribution payable in future years.

9 BENEFITS AND
DIRECTORS

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the section
383 of the Companies Ordinance is as follows:

INTERESTS OF

EE

BHE-_Z-_-_F+-_A=+—HBLEE BEIR
BBERAEROAEERMOER(ZTE=Z—F
) o EAABRERNTERABSEE TR
AR ZRAT R DA A oK SR 67 FE A A4 3K o

EENENKRER

RIE N FHEDI S 383 G FEHIE = Hr i 1a
T

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FET
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect  FLIEAEZEITES (EHA
of a person’s services as a director, RARHEM B AR ER)
whether of the Company or its BN ER T
subsidiary undertaking:
Fees we 720 720
Basic salaries, allowances and AEXFHe - FAR
benefits in kind B 13,981 13,327
Employer’s contribution to a retirement RIREFFT &80 4K
benefit scheme 1,737 1,674
16,438 15,721
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BENEFITS AND

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERESTS OF

DIRECTORS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable
by any Directors in respect of their other services
in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company or its subsidiary undertaking during
the years ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to Directors as
compensation for the early termination of the
appointment during the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

Save as disclosed above, no other payment was
made to the former employer or Directors for making
available the services of them as a Director of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of Directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such Directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of Directors, controlled bodies corporate
by and connected entities with such Directors during
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Company’s business
to which the Company was a party and in which
a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: nil).

REMBHRRME

EENENRER (&)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

EEZRAER
REBEE_ZT-_—_F+=-H=1+—H
LFE HMERTRNEEaEER
ARABREWNBAREHHEAM
PR 7 M 32 A< 2k K& WX AE 1] 3R K 48 A
T —F |

EECERBERN
REBEE-FT-_—_F+-A=+—H
EFE - Mﬁﬁkiﬂiéﬁﬁﬁ
EEXNEANRIEREE

MERHEEREMOE=FEMH
2R E

BREMHEEEIN  REE-_ZT_—

+TZA=T—HULFE  BERER
HEERFEMBEETARAAEEM
EAEFHES I HEMAKIE

T —F |

EBUES HERESZHMNE
EREAEHEENERAZSEAZ
BN - EERRAMRZ 2EH

REBEE_ZT-_—_F+=-HA=+—H
IHFE HMEEENESE - AEH
EEZFMEIEREEEHENE
BASSEAZER EERREA
RG(ZEZ—F : f8) o

EERXRS  ZHIEHNFZEK
g

KRB EITVEEENEREE
iﬁ&%ﬁﬁk%\ﬁﬂiii@
EARMBEBRDATFTEERR A
BEHZERRS REHERER
T —F |
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 9 EENEFNREZRZ)
DIRECTORS (Continued)
() Directors’ emolument ) E=Me
The remuneration of every director for the years HE_Z-_—_fk=_F=—%

ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 is set out + A=+ —HIEFESESH

156

below: wm
Basic  Employer’s
salaries, contribution
allowances to retirement
and benefits benefit
Fees in kind scheme Total
Exge RIEN
2R FE
ik ENEA E3E @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET AT AT AT
2022 “5-°F%
Executive Directors YiEs
Mr. Lai Yiu Wah (note | =ik (W) - 4,509 558 5,067
Mr. Wong Sze Chai (note i ERELE (W) - 84 - 84
Mr. Tai Leung Lam BRMEE - 4,446 558 5,004
Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy Joseph Mac Carthy’t 4 - 4,403 558 4,961
M. Lo Ka Kei Jun (note i) Esini (W) - 539 63 602
Non-executive Director FuES
Mr. Kwan Tak Sum Stanley (note iv BERLE () 80 - - 80
Independent BukynEs
Non-executive Directors
Mr. Fung Chun Chung SENLE 240 - - 240
M. Hau Siu Laam (note v) FEELE () 100 - - 100
Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise (note v) E'E%gﬁi (Hshv) 100 - - 100
Mr. Cheung Kin Wing (note vi BREE (ihi) 100 - - 100
Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam (note vi E ﬁwié (Bfsi) 100 - - 100
720 13,981 1,737 16,438
2021 S
Executive Directors Yi7Es
M. Lal Yiu Wah (note i PESRE () - 4,486 558 5,044
M. Tai Leung Lam By - 4,445 558 5,003
Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy Joseph Mac Carthy £ - 4,3% 568 4,954
Independent BUkdnES
Non-executive Directors
Mr. Fung Chun Chung BEREE 240 - - 240
Mr. Cheung Kin Wing (note v) FEREE (k) 240 - - 240
Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam (note v) ERALE () 240 - - 240
720 13,327 1,674 15,721
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERERME
9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 9 EENEFREZRZ)
DIRECTORS (Continued)
(f) Directors’ emolument (Continued) () §$M$(%ﬂ )

Notes: Hiet -

(i) Mr. Lai Yiu Wah resigned as Chairman of the Board and 0] RRELEN_T-_=F—A=+—8
executive Director of the Company on 31 January 2023. BERNRRIEEGERMNITEST 2R -

(ii) Mr. Wong Sze Chai was appointed as Deputy Chairman (i) BEAEENR-_F__F+-A+XA
of the Board and executive Director of the Company on BEERARREFGRIEFERATE
16 December 2022 and re-designated as Chairman of the F UWRZT_=F-A=+—RHAE
Board on 31 January 2023. REFEEER -

(i)~ Mr. Lo Ka Kei Jun was appointed as executive Director of (iy BEHLEN-_F-__FAA-REZ
the Company on 1 September 2022. FEARRRBIMITES °

(v)  Mr. Kwan Tak Sum Stanley was appointed as non-executive (iv) BIRATERZF-_-_FAA-BEZ
Director of the Company on 1 September 2022. EAEERRNBIIERTES -

(v  Mr. Hau Siu Laam and Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise were (v BEAIEREYLEBLIN-_T_Z
appointed as independent non-executive Directors of the NA—BEZTARARBILIENTE
Company on 1 August 2022. E

(v Mr. Cheung Kin Wing and Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam (vi) SREREEREBREEN-ZT-_F
retired as independent non-executive Directors of the HERAZ Tt RRERREELIFNITE
Company on 27 May 2022. Espd X

There was no arrangement under which a Director REBEE_ZT-_—_F+ZA=+—

or the chief executive officer waived or agreed to BIEFE  FRRTHAIHNE

waive any remuneration during the year ended 31 ZHEE A B N E F A B

December 2022 (2021 nil). (ZZ=—F:8|) -

(g) Five highest paid individuals (9) EEEEFMAL

The five individuals whose emoluments were HE-_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—HIE

the highest in the Group for the years ended 31 FE AEEREESTMHAL

December 2022 included 3 Directors (2021: 3 BREEASTRBEENSHIZE

Directors) whose emoluments are reflected in the BE(ZEZ—F:3REF) - H=E

analysis presented above. The emoluments payable —TE - —f+ZAR=+—HLt

to the remaining 2 individual during the years ended FE -EABT2H8@A AL

31 December 2022 (2021: 2 individuals) are as ZEZ—F 2% ERAT)EME

follows: wm

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—HF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FEIT
Basic salaries, allowances and EAREHS - 2R

benefits in kind R ki=p 3,327 2,948
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAT - 182

Employer’s contribution to RIREFIFT B89 L3R
retirement benefit scheme 329 368
3,656 3,498
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

9

BENEFITS AND

INTERESTS OF 9

DIRECTORS (Continued)

(g) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The number of non-director highest paid employees
whose remuneration fell within the following band is

as follow:

(9)

EENENRER (F)

hEBREFMAL (E)

N FATHENFESR

s

=HEEA

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Nil — HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T = -
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 21,500,000 7T - 1
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 22,000,000/ T 2 -
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T 22,500,000/ 7T - 1
10 FINANCE EXPENSES, NET 10 BB FHE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
Finance income B IS URA
Bank interest income HRITHEWA 413 66
Finance income B WA 413 66
Finance expenses BsHEX
Interest on bank borrowings RITIEFHE
— Wholly repayable within five years —ARAFANEBER (2,344) (1,152)
Interest on lease liabilities (note 15(b)) HEBENB(FFE15(0) (3,080) (539)
Other finance expenses Hm B 52
Bank charges RITIE (5,759) (5,218)
Finance expenses B X (11,183) (6,909)
Finance expenses, net B R (10,770) (6,843)
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERERME
INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 11 FAEHAX(ER)
The amount of taxation in the consolidated FETHEKRERABESEOT :
statement of comprehensive income represents:
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—HF
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
Kt FET FET
Current income tax: BEAFTIS R
- Hong Kong —&A (a) 7,031 4,766
Under/(over) provision in prior years @TFEERENTE
(EBEERME) 30 (4,833)
Deferred tax expense/(credit) FEFRERY (ER)

(note 18(c)) (FF3E18(c)) 3,400 (4,844)
Income tax expense/(credit) FIEHEX (E&E) 10,461 (4,911)
Notes: et -

(a) Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits (@) REEENEHOFESHMAL  52EKRE

Tax, the first HK$2 million of estimated assessable profits of the
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities in
Hong Kong not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%. The Hong Kong
Profits Tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the
estimated assessable profits for the qualifying group entity and at
16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million for
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

EE 88 82,000,000 JT {4 51 & R B A i A
8.25% -+ M#AiB2,000,00058 7T K % Fl 6 B &
516.5% - THEFEBHRMAGNESEE
BREAENEFER16.5%M 5 — B X 44
RE - BE-ZZ-_—FR=_FT=_—F+=A8
=S+ BLEE AEREERESLE
2,000,000 7T &1 FE iR Bt i F 0 BB FIS B
1#£8.25% 8 » MiBiB2,000,0007% LA 5t
JERBUEFIM B EFERAIL16.5%:1H °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)
(Continued)

The amount of taxation in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income represents:
(Continued)

The tax on the Group’s profit/(loss) before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using

1 FEBiMAx (BR) (&)

GEXERSERARESENT ((£)

AEEBRAEHANERN, (BR) IR ER
JE PR IO A B B R 5T H 2 3 e SRR Il AR

the tax rate applicable to profits as follows: DK
2022 2021
—Eg=-= T —F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETERALEF (EE) 55,879 (15,495)
Calculated at a tax rate of 16.5% ERE16.5% (ZE = —F :
(2021: 16.5%) 16.5%) st & 2 Fi18 9,220 (2,557)
Effect of different tax rates in B FifsalEeEm N R R
other tax jurisdictions of2— 267 (2,665)
Income not subject to tax BARTBUA (2,732) (463)
Tax losses for which no deferred tax asset I ERERIRILFTISFIE &
was recognised 2 BIEEE 161 2,603
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes A1 X 5,648 3,249
Utilisation of previously unrecognised FABARTHER
tax loss TRIEEE (1,968) (80)
Under/(over) provision in prior years BAFEBETR
(HBRERE) 30 (4,833)
Concession tax rate R E (165) (165)
Income tax expense/(credit) FrEsiMAY,(EE) 10,461 (4,911)

12 EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share

12 BRER (BE)
(@) SREXERF(BR)

BREREF,(EE) IR ARA T
HmHE ANEE ST (BB B UE
EZ-__FR-T-—F+=A
=T —HIEFEEBET LB ME
TR EGETHE -

The basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated
on the profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the
Company divided by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in issue during the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.

2022 2021
—Eg-= T —F
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners AREEB AEGEF
of the Company (HK$’000) (E518) (FA7T) 45,418 (10,584)
Weighted average number of ordinary & 317 8 A% hnkeE 15 IL &L
shares in issue (thousand shares) (FR) 1,000,000 1,000,000
Basic earnings/(loss) per share SRELREF
(HK cents) (B18) GBI 4.54 (1.06)

160
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (Continued)

(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

The diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding to assume conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share was the same as
basic earnings/(loss) per share due to the absence
of dilutive potential ordinary shares for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

REMBHRRME

12 SRERN (FHE) (&)

(b) SRBBERF (BE)
FREERN, (BR) VEBRRE
?éfﬁﬁﬁvl\bﬂffééflzi’i‘ 38 P P R A 1R
REREHEEHTLBRGHE -

HREBE_T-__FR-_T=_—F
T+ A=+ —HIEFETEETEH
EZEER AEESREERF, (&
BIESREART,(EBE)HER -

DIVIDENDS 13 RE
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Interim dividend paid of HKO0.8 cent BT ER BB AR E RAR0.87 L
(2021: nil) per ordinary share —T— —¢ = 8,000 -

Note: Kzt -

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020 of HK1.2
cents per ordinary share, amounting to a total dividend of HK$12,000,000,
was declared and recognised as distribution in the year ended 31
December 2021.

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 of HK1.2
cents per ordinary share, amounting to a total dividend of HK$12,000,000,
is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on 23 May 2023.

RBE-ZE-—F+-A=+—HLLFE KXRQF
EERRERDRBE-_ZT-_TF+-_A=1+—H
LHFENRARESREBR.28 - RERER
12,000,000/ 7T ©

R B =FAA - +=HRTHNEARERRAESF

AL BERER-_T_—_F+_A=1+—BHLEFERER
FRRE@AR .28 NR IR AR B.4712,000,00078 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME
14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y% - BMEREE
Land & Plant&  Furniture & Office Motor Leasehold  Construction
buildings ~ machinery fixtures  equipment vehicles improvements  in progress Total
i BE f8 HAZ HENE
LET RE# R%E B{ hE £ FRIE h
HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FEr 77 F&r Fér 7 7 F&r FEr
Year ended HE-E-CE

3 December 202  tZAZt-ALEE
Net book value at RZ5-ZF-A-H

1 January 2022 HEEFE 24,900 23,283 4,128 412 1,126 5,035 - 59,479
Bxchange realignment B 5% - (370) (111) (5) 9 (115) - (610)
Additions HE - 460 1,544 203 3 90 10,678 12,998
Loss on revaluation EffEE (714) - - - - - - (714)
Disposals ik - (2n) () ) - - - (273)
Depreciation e (1,186) (7,051) (2,205) (169) (432) (1,840) - (12,883)
Balance as at e

31 December 2022 t-A=+-Bhks 23,000 16,051 3,950 460 688 3,170 10,678 57,997
At31December 2022 RIE-

TRz t-8
Cost or valuation HAghE 23,000 62,976 24,097 4,152 4,253 30,904 10,678 160,060
Accumulated depreciation  Z3H7E - (46,925) (20,147) (3,692) (3,565) (27,734) - (102,063)
Net book value at i ——
31 December 2022 tZA=+-A
HEEFE 23,000 16,051 3,950 460 688 3,170 10,678 57,997
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y%  BER®#E (&)

(Continued)
Land & Plant & Furniture & Office Motor  Leasehold
buildings  machinery fixtures  equipment  vehicles improvements Total
1 BE BE HAZ it
REF K& R%E B RE &8 @t
HK$000  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKS000 HKkS 000 HK$ 000
TAr AT A1 AT A1 A1 AT
Year ended HE-2--F
31 December 2021 tZR=t-ALEE
Net book value at RZE=-%-F-H
1 January 2021 REESE 21,700 19,633 6,343 447 1,467 4,188 53,678
Exchange realignment B A% - (1,611) (418) 9 (28) (232) (2,298)
Additions AE - 11,570 1,812 129 122 2,763 16,396
Surplus on revaluation EhER 4,187 - - - - - 4,187
Disposals HE - 1) (449) U] - - (457)
Depreciation ik (987) (6,208) (2,565) (148) (435) (1684 (12,027)
Balance as at RZEZ-E+ZR=1+-H
31 December 2021 Kes 24,900 23,283 4723 42 1,126 5,035 59,479
Cost or valuation KA E 24,900 63,406 22,930 3,970 4,260 31,008 150,774
Accumulated depreciation ZitnE - (40,129) (18,207) (3,598) (3,134) (26,279) (91,299)
Net book value at RZFZ-E+ZA=1+—A
31 December 2021 RERESE 24,900 23,283 4728 412 1,126 5,0 59,479

rtHBEERN-_E-_—F+-A=+—0H

The analysis of the cost or valuation at 31 December

2022 of the above assets is as follows: A EESTAT ¢
Land & Plant & Furniture & Office Motor Leasehold  Construction
buildings  machinery fixtures  equipment vehicles improvements in progress Total
1 BE K& HAZ HENE
RET R R&E B A& £ HEIR gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FEn FEn FiEn FEn FEn FEn FEn FiEn
M cost R - 16,051 3,050 460 688 3,170 10,678 34,997
M valuation it tE 23,000 - - - - - - 23,000
23,000 16,051 3,950 460 688 3,170 10,678 57,997
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022, depreciation
expense of HK$7,051,000 and HK$5,832,000 (2021:
HK$6,208,000 and HK$5,819,000) was charged to “cost
of sales” and “administrative expenses” respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s land and
buildings are held under medium term leases (unexpired
period between 20 years to 50 years) and the carrying
amounts of land and buildings pledged as part of the
securities for banking facilities from a bank amounted to
HK$23,000,000 (2021: HK$24,900,000) (note 25(b)).

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s land and building was valued at 31
December 2022 and 2021 by independent professionally
qualified valuers who hold a recognised relevant
professional qualification and had recent experience in
the locations and segments of the assets valued. For land
and building, the current use equates to the highest and
best use.

The Group’s chief financial officer (“CFO”) reviews the
valuations performed by the independent valuers for
financial reporting purposes. CFO reports directly to the
chairman of the board (the “Chairman”). Discussions
of valuation processes and results are held between the
CFO, the Chairman, and the valuers annually. As at 31
December 2022, the fair values of the land and building
were determined by Ascent Partners Group Limited (2021:
Ascent Partners Group Limited).

14 Y% - BERRE(E)

HE-_T-_-—#+-A=+—BH1t&EE "
FEEH7,051,000/8 7T K%5,832,000
BIL(ZZE=Z—%F 16,208,000 T &
5,819,000 7T) 7 st ATSHE KA | K&
[T -

R-ZE-—F+-_A=+—H KEBEZ
T RIEF AR EEY CRE SR 520
FEL0F)FAE  UWARBEFA L RIEF
(FEEBRITERSMIRITRENBIER)
BRI (& 423,000,000 7T (ZE = —4F :
24,900,000787t) (MzE25(0)) °

AEBENEERE
AEBNLTHEEBFR-_ZZ_FK
T —F+ A=t HAEBELER
B HEMGE  ZEHEMABRYTHN
HESEER  UAEHEEENE RS
ErmEmEaEFILR - St REFMm
= BRiAZHEERER REERS -

AEENERVHEE ((BERMEEER
EZEAEMRTBRELETOMGRE -
BERVBEEERESTEXRE(TXR]
BE - BRMBE  TELGEMESFH]
HEBEMERETIR R_FT-—F
+ZA=+—8 " T REFHAFERH
VYAKEERAR(ZE=—F : ¥AK
EBERARDETE -
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LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15

(Continued)

Valuation processes of the Group (Continued)

At each financial year end, the finance division:

o verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation
report;

o assesses property valuations movements when
compared to the prior year valuation report; and

o holds discussions with the independent valuers.

Valuation techniques

For land and building, the valuation was determined
using the sale comparison approach. Sales prices of
comparable properties in close proximity are adjusted
for differences in key attributes such as property size.
The most significant input into this valuation approach is
price per square foot, which is approximately amounted
to HK$5,770 per square foot for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: HK$6,250 per square foot).

LEASE

This note provides information for leases where the Group
is a lessee.

(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position

REMBHRRME

14 Y% - BEKRRE(E)

FEBNGERR (&)
REMBERHEER - FEE -

s REBUMEREZIMBEIEZHA
2z

e RUBBEFEZHERSER - ¥
mYELEES X

o EBVLERNF °

fHEHD

REIMREFME - HEFKAESELEE
ET MR ENHEEERSEE
WERNNSERBEZEMAE - ZHEE
FEREBENSEBERGFEHIRZER  HE
—ECFE+ - A=t+—RBILEEAEGYT
FRE5, 7708 T (ZT=—F : FFAR
6,250 7T) °

15 HE
A B ARAA - BIAN AR &R
B o
(a) REAHBRRRERNSE

RAEMBRAREIATEAER

shows the following amounts relating to leases: R & -
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Right-of-use assets FERAREE
Buildings BF 102,047 14,378
Lease liabilities HEAE
Current e 8,795 7,637
Non-current IERED 97,139 8,561
105,934 16,098

Additions to the right-of-use assets during year
ended 31 December 2022 were HK$98,513,000

(2021: HK$486,000).

HE-_Z-_—_F#+-_A=+—81
FEFAEEENES513,0008

T(ZE=—

1 486,000 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

15 LEASE (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income

The consolidated statement of comprehensive
income shows the following amounts relating to
leases:

15 #HE (&)

(b)

REE2HEBERBERNEHE

FeErzEBEREINATEAER
FAH) S -

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FRAEEENERY
assets (note 7) (FF5E7)
- Buildings —EF 10,066 8,826
Interest expenses (included in finance FIER Y (Gt AMEFAR)
costs) (note 10) (BF5E10) 3,080 539

The total cash outflow for leases in 2022 was
HK$12,588,000 (2021: HK$10,145,000).

The Group’s leasing activities and how these
are accounted for

The Group leases various offices, warehouses,
factory, staff dormitory and car parking spaces.
Non-cancellable rental contracts are typically made
for periods of one to fifteen years. The Group
also leases various warehouses and factory under
cancellable rental contracts. The option to terminate
the leases are described in note (d) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants.

Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in
a number of property leases across the Group.
These are used to maximize operational flexibility
in terms of managing the assets used in the
Group’s operations. The majority of extension and
termination options held are exercisable only by the
Group and not by the respective lessor.

(c)

(d)
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—TE-—FHEReRHEES
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10,145,000/ 7T) °
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

16 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 16 REATVEtABZERANEHEE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2022 2021

—Eg-= T

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Kzt FET FET

Unlisted key man insurance contracts 3 F T E ERB A (i) 9,325 9,086

Unlisted fund investments FEEMESLKE (i) 1,673 2,441

Listed equity investments FHRAIRE (i) 342 639

11,340 12,166

Less: Non-current portion B IEREIE S (10,998) (11,527)

Current portion mENER 342 639
Notes: et -

(i) The amount represented the investment element of key man (i)
insurances purchased for two executive directors of the Company
(2021: one executive director of the Company and one senior
management of the Group). During the year ended 31 December
2022, an increase in fair value of HK$239,000 (2021: HK$270,000)
was recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s bank borrowings were
secured over key man insurances with the carrying amounts of
HK$9,325,000 (2021: HK$9,086,000) (Note 25(b)).

(ii) The fund investments were classified as financial assets at fair (if)
value through profit or loss as they were held for trading. The
fund investments were valued at observable prices of comparable
investments. During the year ended 31 December 2022, a decrease
in fair value of HK$768,000 (2021: HK$663,000) was recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

(iii) The equity investment was classified as a financial asset at fair (i)
value through profit or loss as it was held for trading. During
the year ended 31 December 2022, a decrease in fair value
of HK$297,000 (2021: HK$122,000) was recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

ZEBEARNRAMERTES (ZT=_—F
—ZHTEERALEE - ES5HER
B)FMEEZERRAKRETE - B ZE
ZEZF+ZA=1+—BLFE REE
PEWNEFEERAERDFEEIN239,0004 T
(ZZ = —% 270,000 T) °

R-B-—F+-A=+—8  KAEHEIRT
EFIABRTE (/59,325,000 THEERK
B (ZZ - —4 :9,086,00087T) (M
25(b)) °

ZEESRECHERRATEFABHER
HNERMEE  DHRZEREABERSA
# o REESRE DR E L BRIRENA B
EBREE BHE-_T-—_F+=-A=+—H
IHFEE REAXERERERAFERD
768,000/ T (—Z =~ —4 :663,000/57T) °

ZRAREE P EREAFEFABRED
CMEE  NHRZREABERXZHE -
HE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—RALLFE A&
AEHERERABERAFERL297,000/8 7T
(ZZE=—% 122,000 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRERME

17 PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS 17 AARERES

2022 2021
—E_— —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Prepayments TERTRIE 22,998 10,058
Rental, utility and other deposits - ARSEREMES 4,092 15,303
27,090 25,361

Less: non-current portion R FEmEE S
Prepayments TERTRIE (6,260) (1,831)
Current portion mBNE o 20,830 23,530
The carrying amounts of deposits of the Group REBEZSHEREER TZFR
approximate their fair values as at 31 December 2022 —E-—%+—-A :+ Bz A¥EMR

and 2021.

18 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary
differences under the liability method using the tax rates
applicable in the respective jurisdictions. The movements

4+

Eo

18 EIEFTEH

on the deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as

follows:

(a) Deferred tax assets

(a) EEHREEE

EXEFTSH T 3R A B B A LR B R IR A
ARAEBERMNERREREHE - BT
FISHMEERABEZBMT

2022 2021

—Eg-= —E-—%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

At 1 January n—A—H 4,754 -
(Charged)/credited to consolidated REEEE2HEKREERA

statement of comprehensive income (%), 5t A
(note c) (FfF5Ee) (3,621) 4,754
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 1,133 4,754

Notes:

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carry forward to
the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefits through the

future taxable profits is probable.

The Group has unrecognised tax losses of approximately
HK$44,881,000 (2021: HK$54,083,000) at the balance sheet date

Bet

* MELAMEBE R T A
mﬂ“ﬁ%i‘%ﬁﬁ

ZELE‘?LIEEFTJBaf/\#?—,ﬂ’]ﬁff%léﬂéiﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁ
R 7T BE 3B 3B AR SR FE AR TR

ARBEREERABRRAORERRBEBROS
44,881,000/ 70 (=% = —% :54,083,000/%

which can be carried forward and used to offset against future TL)  BRATERT IS B B A A AR —

taxable income subject to meeting certain statutory requirements
by a subsidiary in Thailand. The tax losses will expire in five years.

B R 2R 8 AR R M
i e
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LUp R ES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERERME
18 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 18 EIEFRBH (&)
Deferred tax liabilities (b) EZEHEAE
2022 2021
—E-_F T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
At 1 January Kn—HA—H 4,169 3,947
(Credited)/charged to other (Bt A),/ 0Bk KAt 2 E e
comprehensive income (189) 312
Credited to consolidated statement of RiFAZEZEUREEX A
comprehensive income (note c) A (MiFEce) (221) (90)
At 31 December w+=ZA=+—8 3,759 4,169

(c)

(d)

(e)

Notes:

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for accelerated tax
depreciation.

EERIBR AT RN IES BT E MR o

Deferred tax charged/(credited) to consolidated () RESZEWBRAMBE (5T AN)
statement of comprehensive income Y 3 FIE B 18
2022 2021
—E-CF T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FEIT
Deferred tax assets (note a) FEEFRIBEE (MifFa) 3,621 (4,754)
Deferred tax liabilities (note b) RIERIABE (Fib) (221) (90)
Deferred tax charged/(credited) RiZEEHEKREEA
to consolidated statement of Mk (GTA) HYIEE
comprehensive income (note 11) FiE (fsE11) 3,400 (4,844)

As at 31 December 2022, deferred tax assets (d)
are expected to be utilised within 12 months

after the reporting period; while deferred tax

liabilities are expected to be settled after more

than 12 months.

As at 31 December 2021, deferred tax assets
and liabilities were expected to be utilised/
settled after more than 12 months.

Deferred tax liabilities of HK$5,230,000 as at 31 (e)
December 2022 (2021: HK$5,413,000) have not

been recognised for the withholding tax that

would be payable on the unremitted earnings

of certain subsidiaries. Unremitted earnings as

at 31 December 2022 is HK$104,599,000 (2021:
HK$108,259,000).

R=F-—-%+=-RA=+—-0 &
ERBREERSRBRENR+ =@
AREM  MELEH RS EAET
REB+-EARESE -

R-ZZBE-_—F+=-A=+—H8  E
EHEEEREERETHRERA+T=
BRBER, & -

R-ZBZZF+ZA=+—H " i
ABRETHEARAELRFE
HHENSERIANECH EAE
%5,230,000 B t (=B = —F :
5,413,000 ) - R=-ZZE=-=
+TZA=+T-BWEREHBEANB
104,599,000 8T (== —F :
108,259,000 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME
19 SUBSIDIARIES 19 KEAF
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December RBE-_—FR-_T-_—F+_-_A=+—H
2022 and 2021 are as follows: ZEEMBRBFFBENT
Place of incorporation Registered/
or establishment and Principal Place of Issued and Effective interest held
Company name type of legal entity operation Principal activities paid-up capital by the Company
AMELARLBER iift/B&f
ARER HERRER IELERY IBREK RESRE FAREE ERER
2022 2021
“E-CE ZEC-E
Directly held:
EBRE:
Trio Engineering Company Limited - Hong Kong/Limited liabilty ~ Hong Kong Sale of electronic product 200,000 shares 100% 100%
company HK$20,000,000
HETRARAA Bh/HRERLD B HEETER 200,000% %
20,000,000
Professional Electronics Hong Kong/Limited liability ~ Hong Kong Sale of electronic product 10,000 shares 100% 100%
Manufacturing Solutions Limited company HK$10,000
LRRTIRRERRLA Bh/EREALA B HEETER 10,000% (7
10,0007
Deltrix Limited Hong Kong/Limited liabiity ~ Hong Kong Sale of electronic product 10,000 shares 100% 100%
company HK$10,000
EYHNERAR Bh/BREANA B HEETEm 10,0008 %13
10,0087
Indirectly held:
BiEsE:
Panyu Trio Microtronics Co., Ltd.  The PRC/Wholly foreign-owned The PRC Manufacturing of electronic Paid-in capital 100% 100%
enterprise product US$5,000,000
ENTESHENERARAR  HE/MEBELE 41 REETED EHRE
5,000000%TC
Guangzhou Professional Electronics The PRG/Wholly foreign-owned  The PRC Provision of information Paid-in capital 100% 100%
Manufacturing Solutions Limited ~ enterprise technology service RMB500,000
BNEENRERARD hE/SERE LS Gk RUASKIRS EaRE
AEH500,0007
Trio-tronics Manufacturing Global  Ireland/Limited liability Ireland Global sourcing and 100,000 shares 100% 100%
Limited company purchase of materials, EUR100,000
sales and marketing,
service support
EBW/BRELLR EBR PRREREEMH . ¥ 100000RKH
EREH - R 100,008
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

19 KBAT (£&)

Place of incorporation Registered/
or establishment and Principal Place of Issued and Effective interest held
Company name type of legal entity operation Principal activities paid-up capital by the Company
AMELARLBER i/ ERe
ARER ERERES E ITER RESRE FAREE ERER
2022 2021
ZBIZE ZZ--F
Deltrix (Europe Limited Ireland/Limited liability Ireland Manufacturing of electronic 100,000 shares 100% 100%
company components EUR100,000
ERE/BRARLT EBW BEETHH 10,0008
100,008/ 7
Trio-tronics (Thailand) Limited Thailand/Limited liability Thailand Manufacturing of electronic Paid-in capital 100% 100%
company product THB38,000,000
R8 /BREARA R HESTER EaRaE
38,000,005k
INVENTORIES 20 78
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
Raw materials EM R 165,693 174,125
Work in progress TR 52,899 46,808
Finished goods RIRK 17,269 10,989
Goods in transit EEE M 8,352 11,807
244,213 243,729
The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and BHE S -_—_F+-_A=+—HILEE -

included in “Cost of sales” amounted to HK$637,792,000
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
HK$483,252,000). For the year ended 31 December
2022, the Group recognised a reversal of provision
for impairment loss on inventories of HK$2,944,000
(2021: provision for impairment loss on inventories of
HK$5,252,000) and written off obsolete inventories of
HK$604,000 (2021: HK$375,000). These amounts were
recognised in “Other operating income/(expenses), net” in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

HRAERI W ATHEERAN INFEK
KAE637,792,0008 L (T - —4F :
483,252,000 L) c 2 —E =~ —

T_AZ+-—BLEE LXEEER
BEGFERBEREERE2,944,0008 T
(ZEZ—F:-FEREEBERE
5,252,000 7T ) R FR &1 E#i$5604,000
BT (ZZ - —F :375,000/870) ° #%
ELBN A EERERN [ Habg el
(P )35 I NERER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21 EFRHMEWRKIE
2022 2021
—E_— —E-—%F
Note HK$’000 HK$°000
BtaE FHET FET
Trade receivables g 5 W IA (a) 198,604 172,113
Less: Provision for impairment W B S EWEIRRE
loss on trade receivables EEEE (b) (2,347) (1,846)
Trade receivables — net S WA — 196,257 170,267
Other receivables HoAth fE Y5k IE 4,487 1,972
200,744 172,239
Under the factoring arrangement with banks, the Group REERIT 2 BARERHE - XEBEKE
has transferred certain trade receivables to the factor TESREWFIBEE Z(RIE A LREUR
in exchange for cash and is prevented from selling & WHWERIFRESERERFIE - A&
or pledging the receivables. The Group has legally EDSERRE SRR IERAENME
transferred all of the risks and rewards of ownership B RERAEEEER LEET SR
of the discounted trade receivables to the financial %o BESRWRIBAREENREXRESR
institutions. The carrying amounts of the trade receivables BEARBR ) FE Y FIE o
exclude receivables which are subject to the factoring
arrangement.
Notes: Hiat -
(@) Trade receivables arise from trading of electronic (@ BISEWHEREBEESFER-

products. The payment terms of trade receivables
granted to third party customers generally range
from full payment before shipment to 75 days after
the end of month. The aging analysis of the trade
receivables based on invoice date at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

BRTE=ZFEFNEZREFIAN
HER —REEEMEENRE
RiER76R - RIBHFRRE - WM&
HA K 1) 5 5 WK IR 1) B e 0 AT 10
™

2022 2021

—E-—F T

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEx FET

Below 30 days 30KLATR 67,577 75,298
Between 31 and 60 days 31260k 59,730 62,145
Over 60 days 60K A 71,297 34,670
198,604 172,113

Trade and other receivables are past due when a
counterparty has failed to make a payment when
contractually due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, trade receivables of
HK$155,475,000 (2021: HK$147,221,000) were not
yet past due.

Trade receivables that were past due but not
impaired relate to a number of independent
customers for whom there is no significant financial
difficulty and based on past experience, the overdue
amounts can be recovered. The aging analysis of
these receivables is as follows:

21

REMBHRRME

5 R EAMREYRKIE (F)

@ (&
R_ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—8"
E S EWFHKTE155,475,0008 T
TE 5 147,221,000 7T )
RigER o

BEH R EREZE S ERFE
HMEATEERNVERNENE LR
FAER  REBAELS  "JlREZ
LHEFE - RSB FIENER
DT -

2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Past due by: BHf
Below 30 days 30KLATR 37,472 20,507
Between 31 and 60 days 31E60X 3,045 2,723
Over 60 days B60KRA 2,612 1,662
43,129 24,892

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade
receivables are denominated in the following
currencies:

AREBEE 5 EYFHIA 2 REEAT
SIEEEEHE -

2022 2021
—E-— —E-—%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

US$ ETT 196,438 168,224
RMB AR 2,166 3,184
HK$ BT - 547
EUR B 7T - 158
198,604 172,113
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

21 BESZRHEMEWKEE)

(Continued)
(o)  Provision for impairment loss on trade receivables o) EZEWFIBREBEREE
The movements on provision for impairment loss on ZoRWGIBEREEBEREZSN
trade receivables are as follows: N
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
At 1 January —H—H 1,846 1,836
Exchange realignment b B - 10
Loss allowance, net recognised FARGEEE
in consolidated statement of Hﬁlm\i\éﬁﬁu@ZEﬂE
comprehensive income during the %ﬁﬁi&gﬁ
year (note 7) (PfaE7) 501 -
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H 2,347 1,846
The creation and release of provision for impairment 2 2 g B R SR R T 1

loss on trade receivables have been included in
“Other operating income/(expenses), net” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Amounts charged to the allowance account are
generally written off, when there is no expectation of
recovering additional cash.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables
approximate their fair values as at 31 December
2022 and 2021.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring expected credit loss which uses
a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables. Information about the impairment of
trade receivables and the Group’s exposure to
credit risk and foreign currency risk can be found in
note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

22 RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK 22 ZR4IBITEXRBITRESE

AND CASH BALANCES &R
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Restricted bank deposits (note (a)) ZRHRITER (H5E@) 6,156 6,140
Time deposit up to three months AE= A KA T8 E TR 15,000 20,000
Bank and cash balances RITNIB e 57,796 42,790
72,796 62,790

Notes:

(a) The Group’s restricted bank deposits represented
deposits pledged to banks to secure banking
facilities granted to a subsidiary of the Group as
set out in note 25(b) to the consolidated financial

statements.

(b) The carrying amount of restricted bank deposits,
time deposit up to three months, cash and bank
balances of the Group are denominated in the

following currencies:

@ AEENZRBIBITERXSFEFRR
RITOFH - AMERGEA M BE®REK
I EE25(0) FTE R T A K E — KK B

NARIRTTRYE 2 A -

(o) AEENZRHIBITER  SH=
EAFATHERFR - Re KR
TR BREEN THIEMEHE -

2022 2021

—E-—F T

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHET FET

HK$ BT 36,839 54,040
us$ EP 38,416 9,566
RMB AR 1,858 1,514
EUR BT 876 3,316
THB TRk 952 481
Other currencies Hin g 11 13
78,952 68,930
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRERME

22 RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK
AND CASH BALANCES (Continued)

(c) The Group’s bank and cash balances included
the following for the purpose of the consolidated

22 TRHEIBTERREBITIRESE
Bk (&)
€ BHEABLRERME A£EW
BITRBSESBIELTES

statement of cash flows:

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

Time deposit up to three months AEA= R A s A T 89 5E BRTF R 15,000 20,000
Bank and cash balances HRTT IR B AR 57,796 42,790
Cash and cash equivalents HekBEeEEY 72,796 62,790

The restricted deposits, time deposit up to three
months, and bank and cash balances are at fixed
interest rate range from 0.001% to 4.45% per
annum (2021: 0.1% to 0.2%) as at 31 December
2022 and therefore are subject to fair value interest

rate risk.

23 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

R-_ZE-_—_F+-_RA=+—H " %=
BHTFR BH=ZEAATHE
HERARBITRRSEHRIZET
FEMREEO0.001%E4.45%(=F
T—F 0.1%F0.2%):T A Al
AR A TFENERER

23 ESZNKHMENFIE

2022 2021
—E-—F —E—F

Note HK$°000 HK$’000

baF FET FEIT

Trade payables S FIE (a) 132,932 124,699
Trust receipts EREUE - 26,321
Accruals and other payables FEET R H Ath FE S FUIR 25,963 19,352
158,895 170,372

Notes:

(@) The credit terms of trade payables granted by the
vendors generally range from full payment before
shipment to net 180 days. The aging analysis of
trade payables based on invoice date at the end of

reporting period is as follows:

Wiat -

@ EBEARTHWEZIENFENEES
—REEEAZEMNRERER180
A% - REBEZEZEH > |WEHAKR
B BN RIERRE AT -

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#ET FET

Below 30 days 30K 56,307 54,450
Between 31 and 60 days 31260k 42,254 42,225
Over 60 days 60K A 34,371 28,024
132,932 124,699
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23 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

(b)  The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables

REMBHRRME

23 BESRHEMENREE)
(o) AEEEZENFEZREAEAT

are denominated in the following currencies: P EHEEE ¢
2022 2021
—E_- —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
HK$ BT 16,824 13,393
Us$ ETT 70,230 64,306
RMB AR 43,904 43,592
EUR BT 1,737 2,869
Other currencies H b g 237 539
132,932 124,699

24 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had
recognised the following liabilities related to contracts

24 AHAEE
BRNAERI YRS
W-B-—FR-_FE-_—F+-A=+—H
AEBEHRAUTEHEFANARNEA

with customers: & :
2022 2021
—E-—F T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Contract liabilities BREE 38,414 45,370

(@) Change in contract liabilities

The Group receives payments from customers
based on billing schedule as established in
contracts. Payments are usually received in advance
under the contracts which are mainly from sales of
goods.

(b) Revenue recognised in relation to contract
liabilities
The following table shows the amounts of the
revenue recognised for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 which relates to
carried-forward contract liabilities.

(a) EHNEEHNEH
AEERBAORENEERER
EP WA R - BEAREA QA
WENSRE  TERBHEEER °

(b) BMENEBERIBHOUWE

TRFWEFEE—ZT-_—FR T -—F
T+ A=+ BILHFECHEREL
EBLNABEBENNESE -

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue recognised that was FFARFEYIENBEERD
included in the contract liabilities 2Rl =
balance at the beginning of the year
Sales of goods HEEm 9,345 2,138
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

24 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

(c)

Unsatisfied contracts related to sales of goods

The Group has applied the practical expedient to
exempt the disclosure of revenue expected to be
recognised in the future arising from contracts with
customers in existence at the reporting date for
its sales contracts for electronic products as the
performance obligations have an original expected
duration of one year or less.

25 BORROWINGS

24 SHEB(E)
(c) HEHEEIEBHLABTEY
AAETEDINECNNBHETS
RIS HRAE—FREE - AEH
ERAESERERETFE  BeH
BEEHER R EERN B RS
BEATFIE B B A KIFTEE A HUk2S o

25 &

2022 2021

—EgE-= —E-—%F

Note HK$°000 HK$’000

HtaE FHET F#r

Secured bank borrowings BEAPRITHER (a) 20,970 10,438

The Group’s borrowings were repayable as follows
(without taking into account the Repayment on Demand
Clause as detailed in note (a) below):

AEENBEREEBIET CRERTX
B 5 () P R LR 2 SRABIE 165K

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

Within 1 year 1F R 19,150 6,379
Between 1 and 2 years 1FE2F 986 2,426
Between 2 and 5 years 2FE5F 834 1,633
20,970 10,438

Notes:

(a)

As these loans include a clause that gives the lender
the unconditional right to call the loans at any times
(“Repayment on Demand Clause”), according
to HK Interpretation 5 “Presentation of Financial
Statements - Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause” which requires the classification of whole
term loans containing the Repayment on Demand
Clause as current liabilities, these loans were
classified by the Company as current liabilities.

@ BHRZFERBR-EERETE
RABRGHENETAREEDE
R RERBEBGER])  RIEFE
REFST[MBHRRNWEM— G
ABHEREREEGRKZAERE
RN HAERTHESREL
BEBFNERNERZHENER/R
BaE ZFEREAUHEARF
BREARBAEE -
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25 BORROWINGS (Continued)

(b)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the total
borrowings were secured by certain assets and their
carrying values were shown below:

REMBHRRME

25 fER(E)
b) RZZEZ—FR-_ZT=-_—F+=A
=t+—H LUETEEEEENE
ERRER@EYIROT

2022 2021
—E-C—F —E-—4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
TFET FAET
Property, plant and equipment WIZ - BB R (iE14)
(note 14) 23,000 24,900
Financial assets at fair value through ?ﬁ@%fﬁ?ﬂ\ﬁéﬂ%ﬂ’\]
profit or loss — non-current (note 16) TREE - FRD
(Mi5E16) 9,325 9,086
Restricted bank deposits (note 22) RRHIRITER (H5E22) 6,156 6,140
38,481 40,126
The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest RERE AR - AN E S K E R A
rate changes and the contractual repricing dates at XEYHEBRERENEELD BN
end of the reporting period are as follows: T
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Variable rate BEY R 20,970 10,438
The fair value of current borrowings equals their ARITIRFZEBNIEER - BNHER
carrying amount, as the impact of discounting is not ZAVFEBEARMEES -
significant.
The effective interest rate of bank borrowings are BE-f_—_f+-_A=-+—H
5.55% per annum for the year ended 31 December EEE  RITERODEBRFENE
2022 (2021: 2.80% per annum). B5.55% (T = — F ) &K
2.80%) °

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are
denominated in the following currencies:

%%%%ﬂZEﬁE@MT@JEﬁM%

2022 2021

—E-— —E-—4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

HKS$ BT 3,561 7,055
Us$ ETT 17,409 3,383
20,970 10,438

The Group has the following undrawn borrowing
facilities:

RSB A T R B2 BUAY 5 SR
BH

2022 2021

—E-CF T

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

Expiring within one year R—FRNEIH 191,419 182,791
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27

26 SHARE CAPITAL 26 BRA
2022 2021
—®B-C “E--F
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
RAEE Ex GE = +8
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
Issued and fully paid ERTRAR
At the beginning and the end of the of the year RETNRER 1,000,000,000 281,507 1,000,000,000 281,507
RESERVES 27 f#E
(a) Other reserve (a) Hfthf#Es
Other reserve as at 31 December 2022 and RZEZZFRZFTZ—F+=A
2021 represent the aggregate paid-in capital of =+—H - HitfHE#EEEHPREE
the subsidiaries acquired, offset by investment PiN/NE] B NI OE S & = D e i 1=
costs in subsidiaries of the Company during the RIETIEE T B A R ERE A 4B %58 -
Reorganisation.
(b) Statutory reserve (b) SEEFEE
In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the BRI FRE R RERRH E‘Iﬂﬁﬁﬁ
articles of association of those group companies E’Jgﬁﬂﬁﬁiﬂiﬁﬁﬁiﬁi U
incorporated in the PRC, the group companies are AIZERIER &5 210%@5%@
required to appropriate 10% of their profits after Lt%.a FPER R EEFHHIE U R
tax, as determined in accordance with Accounting HEi@m AR EE QRSB AImE)VE
Standards for Business Enterprises and the BEERBRE EZRREREEZR
Accounting System for Business Enterprises and HFMBEAZ50% A1 - FEiEmE
other regulations applicable to group companies, HMBERAEBARFEATIRRE
to the statutory surplus reserve until such reserve ERMEN - ZERBREEYANE
reaches 50% of the registered capital of the group HBEFEEE (WA)  BHIA
companies. The appropriation to the reserve must ARBEREERARANES © E
be made before any distribution of dividends to REXEBRTHEHERESEDT
holders of the group companies. The statutory BORERARR25% o
surplus reserve can be used to offset previous
years’ losses, if any, and part of the statutory
surplus reserve can be capitalised as the group
companies’ capital provided that the amount of
such reserve remaining after the capitalisation shall
not be less than 25% of the capital of the group
companies.
(c) Revaluation reserve (c) EfLf#E

Revaluation reserve as at 31 December 2022 and
2021 represent the revaluation of land and buildings
held by the Group.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RESERVES (Continued)

(d) Currency translation reserve

The currency translation reserve comprises the
exchange differences arising for the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTION

Pursuant to a written resolution of the then shareholder
passed on 27 October 2017, the Company adopted a
Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”). In any event, any
grant of options under the Scheme shall comply with the
amended provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules
which took effect on 1 January 2023 notwithstanding any
provisions of the Scheme.

The Scheme is a share incentive scheme established to
recognise and acknowledge the contributions eligible
participants have made to the Group. The Scheme is valid
and effective for a period of ten years commencing on the
date of the adoption of the Scheme, unless terminated
earlier by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Under the Scheme, participants may include: (i) any
director, employee, consultant, professional, customer,
supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to any
member of the Group or a company in which the Group
holds an interest or a subsidiary of such company (the
“Affiliate”); (i) the trustee of any trust the beneficiary of
which or any discretionary trust the discretionary objects
of which include any director, employee, consultant,
professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or
adviser of or contractor to any member of the Group or
an Affiliate; or (iiij a company beneficially owned by any
director, employee, consultant, professional, customer,
supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to any
member of the Group or an Affiliate.

27

28

REMBHRRME

i (&)

(d) E¥BRERE
EEMERBERERERINEBLN
I RAREENERN Z5

UEaGERRO/BERTRDN
X5

RER-_F-—tF+A-TEABEERK
RBBNEMRRER  ARFIRABLEE
I ([ZEHE ) - EEABERT @ RIEZ
AIEIRENEAERERETR T _=F
—A—BAERN EHRAE T EEREE
A3 - BB % At & A (A H A R 30

==

E e

saT 8l A — B R &l - TIRREM
BEARERSEEHAEEMERRMMR
3 o ZATEIFRIFARBCREBRRAE LiRE
b BRIA & BIRGA A BE+FHE
BRRARN

BIEZETE - 2EEAIBE  ()AEET
AR E AR AEERFFEFRTZHAR
REARNHBARNEMNES - ES -
B BEAE - BF - fHER - RE -
ABASER A A ((BEAL])
(WERBZEABREAEBTAKAERA
MEIFES - EE BN FEAE T
FoftEr s RE - ABA - B ASE
Pk AR A TN ERESER 2SN
ZEEA ¢ SN EEE AL B A R A E
BE . g8  FEM HEAS  EF f#
e RE - BB A B ARENEL
AT ERHEENAT -
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28 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTION (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme was 70,000,000
(2021: 70,000,000 shares), representing 7% (2021:
7%) of the issued share capital of the Company. The
aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and to be
exercised under the Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company, must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the Company’s shares in issue as at the Listing
Date. The 10% limit may be refreshed at any time by
obtaining approval of the Company’s shareholders in
general meeting provided that the total number of the
Company’s shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Company, must not exceed
10% of the Company’s shares in issue as at the date of
the approval of the refreshed limit.

Under the Scheme, the number of shares issued and
to be issued in respect of which options granted and
which may be granted to any individual in any 12-month
period up to the date of the grant, shall not exceed 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue. Any further grant
of options in excess of this limit must be separately
approved by the Company’s shareholders in a general
meeting with such grantee and his/her close associates
abstaining from voting. Any grant of an option to a
Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company (or any of their respective associates) must be
approved by the independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who is
the grantee of the option).

28

DREZZEERRAHERSRB
x5 (&)
R-ZB-—F+-A=+—H  RBEZ:T
ST B TR AR 9 48 805 70,000,000 A%
—ZT = —% :70,000,000/%) - HHE R
RABBITRAT%(ZE_—F :7%) °
RIEZET B R AR G H A BE N i 5t 3
BREmA] TR RTINS R EE
AR ETHNRNBE - AR TEBA
AR ETHBANE TR 10% © %
10% ERRATBERF R AR AR AR K E
EHOEM T LAES - WRIBZTEI AR
AT B R R AT B S IR AT A BB AR
TR TRITHNRARIRMDBE
NEBIBARNGREEF LREMEB
B2 TR 10% ©

RIEZFE - NMERAT—EARBRER
RE B8 - ERERA TR R TR
BRERTS R B BT RS ETORN &
B TREBEARADHITRMDOI%
Bt EROEEREE —FRL - &
BRIMERRRIBRERRAE LHLE -
MEBMARAMEEZBRAEARER
RoRARFBESE  TBTRABHEE
BRER(HREZEBNEMBEA)RLE
MEERE  BRKBYIFNTESE (TR
S REREARANTABLIENTE
E)HE -
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28 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTION (Continued)

Under the Scheme, where any grant of options to
a substantial shareholder of the Company or an
independent non-executive Director (or any of their
respective associates) will result in the total number
of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options already granted and to be granted to such person
under the Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of
the shares in issue and having an aggregate value, based
on the closing price of the shares at the date of each
grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000, such further grant of
options is required to be approved by shareholders at a
general meeting of the Company, with voting to be taken
by way of a poll.

Upon acceptance of an option to subscribe for shares,
the eligible participant shall pay HK$1 to the Company
as consideration for the grant. The subscription price of
a share subject to options granted under the Scheme
shall be a price determined by the Board and notified to a
participant and shall be at least the higher of:

()  the closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of the grant of the option; and

(i)  The average closing price of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date
of the grant of the option.

Under the Scheme, options granted are exercisable after
three years but not exceeding ten years from the date of
the grant.

No share options were granted, exercised or lapsed
under the Scheme during the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.

REMBHRRME

28 UESEERROBERMSREY

X5 (&)

RIBZAE > MAARRERRRIIEL
FATEZ (A RFEENEFMBEA)
R EABERE e85 MEM+ @A
HRANEERE RS (BREZB)ZALR
BT B R AR AHE A E B AT 818
BERBERNMAERRE(BR2TE
EEERERTEZBRE)ETERE
BITRBBETHORMNER - 4 HEBEBE R
TRMNE90.1% - BEREZXE L B
il (EE - 425 85,000,000/
7T A b — R B A 2R R A
RRABRRAEG L#E - BARUKREFR
RIR ©

REE MR REBIR D BB ARER - S ERE2
HERMARNBZMBTIERERE T
BRAE o IRIBZET S D BERAEMS K
BRORBEEBERBESSET W B2 EE
MEHER TERKPVEFERUATRS
%

() BIMEARERMAREONERD
BRERHKRHE: &

(i) BXAMTEHBEXRARBRONREE
BHBREAHIIAERSBHF
HUTHE o

RIBEZETE - FIRERERER R L B
HEt = FRETEB T FNRBITE -

BHE_Z__F k=% = —
+ZA=+—HULFE  HEERERE
ZEEIERY  BITESBE R -
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28

29

30

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTION (Continued)

No share-based compensation expenses was charged to
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

BANKING FACILITIES

At 31 December 2022, the Group had banking facilities
totalling HK$239,350,000 (2021: HK$239,350,000)
granted by three banks (2021: three banks). These
facilities were secured by the land and building, certain
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
restricted bank deposits of the Group, and an indemnity
for an unlimited amount executed by the Company.

COMMITMENTS
(@) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the
reporting period but not yet incurred is as follows:

28

29

30

LEZEERROBERSRN
R (#&)

BEARNDRERNBHAXEEE
“ECCHF+ A=t HLEFENEA
EEBGERMNF(ZF_—F - &) o

RITRLE
RZE-_—F+-—A=+—08 KEEHE
BHRZRBIT(ZZE=—F: E%fﬁﬁ)?ﬁ%’
& $£239,350,0008 L (— T ——
239,350,000/ 70) ZRI1TREE © M—rpﬂa
BRI EET  BETRAFEFABR
FHERMEERAEBRNSZRHETER
AR BRAN A B R R EERR -

S
(a) BEAFM

RBERRCTHERELENER
AT :

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Property, plant and equipment W - BB R 1,121 42
(b) Lease commitments - as a lessee (b) HERE-—ERRHEA
The Group has recognised right-of-use assets and AEBCRIMETHERREAEE
lease liabilities for all leases, except for short-term EXHEHEBE HAREREHLD

leases with original lease term of less than one year.

The total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable leases for which no lease liabilities
have been recognised by the Group as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

R—FHEHHEE -

RZEZZFR-ZF-—F+=A
=t+—H #fUBEzHEZ
T AEETEEREAEREZ X
REEAENTBENT

2022 2021

—E-— —E-—%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Within one year —FR 565 203
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

==

JILER

&

(a) Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash (a) BRBANZAHEZEEELECRSYRE
generated from operations:
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Cash flows from operating activities K& EEFEREHE
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETSRADEF (EE) 55,879 (15,499)
Adjustments for: HTHFIBAE
Interest income FBMA (413) (66)
Investment income HEMA (222) (331)
Amortisation of insurance expense IR R =2 8 8 33 33
Depreciation for property, plant and ME - BERZBEITE
equipment 12,883 12,027
Depreciation for right-of-use assets CRAEESERE 10,066 8,826
Finance costs BB 11,183 6,909
COVID-19 related rent concessions HCOVID-19BEMEE TR - (4)
Gain on lease modification HEBFTRE (18) (5)
Gain on derivative financial eI kS
instruments - (786)
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE  BEX
plant and equipment BREE 222 29
Provision for impairment B S EWFIERE
loss on trade receivables [agictad 501 -
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment ~ FERERE (BE), #E
loss on inventories (2,944) 5,252
Obsolete inventories written off PREF EME 604 375
Fair value loss on financial assets at ZATE ABRERR
fair value through profit or loss TREENATEEBRE 826 515
Operating profit before working EEECEEHN
capital changes Ha Syl 88,600 17,279
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL /(Em) 1,856 (116,425)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and B 5 R E A EYRIE
other receivables (Em),/ mL (29,006) 12,460
(Increase)/decrease in prepayment BNAFIERZS
and deposits (gm),/ md (1,762) 6,261
Increase in trade and B 5 REMENFIE
other payables & n 14,844 40,359
(Decrease)/increase in contract BHEE ORD) /1Em
liabilities (6,956) 41,917
Net cash generated from operations K& fHMEHRLFHE 67,576 1,851
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31 NOTE TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 31 HR&RE2XRKE (&)

186

(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEITHELEZEEYHIR:
financing activities:
Borrowings
(excluding
Lease Interest
liabilities Payables) Total
&R (FEf
HEaE ERFE) -
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEr FEr
Balance at 1 January 2021 R-B--F-A-H&H 25,312 8,750 34,062
Cash flows Ben
- Inflow from financing activities -BEEHRERA - 18,000 18,000
- Outflow from financing activities -BEEHR LT (9,159) (16,333) (25,492)
- Outflow from operating activities -BEEHRLT (539) (171) (710)
Non-cash changes FRe#E
Interest expense MEEH 539 171 710
Exchange differences EHES (477) 21 (456)
Other non-cash items EfEREEE 422 - 422
Balance at 31 December 2021 RZB=-F+=A=t-H
and 1 January 2022 R-E--F-R-BHNEH 16,098 10,438 26,536
Cash flows Bein
- Inflow from financing activities -RERBREMA - 178,781 178,781
- Outflow from financing activities -REEHR T (7,859) (194,669) (202,528)
- Outflow from operating activities -BEFHRERT (3,080) (2,383) (5,463)
Non-cash changes FReEE
Interest expense FMEXH 3,080 2,383 5,463
Exchange differences EHES (185) 99 (86)
Other non-cash items EthIFR2IER 97,880 26,321 124,201
Balance at 31 December 2022 R-E--%+-A=t-H
s 105,934 20,970 126,904
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32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries
have been eliminated on consolidation and are not
disclosed in this note. Save for those disclosed elsewhere
in this consolidated financial statements, details of
transactions between the Group and other related parties
are disclosed below:

(a)

(b)

Transactions with related party

During the year, the Group entered into the following

REMBHRRME

32 BEBRARS
ARRHEERBARZHEARZEREGES
BRERE ML ERAWEARE - R
MAEVBHRREMITDBENARIN - &K
SEEEMER A cEORSFBREND
T

(a) EBRBINXZ
FA AEBEERBB SR ZA TR

transaction with the related party: Z
2022 2021
—E-CHE —E-—F
Relationship Nature of transaction HK$°000 HK$’000
% REME FET T
The spouse of one of the controlling Consultancy fees (note i) 3,141 2,743

shareholders of the Company

ARAEFR—ZEER RS

B (M)

The fees paid to the related party are made on
normal commercial terms and conditions.

Note:

(i)

The consultancy fee was paid in accordance
with a consultancy agreement which
constituted a continuing connected transaction
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
(the “Continuing Connected Transaction”).
Further details of the Continuing Connected
Transaction are provided in the section
headed “Continuing Connected Transaction”
in the Report of the Directors as set out in the
Company’s annual report for the year ended
31 December 2022.

Key management compensation

Members of key management during the year
comprised the Directors only whose remuneration
is set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.

ENEBEITNERNZLEE XK
ABARIFE L -

Hiat -

() BEREBEFAMEZINHZAE
B ZwaEX MRS
THAEFTRE 2 HEBER
2 ((BEREXRS]) - #&
MER S 2E—PFBERHNAE
RABE_T=__F+T=H
= t+—HIEFEZFEREM
BrEEFeREHERER
S ]—f o

(b) FEEEEHMN
RAFEEITREREXNEERES
EIN N R A HRRMFEICES
PTARRK -
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REMIERRME

33 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 33

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

RATFHBRRR R HEE B

2022 2021
—E-—F —E—F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
it FET FET
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in subsidiaries R B R R BIRE 19 145,182 145,182
Financial assets at fair value through & AFEzF ABZE
profit or loss WeREE 1,673 2,441
Amount due from a subsidiary JEU — R B A FIFA 120,665 105,291
______________________________________________________________________________________ 267,520 252,914
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and deposits AR Rike 368 300
Other receivable H fib pE U sk I8 12,000 -
Amount due from a subsidiary JEU— KM B A FIFA 4,385 3,964
Tax recoverable AT Uy Bl 718 - 578
Bank and cash balances RIT MR & 56k 33,992 45,361
50,745 50,203
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R HEAFERFIR 3,293 2,923
Current income tax liabilities BNEAFTIS i afE 407 -
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 3,700 2923
Netcurrentassets = "E8&EEFE 471045 47,280
Total assets less current liabilities EBERABAHR 314565 300,194
Net assets BEEFE 314,565 300,194
Equity R
Share capital & < 26 281,507 281,507
Reserve (] (a) 33,058 18,687
Total equity HRER 314,565 300,194

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2023

and was signed on its behalf

Wong Sze Chai
EEE
Director

EF

ARrABHBERARCHEEFER
“EC=F=A-+N\B#E IHKUT

EERREZGRST

Tai Leung Lam
BRAM

Director

EZE
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B REK

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

33 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITIONAND 33 ARGl BRARRFEEEH
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

(a)

Reserve movement of the Company

(%)

(@) FDFHEED

Retained

profits

R

Note HK$’000

ir23 FET

As 31 December 2021 RZZF_—F+=—A=+—H 18,687
Profit for the year FREH 22,371
Dividend paid EfIRE 13 (8,000)
As 31 December 2022 KRB —F+=-A=+—H 33,058
As 31 December 2020 R_E_EF+_A=+—H 29,487
Profit for the year F A 1,200
Dividend paid EfIRE (12,000)
As 31 December 2021 RZE-—F+=-_A=+—H 18,687

Annual Report 2022 & &

189



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMIERRME

34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 34 £@TI H-®RERIE S
As at 31 December 2022 R-E-_—F+=-A=+—H

Financial

Financial assets at fair
assets at value through
amortised the profit or

cost loss Total

R 8 R AR BRAYE

STEN STABEER
SRMEE HemEE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEIT FEIT

Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABRERESN

through the profit or loss EHMEE - 11,340 11,340
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H A fE W R IR 200,744 = 200,744
Deposits bireia 4,092 - 4,092
Restricted bank deposits Z PR BIRITER 6,156 = 6,156
Bank and cash balances RITMIB 8k 72,796 - 72,796
Total HET 283,788 11,340 295,128

Financial

liabilities at
amortised cost Total

2 # 88 B AR

FTEMN
EA =R st
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEIT FEIT
Trade and other payables B 5 R EA IR 145,746 145,746
Borrowings g 20,970 20,970
Lease liabilities HERE 105,934 105,934
Total HRET 272,650 272,650
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 34

35

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B REK

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

TRMTA-RERNED (F)

(Continued)
As at 31 December 2021 R-ZE-_—%+=-A=+—H
Financial
Financial assets at fair
assets value through
at amortised the profit or
cost loss Total
1R 68 R AN EAYE
TER FFABRER
SREE HNEmEE et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Financial assets at fair value HAFEFABZED
through the profit or loss CREE - 12,166 12,166
Trade and other receivables B 5 Rk E MR FIA 172,239 - 172,239
Deposits 2& 15,303 - 15,303
Restricted bank deposits MR BIRITIFR 6,140 - 6,140
Bank and cash balances RIT NI 4Eek 62,790 - 62,790
Total @t 256,472 12,166 268,638
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost Total
&8 68 B AN
FTEZ
SRBE et
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Trade and other payables B 5N E e FRIE 160,506 160,506
Borrowings (EEN 10,438 10,438
Lease liabilities HEBE 16,098 16,098
Total FE 187,042 187,042
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 35 HAEE

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities
as at 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

R-E-_—_F+-A=+—8 KEEW
EIMBEANARBE (T -_—F &) -
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

BEPRHE
For the year ended 31 December
BE+-RA=1+—-HLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E--f —E-—F ZE-TF ZT-NF —T-)N\F
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FEr
Results ES
Revenue Wz 978,103 744,067 701,699 808,599 885,971
Profit/(loss) before income tax ~ BRETEFAIGE R,/ (1) 55,879 (15,495) 37,695 24,311 49,639
Income tax (expense)/credit Fris®t (RAX),/ #% (10,461) 4,911 (8,814) (1,954) (7,261)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREH,/(EE) 45,418 (10,584) 28,881 22,357 42,378
Attributable to: 1
Owners of the Company Vi/NETE YN 45,418 (10,584) 28,881 22,357 42,378
As at 31 December
W+=B=+-8H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E-C-F —2-—F ZE-TF —T-NF —T-)\F
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FErT FET FET FET
Assets and liabilities BERER
Total assets BELE 723,516 601,614 543,717 515235 573,573
Total liabilities BEBEE (339,651) (256,947) (178,912)  (162,744)  (221,678)
Net assets BEFE 383,865 344,667 364,805 352,491 351,895
Equity attributable to owners ~ AARIEEA A
of the Company FE(h R 383,865 344,667 364,805 352,491 351,895
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Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited
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Block J, 5/F., Phase I, Kaiser Estate, 51 Man Yue Street,
Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
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